REGULATION OF ANDROGEN-RESPONSIVE TRANSCRIPTION BY THE CHROMATIN REMODELING ENZYME CHD8

by

Tushar Menon

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Biological Chemistry) in The University of Michigan 2010

Doctoral Committee:

Assistant Professor Daniel A. Bochar, Chair Professor Gregory R. Dressler Professor David R. Engelke Associate Professor Roland P. Kwok Associate Professor David L. Turner **© Tushar Menon**

2010

To Nisha, Amma and Achan

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Dr. Dan Bochar for providing the scientific training and academic mentorship that has enabled my development into an independent scientist. His intellectual input and technical expertise have been invaluable in the design and execution of my thesis research. I would also like to thank all members of the Bochar lab, past and present, for their help and support during my time here. I would especially like to thank Joel Yates for the critical reading of several of my manuscripts and for the scientific collaboration on much of the studies presented in Chapter IV. Specifically, Joel has conducted the functional studies that relate to my own interaction studies presented in Chapter IV. However, all data presented in this thesis were generated by me. I would also like to acknowledge Brandi Thompson for having performed the preliminary studies that form the basis of much of my research in Chapters III and IV. In addition, I would like to thank Joel Yates, Becky Shaw, Joe Micucci, Veronique Tremblay and Brandi Thompson for sharing and providing various reagents that were most useful during the course of my research projects. I would also like to thank the members of our neighboring labs, the Vojtek, Engelke, Bannerjee, Goldstrohm, Trievel and Nichols labs, for allowing me such liberal use of their lab equipment and reagents as and when I needed it. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all members of my thesis committee, Dr. Greg Dressler, Dr. Dave Engelke, Dr. Roland Kwok and Dr. Dave Turner, for their valuable advice and guidance throughout the course of my dissertation research. Thank you also to my preliminary examination committee, Dr. Ann Vojtek, Dr. Dan Goldman, Dr. Roland Kwok and Dr. Ray Trievel, for making my advancement to candidacy such a fruitful learning experience, and in particular to the chair of this committee, Dr. Vojtek, for always taking such an active interest in my progress towards

Dedicationi	ii
Acknowledgementii	ii
List of Figures	x
Abstract xi	ii
CHAPTER I: General Introduction	1
Chromatin Structure	1
Chromatin and Transcription	3
Transcriptional Regulation by Chromatin Remodeling Enzymes	4
Covalent Modification of Histones	6
ATP-Dependent Chromatin Remodeling Enzymes	9
SWI/SNF Family	0
ISWI Family	0
INO80 and SWR1 Families1	1
CHD Family1	1
CHD1-2 Subfamily	2
CHD3-5 Subfamily14	4
CHD6-9 Subfamily1	7
CHD8	0
Research Aims	2
CHAPTER II: Regulation of Androgen-Responsive Transcription by CHD8	6
Introduction	6
Androgens and Prostate Development	6
Prostate Cancer	7
The Androgen Receptor	7
Androgen Receptor Target Genes	8
Androgen Receptor Coactivators	9
Coactivators and Prostate Cancer	0
ATP-dependent Chromatin Remodeling	1

Table of Contents

CHD Family of Chromatin Remodelers	. 31
CHD8	. 32
Hypothesis and Summary of Results	. 33
Materials and Methods	. 34
Cell Culture	. 34
Antibodies and Reagents	. 35
Recombinant Protein Production	. 35
Co-immunoprecipitations	. 36
Chromatin Immunoprecipitations	. 36
RT-PCR and Quantitative PCR.	. 37
RNAi Experiments	. 38
Cell Proliferation Assays	39
Results	39
Analysis of Microarray Data	. 39
CHD8 Interacts with AR	. 40
CHD8 and AR Co-localize to the Promoters of Androgen-Responsive Genes	. 41
CHD8 Coactivates AR-Mediated Transcription	43
CHD8 is an Androgen-Dependent AR Coactivator	. 44
CHD8 Facilitates AR Binding to Target Promoters	. 44
CHD8 is Involved in Androgen-Dependent Cell Proliferation	. 45
Discussion	. 46
A Model for Coactivation of AR-Mediated Transcription by CHD8	. 46
Comparisons to SWI/SNF, another ATP-dependent Chromatin Remodeling	
Coactivator of AR	. 51
The CHD6-9 Subfamily and Nuclear Receptors	. 53
CHD8 as a Novel Therapeutic and Diagnostic Target for Prostate Cancer	. 55
CHAPTER III: Substrate Specificity and Requirements for Remodeling by CHD8	. 73
Introduction	. 73
Interplay of Histone Modifications and Nucleosome Remodeling	. 73
Histone Tails and Chromatin Structure	. 74
Histone Tails and ATP-dependent Chromatin Remodeling	. 75

Histone Modifications and Nucleosome Remodeling	76
Substrate Specificity of Chromatin Remodeling Enzymes	77
Nucleosome Remodeling by CHD8	79
Hypothesis and Summary of Results	80
Materials and Methods	82
Recombinant Protein Production	
Chemical Modification of Histones	
Nucleosome Reconstitution	85
Restriction Enzyme Accessibility Assay	86
Nucleosome Sliding Assay	87
Results	88
CHD8 Preferentially Remodels Core Nucleosomes over Recombinant N	ucleosomes
	88
CHD8 does not Require the H3-H4 Tails for Remodeling Activity	
CHD8 Preferentially Remodels H3K4 Methylated Nucleosomes	
Discussion	
Remodeling by CHD8: Substrate Requirements	
Remodeling by CHD8: Substrate Specificity	
Remodeling by CHD8: Substrate Preference	
CHAPTER IV: CHD8 and the MLL1-WAR Complex	107
Introduction	107
Histone Modifications and Chromatin Remodeling	110
The MLL Methyltransferase Complex	
Hox Gene Regulation by the MLL-WAR Complex	
CHD8 and WAR	116
Hypothesis and Summary of Results	117
Materials and Methods	
Cell Culture and Reagents	
Production of Recombinant Proteins and Protein interaction Studies	119
Fractionation of Complexes by Size Exclusion Chromatography	120
Chromatin Remodeling Assay	

Results	121
CHD8 forms a Complex with WAR and with MLL1-WAR	121
CHD8 Co-fractionates with Components of the MLL1-WAR Complex	122
Association with WAR or MLL1-WAR does not Affect Chromatin Remo	odeling by 123
Discussion	
The CHD8-WAR-MLL1 Complex	
Hypothetical Model 1: Methylation by MLL1-WAR Targets CHD8 Bind Histories	ing to 126
Hypothetical Model 2: Remodeling by CHD8 Recruits MLL1-WAR	
CHAPTER V: Conclusion	135
Background	135
Functional Studies of CHD8 in Androgen-Responsive Transcription	136
Mechanistic Studies of Substrate Specificity of CHD8 Chromatin Remod	eling 143
Interaction Studies of CHD8 with the MLL1-WAR Complex	146
REFERENCES	150

List of Figures

Figure

1.1:	ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling	23
1.2:	Evolutionary analysis of the SNF2 family of proteins	24
1.3:	Domain architecture of the CHD family of chromatin remodeling enzymes	25
2.1:	Domain structure of the androgen receptor	58
2.2:	The androgen receptor signaling pathway	9
2.3:	Schematic representation of the TMPRSS2 and PSA promoters	50
2.4:	Androgen-dependent interaction of endogenous CHD8 and AR	51
2.5:	Direct association of recombinant CHD8 and AR	52
2.6:	Co-localization of CHD8 and AR to the ARE of the TMPRSS2 promoter	53
2.7:	Co-localization of CHD8 and AR to the ARE of the PSA promoter	54
2.8:	Simultaneous co-localization of CHD8 and AR to the TMPRSS2 ARE	55
2.9:	Coactivation of AR-mediated transcription of the TMPRSS2 gene by CHD86	56
2.10	: Coactivation of AR-mediated transcription of the PSA gene by CHD8	57

2.11: Efficacy of CHD8 knockdown in LNCaP cells	68
2.12: Effect of CHD8 depletion on TMPRSS2 expression in androgen-independent	nt cell
lines	69
2.13: Effect of CHD8 depletion on PSA expression in androgen-independen	t cell
lines	70
2.14: Abrogation of androgen-responsive recruitment of AR to the TMPRSS2 ARE	upon
CHD8 depletion	71
2.15: Adverse effect of CHD8 depletion on androgen-dependent cell proliferation	72
3.1: Comparable chromatin remodeling of core and recombinant nucleosome	es by
CHD8	.102
3.2: Preferential remodeling of core nucleosomes over recombinant nucleosom	es by
CHD8	103
3.3: Remodeling Activity of CHD8 on Nucleosomes lacking H3-H4 Tails	104
3.4: Differential Remodeling of Wild-Type and H3-H4 Tailless Nucleosome	es by
CHD8	105
3.5: Preferential Remodeling of H3K4-Dimethylated Nucleosomes by CHD8	106
4.1: Direct Interaction of CHD8 with the MLL1-WAR Complex	.131

4.2:	Direct	Interaction	of	CHD8	with	each	Component	of	the	MLL1-WAR
Com	plex									132
4.3:	Size Excl	usion Chrom	atog	raphy of	CHD	8-Asso	ciated Compl	exes	5	133
4.4:	Remodeli	ng Activity o	of Cl	HD8 in A	Associa	ation w	ith MLL1/W	AR	Comj	plexes134

Abstract

Eukaryotic DNA is packaged into a highly condensed chromatin state, which inherently serves as a barrier to critical cellular processes such as DNA replication, repair and transcription. The modulation of chromatin structure to allow access to the underlying DNA is vital for the appropriate regulation of these processes. One class of enzymes responsible for modulation of chromatin structure is the SNF2 superfamily of ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling enzymes. These enzymes use the energy from hydrolysis of ATP to mobilize, disrupt and modulate nucleosomes. These enzymes are classified into several different families based on their domain architecture, the largest of which is the CHD (Chromodomain Helicase DNA-binding) family. This family is comprised of nine enzymes, CHD1 through CHD9, which are further divided into three subfamilies, CHD1-2, CHD3-5, and CHD6-9. Relatively little is known about the third subfamily, and the research described here is directed towards one particular member of this subfamily, CHD8.

Previous studies have established a functional association between the CHD6-9 subfamily and nuclear receptor-mediated transcriptional regulation. One such nuclear receptor, the androgen receptor (AR), mediates the effect of androgens through its transcriptional function during both normal prostate development and in the emergence and progression of prostate cancer. AR is known to assemble coactivator complexes at target promoters to facilitate transcriptional activation in response to androgens. Here we

identify CHD8 as a novel coregulator of androgen-responsive transcription. We show that CHD8 directly associates with AR and that CHD8 and AR simultaneously localize to the enhancers of androgen-responsive genes following androgen treatment. In the LNCaP prostate cancer cell line, reduction of CHD8 levels by siRNA treatment severely diminishes androgen-dependent activation of these genes. We demonstrate that the recruitment of AR to target promoters in response to androgen treatment requires CHD8. CHD8 also facilitates the androgen-stimulated proliferation of LNCaP cells, emphasizing the physiological importance of CHD8 in prostate cancer.

Further studies were conducted to examine the mechanism by which chromatin remodeling by CHD8 is involved in androgen-responsive transcription. We found that CHD8 can remodel nucleosomes without histone tails and prefers substrates that are methylated at H3K4. The association of CHD8 with H3K4 methylation was supported by our findings that CHD8 interacts with the MLL1-WAR histone methyltransferase complex. The interactions of CHD8 with this complex and their effect on its remodeling activity were further characterized.

These studies collectively implicate CHD8 in the regulation of androgenresponsive gene expression and as a novel coregulator of AR-mediated transcription. We also establish potential mechanistic details of transcriptional regulation by CHD8. Our results present CHD8 as a novel diagnostic, preventative, or therapeutic target in prostate cancer.

CHAPTER I

General Introduction

Chromatin Structure

The hereditary information that specifies the structural composition and functional characteristics of all living organisms is contained within discrete sub-cellular elements called genes. These genes are encoded within the DNA, which is a macromolecule comprised of four different polymerized bases. The specific sequence of these different bases is where all the genetic information required for the development and survival of the organism is stored. This information is so complex and vast for even the simplest organisms that a huge number of genes, and consequently an immense amount of DNA, is required to store all of it. The human genome contains an estimated 30,000 genes carried on over 3 billion base pairs of DNA (1). The DNA from one single human cell would stretch up to 2 meters in length and all of the DNA in the human body would be enough to reach from the earth to the sun and back 610 times (2). This enormous amount of DNA needs to be packed into the nucleus of a eukaryotic cell, which is only about 6 μ m in diameter. This poses a daunting challenge to the cell and requires extremely efficient packaging of the DNA into the nucleus.

In eukaryotic cells, the DNA is packaged into a highly condensed structure called chromatin. Chromatin is made up of a fundamental repeating unit called the nucleosome (3). Each nucleosome consists of \sim 146 bp of DNA wrapped around a histone octamer, which is comprised of two units each of the four histone proteins H2A, H2B, H3 and H4 (4). The H3 and H4 histories associate as a tetramer consisting of two units of each, and this in turn interacts with two dimers of H2A-H2B to form the histone octamer. The 146 bp of DNA then wraps 1.65 turns around this histone octamer, with 14 points of contact between the DNA and the histone core (5). This makes the nucleosome structure a uniquely stable DNA-protein complex, which is suitable for its packaging function. Several of these nucleosomes are strung together into linear arrays so that they give a "beads on a string" appearance under the microscope (6). These linear arrays of nucleosomes can be tightly packed together by twisting into three-dimensional coils and irregular, interdigitating structures, resulting in the formation of condensed chromatin fibers. These chromatin fibers then fold into looped domains by attachment of the DNA to a network of non-histone proteins in the nuclear matrix which form a chromosomal scaffold. The more loosely packed, diffuse regions of chromatin, known as the euchromatin, represent the part of the genome that is being actively transcribed. Transcriptionally inactive regions of the chromatin exist in a more condensed form called heterochromatin, which appears as dark spots under a microscope upon staining the DNA. Most of the chromatin in metabolically active cells exists as diffuse euchromatin as the genome is constantly being transcribed. However, during cell division all the chromatin in the cell condenses into heterochromatin and this helps to compact the DNA into larger subcellular structures which comprise the visible form of the chromosomes. The metaphase chromosomes, which are microscopically distinguishable as distinct,

highly condensed structures, are thus a result of several degrees of compaction of the chromatin (7).

Chromatin and Transcription

The function of chromatin extends beyond merely that of DNA compaction. Due to the extensive packaging of DNA, the chromatin structure inherently prevents access to the underlying DNA due to steric hindrance and thus interferes with critical cellular processes like transcription, replication and DNA repair. Indeed, it has been well established that incorporation of nucleosomes impedes the transcription of DNA templates *in vitro* (8). It has been shown that the elimination of histones at promoter regions results in changes in expression of downstream genes *in vivo* further indicating the importance of chromatin in the transcriptional process (9).

The stereotypical RNA polymerase II (Pol II) transcription cycle begins with the binding of transcriptional activators, which are sequence-specific DNA-binding proteins, to the promoter region upstream of the transcription start site of the gene being transcribed (10). This results in the recruitment of adaptor complexes like SAGA (Spt-Ada-Gcn5 acetyltransferase) and mediator, which in turn recruit the general transcription factors (GTFs) (11, 12). A combination of these GTFs (TFIID, TFIIA and TFIIB) then positions Pol II and TFIIF at the core promoter, forming the closed preinitiation complex (PIC). TFIIH then assists in the opening of double-stranded DNA so that the single-stranded DNA template can be positioned at the active site of the open Pol II complex to initiate RNA synthesis (13). The carboxy-terminal domain (CTD) of Pol II is phosphorylated by TFIIH and dissociates from the GTFs before progressing into the

elongation stage of the transcription cycle. The phosphorylated CTD then recruits factors involved in transcriptional elongation and mRNA processing (14).

All of these processes require the factors involved to be able to access the DNA being transcribed, but the highly condensed packaging of this DNA into chromatin serves as a physical barrier to many of these steps in the transcriptional cycle. It prevents the binding of activators to their specific target DNA sequences. It also prevents the recruitment of the massive general transcriptional machinery to target promoters and their subsequent assembly into the PIC. It presents further impediment to the melting of the DNA and establishment of the DNA-Pol II holoenzyme-RNA complex. Chromatin is also a physical barrier to transcriptional elongation by Pol II, as well as to the recruitment of elongation, mRNA processing and splicing factors.

Transcriptional Regulation by Chromatin Remodeling Enzymes

The regulation of chromatin structure is essential for allowing the factors involved in the transcriptional process adequate access to the nucleosomal DNA, and thus serves as an important regulatory point in transcriptional control. This regulation of chromatin structure is achieved by two classes of chromatin remodeling enzymes: one that is involved in the covalent modifications of histones, and the other that uses energy derived from ATP-hydrolysis to modulate the contacts between histones and DNA within nucleosomes. Covalent modifications of histones include acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation and ubiquitination besides others of specific histone residues. Each of these modifications is catalyzed by a distinct category of enzymes and can serve as molecular signals which are recognized and bound by various factors that influence chromatin structure and general transcription. The ATP-dependent remodeling enzymes usually occur in large complexes that alter chromatin structure by disrupting or mobilizing histones to regulate access to the nucleosomal DNA.

Transcription factors (TFs) or activators recognize specific DNA sequences in their target promoters and can bind them in the context of free DNA (15). When these target sequences are buried within chromatin, eukaryotic TFs have to employ different strategies to facilitate optimal binding to these recognition sites. There are numerous examples of chromatin remodeling enzymes being involved in stimulating the binding of TFs to their target chromatin elements (16, 17). After binding the promoter, activators recruit a number of coactivators, many of which are also involved in chromatin remodeling. This is not surprising since extensive modification of the chromatin structure is required for enhanced binding of the activators themselves, as well as for the docking of the large PIC and its many auxiliary factors on the DNA. Histone acetylation has been linked with the promoters of actively transcribed genes (16). Acetylation of the histone tails is known to be associated with a more "open" conformation of chromatin, allowing access of the transcriptional machinery to the underlying DNA. Activators thus recruit histone acetyltransferases (HATs) which are capable of acetylating histones, thus maintaining the target chromatin in a transcriptionally active state (18). Specific histone methylation marks are also known to be associated with transcriptional activation and these marks are deposited at initiation sites by the corresponding histone methyltransferases (HMTs). In addition, promoter-bound activators also recruit ATPdependent chromatin remodeling enzymes to make the DNA more accessible (19).

After PIC assembly, Pol II-mediated transcription is further hindered by nucleosomal barriers, which may cause pausing of the polymerase at the transcriptional start site (20). This pausing can also lead to backtracking of the Pol II. The transcription elongation factor TFIIS reactivates Pol II transcription through such nucleosome barriers (21, 22). Both classes of chromatin remodeling enzymes have been implicated in alleviating this kind of transcriptional pausing due to nucleosomal barriers (23, 24).

Once Pol II has entered the elongation phase, two major phosphorylation sites in its CTD are targeted by either TFIIH at Ser 5 during early elongation, or by Ctk (CTD kinase) at Ser 2 later in the elongation phase (14). These phosphorylation sites are responsible for the association of the elongating polymerase with various elongation factors and chromatin remodelers. Chromatin remodeling enzymes of both classes are required to appropriately modify and mobilize the oncoming nucleosomes as Pol II transcribes through a gene. As Pol II advances it also displaces histones, and chromatin remodeling factors are required to catalyze the redeposition of these histones as well as the reassembly of free histones onto the DNA behind the elongating polymerase. Depending on the phosphorylation status of the Pol II CTD, different chromatin remodeling enzymes are recruited to facilitate the process of transcriptional elongation by carrying out the above functions (13).

Covalent Modification of Histones

The histones that form the protein core of the nucleosome are largely globular, except for their N-terminal tails which are unstructured and protrude away from the core bodies. A large number of histone residues, with a majority of them being on the N- terminal tails, are known to be covalently modified. There are eight known histone modifications, including acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation, ubiquitylation and sumoylation. A further level of complexity is introduced by that fact that methylation can be of varying degrees, as histone lysine residues can be mono-, di- or tri-methylated (25). The deposition and removal of each of these different histone modifications is catalyzed by distinct histone modifying enzymes like HATs, histone deacetylases (HDACs), HMTs or histone demethylases.

Histone modifications function through two different mechanisms. The first is the alteration of chromatin structure by disrupting histone-DNA contacts via the covalent modifications. Histone lysine acetylation, for example, is capable of unfolding chromatin by neutralizing the charged lysine residue. Since inter-nucleosomal interactions have been seen to be necessary for maintaining chromatin structure, any changes in histone charge would affect the chromatin architecture (25). In fact, by chemically modifying histones and reconstituting them into nucleosomes, it has been shown that H4K16 acetylation prevents formation of the 30 nm chromatin fiber and of higher order chromatin structures (26).

The other mechanism by which histone modifications function is by the recruitment of non-histone proteins to the modified sites. These proteins recognize specific histone modifications through certain specialized domains. For example, bromodomains bind to histone acetylation marks, chromodomains and PHD (Plant Homeodomain) domains bind methylation marks and certain domains found in 14-3-3 proteins bind phosphorylation marks (25). Thus these histone marks can be used to tether various enzymatic activities to the chromatin, further affecting regulation of its structure.

There are several examples of different chromatin remodeling activities being targeted to chromatin via interaction with modified histones. These interactions are mediated either by specific recognition domains within the chromatin remodeling enzymes themselves or through such domains present in other intermediary proteins that are in complex with these enzymes.

The ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling activity of SWI/SNF (mating type switching/sucrose non-fermenting) is targeted to chromatin by the recognition of acetylated histories by its bromodomains (27). The historie demethylase JMJD2A (Jumonji domain-containing) contains Tudor domains which bind methylated H3 lysine 4 (H3K4) residues (28). This same methyl mark tethers the chromatin remodeling activity of CHD1 (Chromodomain Helicase DNA-binding) through its chromodomains (29, 30). The PHD domains of ING2 (Inhibitor of growth) and BPTF (Bromodomain PHD finger Transcription Factor) bind methyl-H3K4 marks and mediate the recruitment of other proteins containing different chromatin remodeling activities, like HDAC1 and the ATPdependent remodeling NURF (Nucleosome Remodeling Factor) complex, respectively (31, 32). The chromodomains of HP1 (Heterochromatin Protein) tethers HDAC and HMTase activities to H3K9 methylated target sites (33-35). Recruitment of these different chromatin remodeling activities to target sites facilitates further regulation of chromatin structure and consequently of gene expression. In fact, the extensive modification of histones on a larger scale in the cell results in the establishment of distinct global chromatin environments. The genome can thus be generally divided based on the modification and architecture of the chromatin into the transcriptionally active, accessible euchromatin and the transcriptionally inactive, inaccessible heterochromatin.

ATP-Dependent Chromatin Remodeling Enzymes

The chromatin-mediated regulation of transcription requires the coordination of the covalent modification of histones with the appropriate mobilization and positioning of nucleosomes on genomic DNA. The latter function is achieved by the action of ATPdependent chromatin remodeling enzymes, which can use the energy from ATP hydrolysis to slide nucleosomes along a DNA template, disrupt DNA-histone contacts or eject nucleosomes entirely from the underlying DNA (Fig. 1.1). These enzymes are also known to reassemble nucleosomes on DNA by incorporating free histones and to replace histones within nucleosomes with variant forms. By affecting these changes in nucleosomal organization, these enzymes are able to regulate accessibility to the genomic DNA.

All the identified enzymes in this class contain an ATPase domain called the Snf2 helicase domain which is the characteristic feature of the SNF2 superfamily of proteins. The SNF2 superfamily of ATP-dependent remodeling enzymes is classified into different families according to the presence of other characteristic domains (Fig. 1.2). All eukaryotes contain at least five families of SNF2 helicase-containing chromatin remodelers: SWI/SNF, ISWI (Imitation Switch), CHD, INO80 (Inositol requiring) and SWR1 (SWI/SNF Related) (36). The Rad54 family of proteins can also be included with these since they can alter nucleosomes *in vitro* and may remodel nucleosomes to regulate access during DNA repair (37).

SWI/SNF Family

The SWI/SNF family, which includes yeast SNF2 and STH1 as well as mammalian BRM (Brahma) and BRG1 (Brahma Related Gene), is characterized by the presence of bromodomains, which recognize acetylated residues on histone tails (27). Yeast SWI/SNF is targeted to acetylated chromatin by its bromodomain and the tandem bromodomains in the RSC (Remodels the Structure of Chromatin) complex recognize acetylated H3 K14 residues, thus targeting their chromatin remodeling activities to specific loci (27, 38). These remodelers tend to reorganize nucleosomes into more disordered arrays (39, 40). Hence they are thought to participate in transcriptional regulation by disrupting chromatin to allow the binding of transcriptional activators or repressors (36, 41, 42).

ISWI Family

The ISWI family includes yeast Isw1 and Isw2 and their mammalian homologs SNF2H (SNF2 homolog) and SNF2L (SNF2-like). They are distinguished by the presence of SANT (SWI3, ADA2, NCOR, TFIIB) and SLIDE (SANT-like domain) histone binding modules. The SANT domain is believed to be involved in binding to histone tails, while the SLIDE domain may bind to the linker DNA between adjacent nucleosomes (43, 44). ISWI proteins primarily organize and position nucleosomes into ordered arrays (45, 46). This family of remodelers is generally thought to have a role in chromatin assembly and maintenance and in the translational phasing of nucleosomes following DNA replication (47, 48). Since their function is critical in maintaining heterochromatin, ISWI proteins can play a repressive role during transcriptional regulation (46). However, there are also examples where ISWI can promote transcriptional elongation (49).

INO80 and SWR1 Families

The INO80 and SWR1 families are characterized by the presence of a spacer region which splits the conserved ATPase domain within these proteins (50). The INO80 proteins are the only SNF2 proteins known to have DNA helicase activity and are involved in DNA repair (51). SWR1 proteins are known to be capable of exchanging H2A for the H2A.Z variant form of histones (52). Thus the SNF2 superfamily of ATP-dependent remodeling enzymes is a diverse family of proteins, with varying specificities and functions in the context of chromatin.

CHD Family

The family of chromatin remodeling enzymes we are interested in studying is the CHD (Chromodomain Helicase DNA-binding) family. While there is only one CHD protein found in yeast (CHD1), there are nine identified human enzymes belonging to this family, namely CHD1 thru CHD9. These proteins are characterized by the presence of tandem chromodomains toward their N-terminus along with the Snf2 helicase domain located in the central part of these proteins (53, 54). The chromodomain is an evolutionarily conserved sequence motif associated with many proteins involved in chromatin remodeling and transcriptional regulation. Chromodomains are believed to mediate the contact of these proteins with chromatin by binding methylated residues of histones (55).

The CHD family of proteins can be further subdivided into three subfamilies based upon the presence of additional domains (55). The CHD1-CHD2 subfamily contains a DNA-binding domain in their C-terminal region which binds AT-rich DNA sequences (54, 56). The CHD3-CHD5 subfamily is characterized by the presence of a pair of N-terminal PHD Zn-finger-like domains. PHD domains are protein-protein interaction domains found in several nuclear proteins associated with chromatin remodeling and transcriptional regulation and have been implicated in binding to methylated histories (31, 57-59). The third subfamily includes the proteins CHD6 to CHD9 that contain other domains in their C-terminal region like paired BRK (Brahma and Kismet) domains, SANT domains and DNA-binding domains. The BRK domain is conserved in a number of higher eukaryotic chromatin remodeling enzymes but not in their yeast homologs, indicating the possibility of them being involved in a function or interaction of chromatin components specific for higher eukaryotes (55). SANT domains and DNA-binding domains are similar to those found in the other SNF2 families mentioned above.

CHD1-2 Subfamily

CHD1 is the only member of this subfamily found in yeast, but higher eukaryotes also have a CHD2 protein, that is highly homologous to CHD1 in all its conserved domains. However, they are significantly divergent in their C-terminal regions, suggesting that these two proteins could have different functions. The majority of previous reports about CHD1 suggest that it is involved in transcriptional elongation due to associations with various elongation factors and with the elongating form of Pol II (60-62). Therefore this subfamily of CHD proteins appears to play a role in general transcription downstream of the involvement of SWI/SNF remodelers which are more involved with transcription factor binding and transcriptional initiation (36, 61). The nucleosomal remodeling properties of CHD1 have been shown to be quite distinct from those of SWI/SNF remodelers (63) and more similar mechanistically to certain members of the ISWI family (64). In fact, a recent report has shown that CHD1 is involved in deposition of the histone variant H3.3 and plays a role in early developmental, replication-independent nucleosomal assembly (65), exhibiting further functional similarities to the ISWI family. The limited studies on CHD2 report that it is involved in DNA-damage response (66) and in maintaining kidney function (67), both of which could be in connection with some of the general roles ascribed to this subfamily above. These proteins, therefore, appear to display a fair amount of functional diversity.

The chromodomains of human, but not yeast, CHD1 have been shown to recognize and bind methylated H3K4 tails from *in vitro* experiments and structural data (30). Interestingly, due to variation in the length of a linker sequence within the chromodomains of CHD1 and CHD2, CHD2 shows weaker binding to H3K4me3 (68). This interaction has been shown to target human CHD1 to sites of active transcription and mediate the recruitment of the spliceosome, which is required for the proper splicing and maturation of the transcribed pre-mRNA (69). This suggests a mechanism for the involvement of the CHD1 subfamily proteins in general transcription.

Both CHD1 and CHD2 are ubiquitously expressed in all human tissues, further supporting a role in universal transcriptional elongation for these proteins. In yeast, however, CHD1 has been shown to interact with H3K4me *in vivo* and to recruit the SAGA and SLIK (SAGA-like) multi-subunit HAT complexes to chromatin (29). These complexes are known coactivator complexes that are involved with transcriptional initiation at promoter regions rather than the elongation events occurring in the gene body (70). Furthermore, H3K4 methylation is known to be associated with transcriptional start sites and CHD1 has been shown to be required for this methylation in yeast (71), indicating a point of action early in the transcriptional cycle. While the binding of the CHD1 chromodomains to methylated histories appears somewhat ambiguous, it is clear that this subfamily is likely to have evolved in function from yeast to higher eukaryotes. It is to be noted that since CHD1 is the only CHD family member found in yeast, its function may have been more diverse in that model system. Indeed, there are evidences of yeast CHD1 being involved in transcriptional elongation and mRNA processing as well (60, 72). This supports the hypothesis of a more functionally redundant CHD1 in yeast evolving into a more specialized elongation factor in mammals. This is consistent with the fact that a single CHD protein in yeast has evolved into nine CHD proteins in mammals. Thus it is likely that there has been a trend towards the specialization of function of this family of proteins over the course of evolution.

CHD3-5 Subfamily

The second subfamily of CHD proteins includes CHD3 and CHD4, also known as Mi-2 α and Mi-2 β , and CHD5. These proteins lack a C-terminal DNA binding domain and instead have a pair of PHD domains in their N-terminal region. This family has a single homolog in *Drosophila* called dMi-2. The best known function of CHD3 and CHD4 is as the ATPase components of the NURD (Nucleosome Remodeling and Deacetylation) complex which is involved in transcriptional repression (73, 74). This complex also contains HDAC1/2 subunits and is involved in the active deacetylation and

remodeling of chromatin, resulting in the establishment of transcriptional repressed loci (75, 76).

CHD3 and CHD4 appear to be largely redundant in their functions in relation to this repressive complex, except for the evidence that CHD3-containing complexes, with similar composition as NURD, are specifically recruited by the corepressor KAP1. This interaction is mediated by a C-terminal region that is unique to CHD3 and is responsible for recruiting these complexes to specific genes targeted for repression by KAP1 (77). Thus CHD 3 and CHD4 are both involved in NURD-mediated transcriptional repression, with CHD3 having some involvement in corepressor-specific repression of certain loci. On a more global scale, NURD has been reported to be targeted to sites of DNA methylation by its MBD (Methyl CpG-binding Domain) subunits, and this could be the mechanism of recruitment of the majority of NURD complexes to sites marked for transcriptional silencing by CpG methylation (78). In fact, CHD4 has been reported to be more abundant in purified NURD complexes and is suspected to be the major, or perhaps the sole Mi-2 isoform present in these complexes (73, 76). Thus, it may be possible that CHD4 is involved in these more generally recruited NURD complex involved in DNA methylation-mediated silencing, while the less abundant, more specialized, CHD3containing NURD complexes may be recruited by KRAB (Kruppel-associated box) domain proteins like KAP1 to specific target sites. It is clear, however, that this subfamily has a repressive role in transcription and thus has evolved distinctly in function from the CHD1-2 subfamily, which is involved in transcriptional elongation.

Further differences in CHD3-5 and CHD1-2 subfamilies are seen in the binding characteristics of their chromodomains. Structural analyses of the CHD3/4

chromodomains predict that they would not bind to methylated H3K4 residues (30). Consistent with this prediction, methylation of H3K4 has been found to preclude the binding of NURD to H3 tails (79, 80). NMR studies of the CHD4 PHD domains have revealed that they preferentially bind methylated H3K9 and that H3K4 methylation reduces binding to unmodified H3 tails, further strengthening the hypothesis that CHD3-4 bind to chromatin with a specificity and mechanism distinct from CHD1-2 (81). H3K4 methylation is associated with transcriptionally active chromatin and H3K9 is a mark of repressive chromatin. Thus these observations about the binding properties of CHD3-4 are consistent with their functional role in transcriptional repression. The nucleosomal remodeling properties of Mi-2, however, have been shown to be similar to those of CHD1, with a preference to mobilize nucleosomes towards the center of a DNA template (82). Thus it appears that while the catalytic properties of these subfamilies of CHD proteins have been conserved by maintaining the sequence homology in their SNF2 domains, they have evolved considerably in function. Their specificity for chromatin has been changed by the divergence in their chromodomains and by the presence of distinct histone-binding modules. Their association with other factors, mediated through their non-conserved sequences, is likely to be responsible for the modulation of their catalytic activity so they can be adapted for distinct functional roles.

Unlike CHD3 and CHD4, very little is known about the cellular function of CHD5. It has been shown to be expressed in neural tissue (83) and was found to be a tumor suppressor gene that was deleted in brain tumors (84). More recent reports have shown that the CHD5 gene is silenced by hypermethylation of CpG islands in various cancers (85, 86). From evolutionary analysis of this subfamily it appears CHD5 is the

product of a late gene duplication event of CHD4. Thus it is possible it may be functionally similar to CHD4, playing a role in transcriptional repression, which would explain its potential as a tumor suppressor. It is equally likely that its specificity and function would have changed some, since its expression pattern and role in human disease appear to be distinct from CHD3/4.

CHD6-9 Subfamily

The last subfamily of CHD proteins is the CHD6-9 subfamily, characterized by the presence of C-terminal domains like SANT and BRK domains in addition to the chromodomains and the conserved SNF2 domain. This subfamily also has a single *Drosophila* homolog, Kismet, which also contains a BRK domain in its C-terminal region. While the CHD1-2 and CHD3-5 subfamilies have been extensively studied in terms of their functional roles, relatively little is known about the CHD6-9 subfamily.

Kismet was identified as a trithorax group protein which acted as an extragenic suppressor of Polycomb mutations (87). The Polycomb (Pc) group of repressors and the trithorax group of activators act in concert to regulate the expression of the homeotic (Hox) genes, which are transcription factors responsible for body segmentation and segment identity during *Drosophila* development (88). Since Kismet acts antagonistically to Pc, it appears to have a role in transcriptional activation. One report confirms this theory by elucidating a role for Kismet during an early step in transcriptional elongation (61). By looking at the localization patterns of Kismet and other factors involved in transcriptional elongation on polytene chromosomes, this study found that Kismet localized to sites of transcriptionally active chromatin and was

required for the recruitment of elongating Pol II, dCHD1 and other elongation factors to these sites. Kismet was thus found to be involved upstream of CHD1 in the transcriptional cycle, but downstream of BRM action in transcriptional initiation. Thus Kismet was predicted to be required for the transition from early to late stages of transcription, perhaps in relieving the phenomenon of transcriptional pausing and facilitating promoter clearance by the polymerase, as discussed earlier in this chapter.

It has also been observed that Kismet colocalized with the trithorax group proteins ASH1 and TRX, which are involved in the methylation of H3K4 (89). The loss of Kismet resulted in a reduction in the level of these two proteins associated with chromatin and an increase in H3K27 methylation, while global H3K4 methylation levels did not change. Since H3K27 methylation is a mark of Pc group silencing, Kismet appears to counteract this silencing by perhaps recruiting a H3K27 demethylase. Thus Kismet is involved not only with the basic mechanism of transcriptional elongation, but also with gene-specific coactivator-mediated transcriptional response.

Consistent with the potential general and locus-specific transcriptional roles of Kismet, the human CHD6-9 members have been found to have varying cellular functions. CHD6, for example is associated with both hyper- and hypo-acetylated Pol II and localizes to sites of mRNA synthesis, suggesting a role in general transcriptional elongation (90). It is also known to be involved in the transcriptional activation of specific genes involved in cellular redox homeostasis by the Nrf2 transcription factor (91).

18

CHD7 mutations are known to be associated with a complex human disorder called CHARGE syndrome, which is characterized by the following symptoms: ocular Coboloma, Heart defects, Atresia of chonae, Retardation of growth and development, Genital hypoplasia and Ear anomalies (92, 93). CHD7 has also been implicated in early neural development (94). CHD7 has also been shown to be important in the process of osteoblastogenesis from bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells by attenuating PPAR- γ -(peroxisome proliferation activated receptor)-mediated adipogenesis in response to Wnt signaling in these cells (95). CHD7 was found to be a component of a H3K9 HMTasecontaining complex which interacts with PPAR- γ in response to Wnt signaling at response elements of adipogenic target genes, attenuates recruitment of PPAR coactivators at these sites and facilitates the transcriptional repression of these genes driving the stem cells towards an alternative osteogenic cellular fate. In the same study, the chromodomains of CHD7 were found to selectively interact with H3K4me3 and K3K9me3, but not with acetylated histones, showing the further specialization of these chromodomains of the CHD family proteins. The recognition of both activating and repressive histone marks by CHD7 shows that the CHD6-9 subfamily may have contrasting roles in both these forms of transcriptional regulation unlike the other subfamilies.

CHD9, also known as CReMM (Chromatin-Related Mesenchymal Modulator), has been shown to be differentially expressed in marrow mesenchymal cells during bone development (96) and to localize to promoters of genes involved in osteogenic cell function (97). Thus CHD9 and CHD7 have parallel lines of evidence suggesting their involvement in developmental regulation of gene expression of skeletal tissue. Furthermore, it was seen that CHD9, like CHD7, participates in osteogenic gene regulation via associations with nuclear receptors. CHD9 was found to mediate the transcriptional response of hormones like dexamethasone (Dex) and 17β -estradiol by the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) and the estrogen receptor (ER) respectively during osteogenic stem cell differentiation (98, 99). In another study CHD9 was shown to act as a transcriptional coactivator of PPAR- α and also interact *in vitro* with other nuclear receptors like constitutive androstane receptor (CAR), retinoid X receptor (RXR) and ER. CHD9 does not, however, interact with PPAR- γ like CHD7, exhibiting mutually exclusive associations with different isoforms of PPAR and indicating the divergence in specificity between different subfamily members. Also, CHD9 has been reported to be a coactivator of nuclear receptors whereas CHD7 was shown to act in the repression of PPAR- γ signaling, once again showing distinguishing functionalities within this subfamily. The above examples from literature suggest a role for CHD6-9 in nuclear receptor-specific transcriptional regulation and perhaps in a more general capacity in the developmental regulation of different tissues.

CHD8

The focus of my thesis research is the fourth member of the CHD6-9 subfamily, CHD8. Previous reports from our group have identified CHD8 as a *bona fide* ATPdependent chromatin remodeling enzyme and ascribed a transcriptional role for this protein. In fact, among all the members of the CHD6-9 subfamily, CHD8 is the best understood enzyme from a functional aspect. Reports from previous literature alluding to the cellular function of CHD8 indicate that this protein, like others member of this subfamily, is a functionally diverse molecule, with predicted roles in both locus-specific and general transcriptional processes. CHD8 has been shown to interact with elongating RNA Pol II and regulate the expression of the cyclin E2 cell cycle regulatory gene (100). It has also been reported to be involved in RNA Pol III-mediated transcription in association with human Selenocysteine tRNA Activating Factor (hStaf), in addition to its role in Pol II transcription (101). Another report suggests that CHD8 recruits the linker histone H1 to p53 target genes and inhibits apoptosis during embryogenesis (102). All these examples suggest that CHD8 could have an activating role in general transcriptional elongation, like the CHD1-2 subfamily, as well as in histone deposition and assembly of repressive chromatin structure like CHD3-5 proteins.

CHD8 also interacts with CTCF through its BRK domains and cooperates with CTCF in facilitating transcriptional repression through its insulator function at specific genomic loci (103). Previous studies from our lab have also shown a role for CHD8 in the negative regulation of β -catenin responsive genes (104). The remodeling properties of CHD8 are similar to those of CHD1 and ISWI, with a propensity to rearrange a random array of nucleosomes into a couple of ordered conformations, with a preference for positioning nucleosomes towards the center of a DNA template (104). A couple of the studies mentioned above have also reported that the chromodomains of CHD8 can bind methylated H3K4 (100, 101), another similarity to both CHD1 and CHD7. CHD8 has also been recently reported to be involved in the ER-responsive activation of the cyclin E2 gene, once again highlighting the variety of roles that the CHD6-9 subfamily members are capable of exhibiting (105).

All these examples from literature indicate that CHD8, like its CHD6-9 subfamily relatives, can be involved in both transcriptional activation and repression, in both

general and in specific contexts. We also see the continued involvement of this subfamily in nuclear receptor-mediated transcriptional regulation making this an attractive field for further studies into the functional relevance of these proteins. Thus we see that CHD8, and the other members of the CHD6-9 subfamily are chromatin remodeling enzymes with diverse cellular functions, and appear to have specialized evolutionarily to develop distinct functions in various transcriptional processes, both in different specific systems like those mediated by various nuclear receptors as well as in different steps in basic transcription.

Research Aims

This dissertation is a description of my research work which was designed to address the following objectives:

- 1. To investigate the transcriptional function of CHD8 by studying its role in the regulation of androgen-responsive transcription.
- 2. To elucidate further mechanistic details of chromatin remodeling by CHD8 by characterizing its substrate specificity to determine how this aspect of its activity may affect its transcriptional function.
- 3. To characterize the novel interaction of CHD8 with the MLL1-WAR histone methyltransferase complex and investigate how this may affect its functional role.


Figure 1.1: ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling. ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling enzymes contain a characteristic Snf2 domain, which is capable of binding and hydrolyzing ATP. These enzymes can utilize the energy derived from ATP hydrolysis to mobilize nucleosomes along a DNA template, disrupt histone-DNA contacts within a nucleosome or displace histone octamers from one DNA template to another, as shown above.



Figure 1.2: Evolutionary analysis of the SNF2 family of proteins. Alignments for analysis were generated with representative sequences from humans (h), Drosophila (d), and *S. cerevisiae* (y/s) and included only the SNF2 domain. Neighbor-joining distance analysis employed the PHYLIP 3.6 software package. SEQBOOT and the aligned sequences were used to generate 500 bootstrap replicates. Pairwise distances were estimated using PROTDIST with the "Dayoff" option invoked. Neighbor-joining trees were generated using these pairwise distances in NEIGHBOR. CONSENSE was used to derive the consensus tree. Branch lengths on the consensus tree were generated using FITCH, the pairwise distance output from PROTDIST using the aligned sequences, and the neighbor-joining consensus tree as a user tree. Figure courtesy of D.A. Bochar.



Figure 1.3: Domain architecture of the CHD family of chromatin remodeling enzymes. The CHD family consists of nine proteins, all of which contain the characteristic N-terminal tandem chromodomains (red) and the central catalytic Snf2 domains (purple). The three subfamilies within this group are distinguished by the presence of additional domains, like the C-terminal DNA-binding domains (green) of the CHD1-2 subfamily, the N-terminal double PHD fingers (blue) of the CHD3-5 subfamily and the C-terminal SANT domains (light blue) and paired BRK domains (grey) of the CHD6-9 subfamily. Domains identified using the SMART database (106, 107).

CHAPTER II

Regulation of Androgen-Responsive Transcription by CHD8

Introduction

Androgens and Prostate Development

The prostate is a male glandular organ located at the base of the urinary bladder comprised of glandular and muscular tissue (108). The prostatic secretions of the glandular tissue, which are responsible for semen coagulation and liquefaction, are dispelled into the urethra by muscular contractions of the prostate upon ejaculation (109). The action of testicular androgens, like testosterone or dihydrotestosterone (DHT), mediated by the transcriptional activity of the androgen receptor (AR), plays a critical role in the development, growth and normal function of the prostate (110). The prostate normally ceases to grow upon reaching maturity, but in some men androgen-dependent prostate growth may resume, resulting in benign prostate hyperplasia (BPH), premalignant prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia (PIN) or prostate cancer (PCa), depending on the degree of malignancy of this continued growth (111).

Prostate Cancer

Prostate cancer is currently the most commonly diagnosed form of cancer and the second leading cause of cancer deaths among males in the United States (112). The dysregulation of androgen-responsive AR signaling has been implicated in the development and progression of prostate cancer. Over 80% of prostate cancers are androgen-dependent at initial diagnosis, and thus most common therapeutic approaches are directed towards androgen ablation or inhibition of AR (113). These methods prove to be effective initially in causing the regression of androgen-dependent tumors, thus highlighting the role of AR activity in early prostate tumorigenesis. However, these treatments often ultimately fail due to progression of the prostate cancer to a hormone refractory state (114). While it is known that the androgen receptor and its transcriptional coregulators play a key role in the progression of prostate cancer, the precise mechanism of their involvement are still not fully understood.

The Androgen Receptor

The androgen receptor is a member of the nuclear receptor superfamily (115). It functions as a ligand-dependent transcription factor, mediating the effects of androgens on cellular responses. The domain architecture of AR (Fig. 2.1) is similar to that of other nuclear receptors, and is comprised of an N-terminal transactivation domain, a central DNA-binding domain, and a C-terminal ligand-binding domain (116). In the absence of ligand, AR is sequestered in an inactive state by a protein-chaperone complex in the cytoplasm (Fig. 2.2). Upon exposure to androgens, AR dissociates from these complexes and binds the ligand, whereupon it dimerizes and translocates to the nucleus, where it can

then bind to specific DNA sequences, called androgen response elements (AREs), located in the target genes (116, 117).

Two activation function (AF) domains, AF1 and AF2, then serve to recruit coactivators that can alter the chromatin structure to facilitate transcription, stabilize AR/DNA interactions, and recruit the general transcriptional machinery (118-120). Some of the proposed mechanisms for the transition of androgen-dependent prostate cancer to an androgen-independent state include the increased expression of AR or its associated factors, mutations of AR that make it responsive to a broader spectrum of ligands, activation of the receptor through alternate pathways, and altered function of the AR coregulators (117, 121, 122).

Androgen Receptor Target Genes

The androgen receptor binds to and regulates the expression of a subset of genes which are important for prostate growth and function. The Prostate-Specific Antigen (PSA) gene is one of the best characterized AR target genes. PSA belongs to the human tissue kallikrein gene family and it is expressed in the prostate epithelium as well as in prostate cancer and is thus the most commonly used bio-marker for prostate cancer (123). It is an androgen-regulated serine protease that gets secreted by the glandular epithelium of the prostate into the lumen, where it is responsible for cleaving specific protein components of the semen coagulum (124). The transcription of PSA is positively regulated by AR and it has been extensively studied as the model AR target gene (125). PSA contains a consensus ARE site located between -156 to -170 base pairs (bp) from its transcriptional start site (126) and a non-consensus ARE between -365 and -400 bp upstream of the start site (127). These are displayed as ARE I and ARE II in the schematic representation of the PSA gene in Fig. 2.3. Further studies have mapped the region responsible for androgen-responsive PSA expression to a fragment of about 450 base pairs, located approximately 4 kb upstream of the transcriptional start site (128). This locus contains one strong consensus ARE as well as multiple non-consensus AREs and is called the PSA distal enhancer or ARE III (Fig. 2.3).

Another well-characterized AR target gene is the Transmembrane Protease, Serine 2 (TMPRSS2) gene. This is another androgen-regulated serine protease produced in basal prostate cells as well as in primary prostate cancer cells (129). It has been reported that the TMPRSS2 gene is found to be fused with the ETS family oncogenes, ERG or ETV, in 80% of prostate tumors (130) making it also an attractive bio-marker for cancer. The enhancer region of the TMPRSS2 gene, around 13.5 kb upstream from the start site (Fig. 2.3), has been characterized as an ARE to which AR binds in an androgenresponsive fashion and upregulates the expression of this gene (131). Other AR target genes implicated in prostate cancer include and FKBP5 (132), FGF8 (133), Cdk1 and Cdk2 (134).

Androgen Receptor Coactivators

The best characterized coactivators for nuclear receptors are members of the p160 steroid receptor coactivator (SRC) family; SRC-1 (NCoA-1), SRC-2 (GRIP1, TIF2, or NCoA-2) and SRC-3 (p/CIP, RAC3, ACTR, AIB1, or TRAM-1) (135). These primary coactivators can facilitate AR-mediated transcriptional activation either directly through their own intrinsic histone acetyltransferase activity (136), or indirectly through the

recruitment of secondary coactivators, such as CBP, p300, p/CAF, CARM-1, and PRMT1 (137). These in turn catalyze site specific acetylation and methylation events at the target promoter that modify the chromatin structure (135, 138). Chromatin remodeling events are not just limited to covalent modifications, as ATP dependent chromatin remodeling enzymes also play a key role in activation by AR. These include the human SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complex (139-143), SRCAP (144), and ARIP4 (145-147).

Coactivators and Prostate Cancer

Several of these coactivators have been implicated in prostate cancer, specifically in AR-mediated control of primary prostate cancer tumorigenesis and progression (148). Furthermore, alterations in AR-coregulator levels and function have also been proposed to contribute to the emergence of the hormone-refractory disease (149). Members of the SRC family of coactivators have been found to be expressed at higher levels in prostate cancers and to have a role in tumor growth, progression and recurrence (150-152). In addition to these primary coactivators, certain chromatin remodeling coregulators have also been implicated in prostate cancer. The histone acetyltranferase p300 has been shown to promote prostate cancer progression and aggressiveness through the modulation of nuclear morphology (153, 154). The histone demethylases LSD1 and JMJD2C have also been shown to coactivate AR and affect prostate cancer cell proliferation (155, 156). Finally, the ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling complex, SWI/SNF, coactivates ARmediated transcription and is targeted by its BAF57 (Brahma-associated factor) subunit which is aberrantly expressed in prostate cancer (140, 157). In order to better understand the mechanisms of prostate cancer and develop more effective therapies against it, it is

desirable to study the association and interplay of AR with its many coregulators, both novel and those previously identified.

ATP-dependent Chromatin Remodeling

The regulation of transcription is contingent upon the coordination of the recruitment of the transcriptional machinery with the appropriate modification and remodeling of chromatin to allow access to nucleosomal DNA. This regulation of chromatin structure is achieved by two classes of chromatin remodeling enzymes: one that is involved in the covalent modifications of histones, and the other that uses energy derived from ATP-hydrolysis to modulate the contacts between histones and DNA within the nucleosome. The ATP-dependent remodeling enzymes usually occur in large complexes that alter chromatin structure by disrupting or mobilizing histones to regulate access to the nucleosomal DNA. All the identified enzymes in this class contain an ATPase domain, called the Snf2 helicase domain, which is the characteristic feature of the SNF2 superfamily of proteins.

CHD Family of Chromatin Remodelers

The SNF2 superfamily of ATP-dependent remodeling enzymes is further classified into different families, like the SWI/SNF, ISWI and CHD families, based upon the presence of other characteristic domains in their domain architecture. The CHD (Chromodomain Helicase DNA-binding) family includes CHD1 thru CHD9, and they are characterized by the presence of tandem chromodomains toward their N-terminus along with the Snf2 helicase domain located in the central part of these proteins. The CHD family of proteins can be further subdivided into three subfamilies based upon the

presence of additional domains. The CHD1-CHD2, the CHD3-CHD5 and the CHD6-CHD9 subfamilies are each characterized by the presence of distinct domains in their Cterminal region. While the CHD1-2 and CHD3-5 subfamily proteins have been well studied in the context of their chromatin remodeling activity and their functional role in transcriptional regulation, relatively little is known about the CHD6-9 subfamily.

CHD8

Previous work from our group has shown that CHD8 is an ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling enzyme involved in transcriptional regulation of β -catenin responsive genes (104). Other studies have linked CHD8 to CTCF-mediated chromatin insulator function (103), to RNA polymerase III (RNAP III) transcription in association with hStaf (101), to control of p53-mediated apoptosis (102) and to RNAP II-associated transcription of the cyclin E2 gene (100). Thus CHD8 displays a fairly versatile portfolio of functions in transcriptional regulation. A recent report shows that CHD8 is required for optimal estrogen-responsive induction of the cyclin E2 gene (158). There is additional evidence that the very closely related CHD family member CHD9, also known as PRIC320 or CReMM, acts as a coactivator of the nuclear receptor peroxisome proliferator activated receptor (PPAR α) (159) and also interacts with the glucocorticoid receptor (98) and estrogen receptor (99). These observations from previous studies, raise the possibility that CHD8 may be involved n transcriptional regulation by other nuclear receptors.

Hypothesis and Summary of Results

The implication of CHD8, and its homologous subfamily member CHD9, functioning as coactivators for other nuclear receptors prompted us to further investigate connections between CHD8 and nuclear receptor-mediated transcriptional regulation. In order to do this, publicly available gene expression sets were examined using the ONCOMINE database (160). This investigation revealed that CHD8 was found to be significantly upregulated in several prostate cancer versus normal tissue data sets (161-165). We have previously identified and characterized CHD8 as an ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling enzyme involved in the regulation of gene transcription (104). Given the fact that many AR coactivators are upregulated in prostate cancer (147), the finding that CHD8 is upregulated in several studies suggests that CHD8 may function in the regulation of AR mediated transcription.

In these studies we show that endogenous CHD8 associates with AR in prostate cancer cells by performing co-immunoprecipitations from nuclear extracts. We further demonstrate that this association is due to a direct physical interaction, by co-expressing the proteins in insect cells using a baculovirus expression system and then performing coimmunoprecipitations. We then showed by chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) that CHD8 is present at the AR target promoters PSA and TMPRSS2, and that it localizes there even prior to the recruitment of AR to this site upon DHT induction. Also, we show that AR and CHD8 co-localize to the TMPRSS2 promoter at the same time by conducting re-ChIP experiments. We then examined a functional role for CHD8 in ARmediated transcriptional activation of androgen responsive genes by depleting CHD8 using shRNA treatment. Upon CHD8 depletion in androgen-dependent LNCaP cells, the AR-dependent activation of TMPRSS2 and PSA in response to DHT induction was severely curtailed. However, knocking down CHD8 in androgen-independent cells did not affect the expression of the target genes. Thus, CHD8 is required for optimal androgen-responsive transcriptional activation of AR target genes in an androgendependent context. ChIPs were repeated under conditions of CHD8 depletion and we found that the recruitment of AR to the TMPRSS2 promoter in response to DHT treatment was abrogated. Taken together with the previous result, this suggests a mechanism by which CHD8, via the facilitation of androgen-responsive recruitment of AR, is involved in the transcriptional activation of AR target genes. Finally we show that CHD8 depletion adversely affects androgen-responsive cell proliferation of LNCaPs. In summary, we present evidence of a functional, and possible mechanistic role for CHD8 in AR-mediated transcriptional activation of it target genes.

Materials and Methods

Cell Culture

LNCaP, 22RV1, PC-3 and DU-145 cell lines were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC). All cell lines were maintained in RPMI Medium 1640 (Invitrogen) containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS: Hyclone) and 1X penicillinstreptomycin-glutamine (Invitrogen). All human cell lines were maintained at 37°C in 5% CO₂. Androgen treatments were done using dihydrotestosterone (DHT) dissolved in ethanol and used at a final concentration of either 10 nM or 50 nM, as specified. Prior to androgen treatment, cells were switched to phenol red-free RPMI Medium 1640 (Invitrogen) supplemented with Dextran/Charcoal-stripped FBS (Hyclone) and 1X penicillin-streptomycin-glutamine (Invitrogen) for at least 24 hours. SF9 insect cells were cultured at 24°C in 1X Grace's Insect medium (Invitrogen) containing 10% FBS (Hyclone) and 1X penicillin-streptomycin-glutamine (Invitrogen).

Antibodies and Reagents

CHD8 rabbit polyclonal antibodies used were previously described (104). Rabbit polyclonal (N-20) and mouse monoclonal (441) AR antibodies were obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechnology. Rabbit IgG and Actin control antibodies were from Sigma. Anti-rabbit IgG AP conjugate secondary antibodies were from Promega. All oligonucleotides were ordered from Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, IN). Primer sequences are listed in Table 2.1.

Recombinant Protein Production

Recombinant baculoviruses were used to express AR and CHD8 in SF9 insect cells. The AR baculovirus was a kind gift from James Dalton (Ohio State University, Columbus, OH). The Flag-CHD8 baculovirus was obtained by cloning the full-length protein in the pBlueBac-Flag vector and generating viral stocks using the Bac-N-Blue Baculovirus Expression System (Invitrogen). For protein interaction studies, 5×10^6 SF9 cells were co-infected with 1 mL each of AR and Flag-CHD8 baculovirus and incubated at 25°C for 2 days. Cells were then collected by centrifugation at 500×g for 2 minutes at room temperature, washed with cold phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and resuspended in 500 µL of IP buffer (20mM Tris-HCI [pH=7.9], 0.2 mM EDTA, 10% glycerol, 0.2 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride [PMSF]) with 150 mM KCl and 0.1% NP-40. Lysates

were cleared by centrifugation at 20,800×g for 10 minutes at 4°C and used for coimmunoprecipitations as described below.

Co-immunoprecipitations

For the *in vivo* interaction studies between endogenous CHD8 and AR, nuclear extracts were prepared from the various cell lines as described by Dignam et al. (166). These extracts were incubated overnight at 4°C with protein A-agarose beads (Repligen) cross-linked to the specified antibodies. The beads were then washed sequentially with 1 mL each of 150 mM KCl in IP buffer, 150 mM KCl in IP buffer with 0.1 % NP-40 and then in 150 mM KCl IP buffer again. Samples were eluted in SDS-loading buffer (125 mM Tris-HCl [pH=6.8], 0.5% SDS, 10% glycerol, 0.175 M BME) and then subjected to SDS-PAGE followed by Western blot analysis with the indicated antibodies.

Co-immunoprecipitations of recombinant proteins from baculovirus infected SF9 cells were performed by incubating lysates prepared as described above with 20 μ L of anti-Flag M2 agarose beads (Sigma) at 4°C. Beads were washed and eluted as above and subjected to SDS-PAGE and Western blot analysis with the indicated antibodies.

Chromatin Immunoprecipitations

ChIP experiments were performed essentially as described in the ChIP assay kit (Upstate). Briefly, ~ 1×10^6 cells per immunoprecipitation were fixed with 2.5% formaldehyde for 10 minutes at 37°C. Cells were washed with cold PBS and lysed with ChIP lysis buffer. The chromatin was sheared by sonication (~ 200 – 1000 bp fragments) and cleared by centrifugation at 20,000×g for 10 minutes at 4°C. Samples were diluted

10-fold in ChIP dilution buffer and then pre-cleared with protein A agarose beads (Repligen) blocked with salmon sperm DNA (Invitrogen). Chromatin was immunoprecipitated by incubating with the indicated antibodies overnight at 4°C. Antibody-chromatin complexes were precipitated by incubation with protein A agarose beads blocked with salmon sperm DNA. Samples were then washed and eluted as described in the instructions, except washes were done for 15 minutes each.

For re-ChIPs, the first ChIP was done as described above, except the washed chromatin-antibody complexes were eluted in 50 μ L TE with 10 mM dithiothreitol (DTT) and then diluted 20-fold in Re-ChIP buffer (150 mM NaCl, 0.5 mM DTT, 1% Triton X-100, 20 mM Tris-HCl [pH=8.1] 2mM EDTA). These were then immunoprecipitated with the second specified antibody and washed and eluted again as above.

RT-PCR and Quantitative PCR.

cDNA was prepared by extracting total RNA from the indicated cells using the RNeasy kit (Qiagen) following the manufacturer's instructions. Reverse transcription reactions employed total RNA, random decamers (Ambion), and Superscript II reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen) following the manufacturers' instructions. Real-time quantitative analysis employed the indicated primers, iQ SYBR Green Supermix (Bio-Rad), and a MyiQ Single Color Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad). All real time PCR reactions were performed in triplicate. For RNA expression analysis, threshold cycle (C_1) values were normalized to levels of RNA polymerase III-transcribed human H1 RNA. For ChIP experiments, DNA quantities were expressed relative to input levels. The following primers were used for ChIP experiments. TMPRSS2 -13.5 kb: TGGTCCTGGATGATAAAAAAAGTTT and

GACATACGCCCCACAACAGA. TMPRSS2 -7 kb: ACGCCTTCGCTGTCCTACCT and TGCAATGAAGTTCCCTGCAA. The following primers were used for quantitative RT-PCR analysis. TMPRSS2: GGACAGTGTGCACCTCAAAGA and TTGCTGCCCATGAACTTCC. H1 control: ACTCCACTCCCATGTCCCTTG and CCGTTCTCTGGGAACTCACCT.

RNAi Experiments

CHD8 expression was knocked down in the various prostate cancer cells using RNAi technology utilizing the UI2-Puro SIBR shRNA vectors (167). CHD8 was knocked down using two shRNA cassettes, 493 and 6410, cloned into the SIBR vector. UI2-Puro SIBR GFP-479, containing a shRNA cassette targeting the GFP mRNA, was used as a control shRNA vector. 2 or 10 μ g of each of these constructs was transfected into cells which were at ~80% confluency in either 6-well plates (for expression studies) or in 10 cm dishes (for ChIPs), respectively, using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) as described by the manufacturer. Transfections were done in phenol red-free RPMI 1640 medium containing 10% dextran/charcoal-stripped FBS. 16 hours post-transfection, the cells were selected with 10 μ g/mL puromycin for 48 hours more. Cells were then treated with DHT or ethanol for 6 hours. For expression studies shRNA transfections were done in duplicate and one set was harvested for RNA extraction while the other was lysed in RIPA buffer (150 mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 0.25% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, 50 mM Tris-HCl [pH=7.4], 1 mM EDTA, 0.2 mM PMSF) and Western blotted with the indicated antibodies to verify the knockdown of protein expression. For ChIPs, the cells were fixed with 2.5% formaldehyde after treatment and harvested for the ChIP protocol.

Cell Proliferation Assays

LNCaP cells were transfected with the indicated shRNAs and selected as described above. The cells were then PBS-washed, trypsinized and counted in suspension in media. The cells were then plated in 96-well plates at 5000 cells per well in duplicate for the control and the CHD8 shRNA-transfected cells. Cells were plated in sets of eight in four separate plates, one for each time point, and treated with either 50 nM DHT or an equal volume of ethanol. Cells were harvested at the specified time points and the cell viability was measured based on quantitation of ATP from metabolically active cells present using the CellTiter-Glo Luminescent Cell Viability Assay (Promega) following the manufacturer's instructions. Data was expressed as fold DHT-induced proliferation, which was calculated as the ratio of the luminescent signal from the induced cells to that obtained from the uninduced cells for each shRNA treatment at each indicated time point.

Results

Analysis of Microarray Data

In order to explore the possibility of the CHD6-9 family of chromatin remodeling enzymes functioning as novel cofactors for AR in the progression of prostate cancer, publicly available gene expression sets were examined using the ONCOMINE database (160). One factor that was found to be significantly upregulated in several prostate cancer samples was CHD8, which we have previously identified and characterized as a

novel ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling enzyme involved in regulation of gene transcription (104). Four distinct microarray data sets were examined and the expression levels of CHD8 were compared between normal prostate tissue, primary prostate cancer tumors and metastatic tumors. It was observed that in three out of the four data sets there was a highly statistically significant ($p = \langle 0.01 \rangle$) increase in the expression of CHD8 in metastatic tumors, but not in primary tumors, when compared to normal prostate tissue (data available at www.oncomine.org – search gene:CHD8). This increase in expression was greater than two-fold the average expression level of CHD8 in the normal prostate tissue samples in 15, 19 and 17 samples respectively out of 25 total samples of metastatic tumors included in the studies. This increase of expression was comparable in statistical significance and in magnitude to that of Enhancer of Zeste Homolog 2 (Ezh2) expression between normal and metastatic prostate samples from the same expression data set. This was used as the basis of the study by Verambally et al. linking Ezh2 to prostate cancer progression (168). However, the expression of CHD9 was not increased in tumors compared to normal prostate tissue, suggesting that CHD8 specifically is involved prostate tumorigenesis. Given the fact that several AR coregulators that are known to be upregulated in prostate cancer, this observation gives rise to the possibility of CHD8 functioning as a coregulator of AR.

CHD8 Interacts with AR

To verify whether this possible connection between AR and CHD8 was due to a physical interaction of the endogenous proteins, co-immunoprecipitations were performed from different prostate cancer cells. Nuclear extracts were prepared from the androgen-dependent LNCaP prostate cancer cell line, as well as from the androgenindependent prostate cancer cell lines, 22RV1, PC-3 and DU-145 (169-171). Androgendependent cells require androgens for continued cell growth and proliferation, while androgen-independent cell lines are capable of growth independent of androgens. Immunoprecipitations were performed from these extracts using anti-CHD8 polyclonal antibodies. When the co-IPs were washed, subjected to SDS-PAGE and Western blotted with anti-CHD8 polyclonal and anti-AR monoclonal antibodies, it was observed that endogenous AR and CHD8 do indeed interact in androgen-dependent LNCaP cells but not in the androgen-independent cell lines (Fig. 2.4), indicating that AR and CHD8 associate with each other in an androgen-dependent context.

To further investigate this interaction between AR and CHD8, coimmunoprecipitations of the recombinant proteins expressed using a baculovirus expression system in SF9 insect cells were also carried out. SF9 cells were infected with either AR alone, or co-infected with AR and Flag-CHD8 and then cell extracts were immunoprecipitated using anti-Flag antibodies. AR immunoprecipitated with the Flag beads along with the Flag-tagged, recombinant CHD8, but not by itself (Fig. 2.5), thus verifying a direct physical interaction between these two proteins.

CHD8 and AR Co-localize to the Promoters of Androgen-Responsive Genes

Having established the interaction between AR and CHD8, it was then examined whether this association was evident at endogenous AR target promoters, with CHD8 being localized to these sites along with AR. We have previously shown that CHD8 localizes to β -catenin target promoters (104) and to the Hox locus (unpublished data) by chromatin immunoprecipitation. To examine CHD8 occupancy at AR target promoters, LNCaP cells were either mock-treated with ethanol or induced with DHT for 6 hours and ChIP assays were done using antibodies against AR, CHD8 or with normal rabbit IgG as a control. The immunoprecipitated chromatin was analyzed by quantitative RT-PCR using primers directed against the previously defined enhancer regions in the promoters of PSA and TMPRSS2 (126, 131). The ChIPs for AR and CHD8 were at considerably higher levels than those for IgG under each of the conditions and therefore the IgG ChIP data is not shown. As expected, AR was recruited to the TMPRSS2 ARE upon induction by DHT (Fig. 2.6). It was also observed that CHD8 localized to this ARE both with and without induction by DHT, thus indicating that CHD8 is targeted to this promoter in an AR-independent manner. CHD8 was not present at the control site located about 7 kb upstream of the start site in the TMPRSS2 promoter, thus CHD8 is not non-specifically binding to this promoter. Similar androgen-independent localization of CHD8 was also seen on the ARE I/II region of the PSA promoter (Fig. 2.7). although CHD8 levels are reduced upon androgen treatment.

In order to confirm that AR and CHD8 are present at the same target sites simultaneously, re-ChIP assays were carried out in similarly treated LNCaP cells. These were done by immunoprecipitating the cross-linked chromatin-protein complexes using first CHD8 and then AR antibodies in two successive chromatin immunoprecipitations. Control re-ChIPs were done using either two consecutive immunoprecipitations with IgG antibodies or with IgG followed by AR antibody. Analysis of the immunoprecipitated chromatin using the same primers as for the TMPRSS2 ChIPs above indicated that indeed AR and CHD8 did co-localize to the TMPRSS2 ARE site upon DHT induction at the same time (Fig 2.8).

CHD8 Coactivates **AR-Mediated** Transcription

Having established the direct association between CHD8 and AR and their colocalization at the TMPRSS2 promoter, we then examined whether CHD8 has a functional role in the regulation of TMPRSS2 gene expression by using an shRNA-based approach to deplete endogenous CHD8. LNCaP cells were transfected with either control shRNA constructs or with shRNA constructs directed against CHD8. These vectors were designed so they also co-expressed the puromycin resistance gene along with the shRNAs. Thus cells successfully transfected with the shRNA constructs should also be puromycin-resistant and this feature was used to select for transfected cells by treating the transfected cells with puromycin for 48 hours. After selection, the cells were treated with either ethanol or DHT for 6 hours and then total RNA was extracted from these cells and reverse transcribed into cDNA. These cDNA samples were used as template for quantitative RT-PCR analysis to measure TMPRSS2 and PSA expression levels.

We found that, as expected, TMPRSS2 expression was induced almost 6-fold upon DHT treatment in the cells treated with control shRNA. However, under conditions of CHD8 depletion we see that the transcriptional activation of the TMPRSS2 gene upon DHT induction was almost completely abrogated (Fig. 2.9). This suggests that CHD8 is required for the optimal androgen-induced transcriptional activation of the AR target gene, TMPRSS2, in LNCaP cells. Similar, albeit less dramatic, effects of CHD8 knockdown were also observed on the expression of PSA in these cells (Fig. 2.10). The effectiveness of the depletion of CHD8 by our shRNA treatment and selection strategy is shown in Fig. 2.11, where we see significantly reduced levels of CHD8 protein by Western blotting.

CHD8 is an Androgen-Dependent AR Coactivator

The same CHD8 RNAi experiment was carried out in androgen-independent PC-3, DU-145 and 22RV1 cells. These cells do not respond to androgen treatment due to absence of functional AR (PC-3 and DU-145) or due to transition into an androgenindependent state (22RV1) (150, 172). In all three of these cell lines we found that induction by DHT treatment did not activate TMPRSS2 expression and CHD8 depletion did not significantly affect the expression of this gene either (Fig. 2.12). Similar results were obtained with PSA expression levels in each of these cell lines (2.13). While there were minimal changes in TMPRSS2 and PSA expression in upon CHD8 depletion in PC-3s and 22RV1s, these changes were insignificant compared to the drastic reduction of expression level seen in androgen-dependent LNCaP cells. The knockdown of CHD8 expression in each of these cell lines was verified by Western blot, as was done for the LNCaP cells, and a similar depletion of CHD8 was observed in each case (data not shown). These data support the hypothesis that CHD8 plays an important role in transcriptional activation of the TMPRSS2 gene by AR in an androgen-dependent context.

CHD8 Facilitates **AR** Binding to Target Promoters

Next, we attempted to observe the effects of CHD8 depletion on the localization of AR and CHD8 at the TMPRSS2 ARE site. CHD8 expression was knocked down in LNCaP as above and the transfected, puromycin-selected cells were treated with DHT for 6 hours. Since AR only binds to the TMPRSS2 ARE upon DHT induction the experiment was done only under induced conditions. ChIPs were carried out as before using antibodies against AR and CHD8 as well as IgG as a control. Quantitative RT-PCR analysis was carried out to observe the localization of AR and CHD8 at the target site using the same ChIP primers as in Fig. 2.6. It was observed that, as expected, the level of CHD8 at the ARE was significantly reduced in the cells where CHD8 had been knocked down (Fig. 2.14). Interestingly, while AR was appropriately recruited to the promoter upon DHT induction in control cells, this androgen-induced recruitment of AR was abrogated in the CHD8 depleted cells. This indicates that CHD8 is required for the recruitment and binding of AR to target promoters prior to AR recruitment to these sites upon DHT treatment, validates the possibility that CHD8 may be involved in the recruitment of AR to the TMPRSS2 ARE upon induction by androgens.

CHD8 is Involved in Androgen-Dependent Cell Proliferation

We have shown that CHD8 is required for the optimal transcriptional activation of the TMPRSS2 gene upon induction by DHT and that it may be required for the appropriate androgen-responsive recruitment of AR to target promoters. In order to examine whether this functional role for CHD8 in transcriptional regulation of ARresponsive genes has any physiological relevance, proliferation assays were conducted in LNCaP ells. Cells were transfected with either control or CHD8-targeting shRNA and selected as before. They were then induced with 50 nM DHT or mock-treated with ethanol. Proliferation assays were carried out at the indicated time points using the CellTiter-Glo kit from Promega in 96-well plates, using eight replicate sets for each condition. Data was expressed as a ratio of the luminescent signal from the induced cells to that obtained from the uninduced cells for each shRNA treatment at each given time point, and displayed as fold DHT-induced proliferation. We saw that, while DHT treatment resulted in a significant increase in proliferation of control cells, the CHD8-depleted cells did not show similar increases in proliferation upon DHT induction after 2 or 4 days (Fig. 2.15). Thus it appears that CHD8 is required for androgen-dependent expression and also for androgen-induced cell proliferation of LNCaP cells. CHD8 could therefore be an important and novel regulator of androgen-dependent prostate tumor growth.

Discussion

A Model for Coactivation of AR-Mediated Transcription by CHD8

The analysis of microarray data from the ONCOMINE database comparing expression profiles of normal prostate tissue to prostate tumors led to the discovery that CHD8 is upregulated in prostate cancer. Several AR coactivators are known to be similarly upregulated in prostate cancer. Given the background of CHD8 as a chromatin remodeling enzyme and the abundance of chromatin-related coactivators known to associate with AR in the course of its transcriptional regulatory function, this led us to hypothesize that CHD8 is a coactivator of AR.

We verified this hypothesis by showing a direct physical interaction between both endogenous and recombinant AR and CHD8 (Fig. 2.4 and Fig. 2.5). The interaction between the endogenous proteins was only evident in androgen-dependent cells and not in cells that are unresponsive to androgens, indicating this interaction is mediated in some way by androgens (Fig. 2.4). This is typical of other AR coactivators which are known to physically associate with ligand-bound AR in an androgen-dependent manner (118, 135). These coactivators contain one or more of the conserved signature NR box motifs, LXXLL, which are both necessary and sufficient for interaction with the AF-2 region in the C-terminal ligand-binding domain (LBD) of nuclear receptors (173). This interaction, in turn, serves to recruit these coactivators to target promoters. A novel variant to this signature NR box motif, defined by the sequence FXXLL, has also been found to be capable of mediating interactions of coactivators with nuclear receptor LBDs (174). It has also been reported that, compared to other nuclear receptors, the LBD of AR has a unique coactivator binding groove in its LBD that binds FXXLF motifs with greater affinity than the traditional NR box motif (175-177). In fact, one such motif is found in the NTD of AR and is known to strongly bind to the coactivator groove in the LBD (178, 179), facilitating optimal transactivation of the receptor (180-182). This interaction between the N- and C- terminal domains takes place only in the mobile fraction of AR and the interaction is relieved upon the binding of the receptor to DNA, allowing the coactivator groove to become accessible by other cofactors (183).

Protein sequence analysis of CHD8 revealed the presence of similar consensus motifs within its helicase domain. The traditional NR box in CHD8 is a LFSLL motif located at 996–1000 aa within the SNF2 helicase domain of the protein. This motif is conserved only in members of the CHD 6-9 family and is not found within the helicase domains of other SNF2 family proteins and thus could be the candidate binding motif for its specific interaction with AR. Closely homologous to this signature motif is the FXXLL sequence, which in CHD8 is a FVFLL motif located at 1212–1216 aa in the helicase domain. Alignments of the evolutionarily conserved helicase domains of members of the SNF2 superfamily, this motif was found to be conserved within several other SNF2 family helicases including CHD 3-5, INO80, KIAA 1122 and Brg1, besides CHD 6-9. A closely homologous sequence, FVFML, was found in ISWI. This indicates that this motif may not be responsible for AR binding since it is a widely conserved motif in all SNF2 helicases and may be of functional importance for the activity of the helicase domain. None of the variations of the AR-specific interaction motif, FXXLF, were found in the CHD8 protein sequence.

The AR-specific FXXLF motif is capable of stimulating stronger binding with the coactivator groove of AR than the general LXXLL NR box motif, due to the fact that the bulkier F residues make better hydrophobic contacts with the amino acids lining the coactivator groove than L residues (176, 177). However, LXXLL motif interactions are still made possible by an induced fit mechanism which allows the coactivator groove to alternatively allow L or F residues at the terminal positions of the binding motif (184-186). Thus it is possible for there to be differential strength of binding of coactivators to AR, based on the kind of binding motif present. In the case of CHD8, it may not be desirable to have a strong interaction with AR, and thus this interaction may be mediated by the less potent LXXLL motif. In fact, common nuclear receptor coactivators, like SRC1 and TIF2, interact with AR through traditional NR box motifs (176, 184, 187). This may be to enable the more general transcriptional coactivators to selectively bind with AR during transcriptional activation and then easily dissociate from the receptor once their role is completed, to carry on their other cellular functions. CHD8 has also been shown to be an enzyme with diverse functions and thus its interaction with AR may be mediated by an NR box motif by design, so as to allow this association to be more transient. In fact, since most FXXLF-mediated interactions appear to be those of more AR-specific coactivators, like ARA54 and ARA70 (188), it makes sense that CHD8 does not have one of these motifs, as it is clearly more diverse in function and it would not be ideal for it to be tethered to AR. Furthermore, the fact that CHD8 interacts with AR through an LXXLL motif may indicate that it could be involved in coactivation of other nuclear receptors. This theory is supported by the fact that the closely homologous subfamily member, CHD9, is known to interact with several other nuclear receptor (GR), constitutive androstane receptor (CAR), retinoid X receptor (RXR) and the estrogen receptor (ER) through its LXXLL motifs (159). Further work is required to more accurately map the interaction of AR with CHD8 to verify these speculations.

We observed that CHD8 co-localized with AR to target AREs in the PSA and TMPRSS2 promoters. However, unlike other coactivators, CHD8 was associated with these promoters independent of androgen induction (Fig.2.6 and Fig. 2.7). In this respect CHD8 is distinct from most common AR coactivators which get recruited to the target promoters by AR in response to androgen treatment. This raises the possibility that perhaps CHD8 is functioning differently than other typical coactivators in its role in ARmediated transcriptional regulation.

When CHD8 was depleted in androgen-dependent cells, the androgen-stimulated transcriptional activation of TMPRSS2 and PSA was abrogated (Fig. 2.9 and Fig. 2.10). Since this activation is mediated by the action of AR, we can conclude that CHD8 is a required coactivator for the optimal activation of androgen-responsive genes. Depletion

of CHD8, however, had no effect on the expression of these genes in androgenindependent cells (Fig. 2.12 and Fig. 2.13). Thus we have established that CHD8 is a coactivator of AR and functions in an androgen-responsive manner to regulate the expression of target genes upon induction by androgens.

While we have shown that the transcriptional role of CHD8 in regulating the expression of androgen-responsive genes is similar to other coactivators of AR, its mechanistic function is still unclear. How can a chromatin remodeling enzyme that is present at target promoters in an androgen-independent fashion function as an androgenresponsive AR coactivator? This is partly addressed by our observation that depletion of CHD8 prevented AR from binding AREs in the target promoters (Fig. 2.14). We know that CHD8 is a nucleosome remodeling enzyme that is present at these promoters even prior to androgen treatment and that it interacts with AR in an androgen-dependent fashion. Hence, we can postulate that ligand-bound AR homodimers bind to CHD8 at the target promoters, modulating its remodeling activity to reposition nucleosomes in a manner that facilitates the binding of AR to the underlying DNA. Thus our model is that CHD8 is present at AR target promoters, where it may have some basal activity in maintaining the chromatin in a transcriptionally inactive state. Upon induction by androgens, ligand bound AR homodimers translocate from the cytoplasm to the nucleus, where they interact with CHD8 at the AREs of target promoters. They then modulate the nucleosomal remodeling activity of CHD8 in a way that facilitates nucleosome repositioning to allow AR to bind to the ARE DNA sequences. The promoter-bound AR subsequently regulates the transcriptional activation of the target gene by recruiting other coactivators and the transcriptional machinery to these sites. Recent studies from our

group have indicated a similar role for CHD8 in the recruitment of the histone methyltransferase complex, WAR, to Hox promoters (unpublished data).

While this is an attractive model based on the results described above, it needs to be examined in greater detail to verify the precise mechanistic role of CHD8 in ARmediated transcriptional regulation. The role of CHD8 is, however, physiologically relevant in terms of the growth and proliferation of prostate cancer cells, as evidenced by our observation that CHD8 depletion adversely affects the androgen-responsive proliferation of LNCaP cells (Fig. 2.15). This validates our hypothesis of CHD8 as an androgen-dependent AR coactivator and also supports a model in which CHD8 is required for optimal recruitment and subsequent transcriptional activation of AR target genes. This result also suggests that CHD8 is involved in the regulation of a larger subset of AR target genes, due to its effect on the overall growth of these prostate cancer cells in response to androgens.

Comparisons to SWI/SNF, another ATP-dependent Chromatin Remodeling Coactivator of AR

SWI/SNF has been well established as an ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling complex known to function as an AR coactivator. It is recruited by AR to target promoters in response to androgen and plays a role in the transcriptional activation of these genes through its nucleosome remodeling activity (189). The catalytic activity of human SWI/SNF is conferred by one of two core ATPases, Brg1 or hBRM. Of these alternative SWI/SNF complexes, hBRM-containing complexes were preferentially recruited by AR as a coactivator in the course of its transcriptional regulatory function (143). The interaction of the SWI/SNF complex to AR has been shown to be mediated through a direct interaction with the BAF57 subunit of the complex, which is responsible for the specificity of this association (140). In contrast, CHD8 appears to directly associate with AR as there were no additional components bridging the interaction demonstrated between the recombinant proteins in the baculovirus co-infection experiment (Fig. 2.5). Also BAF57 reportedly interacts with AR in an androgen-independent manner (140), whereas CHD8 does not interact with AR in androgen-independent cell lines. Further experiments mapping the AR-CHD8 interaction are necessary to fully understand their association, possibly through the unique LFSLL motif found in CHD8.

Another prominent difference in these two coactivators is the pattern of their recruitment. SWI/SNF gets recruited by AR in response to androgens to target promoters. On the other hand CHD8 is present at these promoters even in the absence of AR. Upon androgen treatment, it interacts with the nuclear, ligand-bound AR in a way that stimulates its nucleosome remodeling activity to facilitate AR binding to these sites. Thus CHD8 may be involved in the AR-mediated transactivation process upstream of the involvement of SWI/SNF. Indeed it may be responsible for the subsequent recruitment of SWI/SNF via AR. There is apparently a temporal separation between the points of action of these two chromatin remodeling coactivators of AR in androgen-responsive transcriptional regulation. This in itself is not an unprecedented observation since it is known that during RNA polymerase II-mediated transcription in *Drosophila*, BRM facilitates transcriptional initiation at a step prior to polymerase recruitment to promoters, while the CHD8 homolog Kismet, is implicated at a later stage involving promoter

clearance by the polymerase complex and the transition from early to late stages of elongation (61).

The CHD6-9 Subfamily and Nuclear Receptors

There are a few lines of evidence from previous studies connecting CHD6-9 subfamily members with nuclear receptors and other similar transcription factors. CHD9 is known to interact with the glucocorticoid receptor and the estrogen receptor (98, 99) and another report demonstrates its role as a coactivator of PPAR α (159). This same study also reported the interaction of CHD9 with other nuclear receptors like constitutive androstane receptor (CAR), retinoid X receptor (RXR) and the estrogen receptor (ER). CHD7 has been shown to interact with PPAR- γ as part of a complex and repress the expression of its target genes in conjunction with an HMTase component of this complex (95). All these reports point towards a role for this subfamily of chromatin remodeling enzymes in nuclear receptor-mediated transcriptional regulation. Our results have revealed CHD8 to be a coactivator of AR and thus have further expanded this nuclear receptor-associated role of the CHD6-9 subfamily.

There are, however, subtle yet significant differences between the role of CHD8 and its other subfamily members in their capacity as nuclear receptor coregulators. CHD9 appears to interact with PPAR α through one or more of five LXXLL motifs located within its protein sequence, since different fragments of this protein were pulled down with GST- PPAR α , with the greatest affinity appearing to be of a C-terminal fragment containing two of these motifs (159). On the other hand CHD8 only has one LXXLL and one FXXLL motif, both located within in SNF2 helicase domain. There are no homologous C-terminal NR box motifs in CHD8 and thus the basis of its interaction is likely different from that of CHD9. Also, CHD9 interacts with PPAR α bound to DNA. In the case of CHD8, it appears that CHD8 is bound to the target DNA elements prior to AR binding, and, in fact, it appears to facilitate the binding of AR to these sites. This model of CHD8 function does indeed seem unique among the previously reported transcriptional regulatory roles of all other CHD family members, even though CHD6 and CHD9 have been shown to have a similar coactivating effect in association with other nuclear receptors and similar transcription factors.

Several other reports help validate our findings about CHD8 and AR. CHD8 has also been linked to ER and has been reported to be required for the ER-dependent upregulation of the cyclin E2 gene (105). Another study also reported that CHD8 upregulates cyclin E2 through interaction with elongating RNA polymerase II (100). This report also demonstrates that CHD8 is constitutively bound to the CCNE2 promoter, in the same way we see it bound to AR target promoters. Also, its regulation of cell cycle genes would be consistent with a role for CHD8 in promoting androgen-responsive cell proliferation. A similar constitutive recruitment of CHD9 has been observed at the ERresponsive osteocalcin promoters during bone development (99). It has also been reported that CHD8 suppresses p53-mediated apoptosis (102), once again supporting the tumorigenic role for this protein in our model. Finally there are reports connecting the inappropriate activation of AR by the β -catenin pathway, suggesting that β -catenin interacts with AR, translocates with it to the nucleus and binds target promoters as a complex (190). This again links CHD8 to AR since CHD8 has been previously shown by our group to interact with β -catenin (104). The transcriptional role of CHD8 appears to

be contradictory in these two systems, with CHD8 acting as a coactivator of AR and as a negative regulator of β -catenin-mediated transcription. However, there are examples both of CHD8 (100, 102-105, 190) and of other chromatin remodeling enzymes (191) having differential transcriptional activities depending on its interaction with different cofactors.

CHD8 as a Novel Therapeutic and Diagnostic Target for Prostate Cancer

An interesting observation that emerged from the microarray data analysis was that CHD8 levels were significantly upregulated in metastatic prostate tumors compared to normal tissue but not in primary prostate tumors. This may indicate a role for CHD8 in the transition to hormone refractory prostate cancer and not in primary tumorigenesis. This may seem counter-intuitive since we show that CHD8 is not involved in ARmediated transcription in the androgen-independent cell lines studied here, but PC-3 and DU-145 are AR-negative and perhaps aberrant AR function in the hormone refractory 22RV1 cells precludes CHD8 involvement. However, if we consider the observation that CHD8 depletion results in abrogation of AR recruitment to target genes, and the fact that CHD8 is upregulated only in metastatic tumors, one can envision a scenario where overexpression of CHD8 may be responsible for the aberrant recruitment of AR to target genes thus enabling the androgen-independent transactivation of these genes. Since CHD8 is in fact constitutively present at these target promoters even in the absence of androgens, it is possible that its overexpression would result in a constitutive, androgenindependent recruitment of AR to these sites, giving rise to aberrant transcription of these genes and leading to a hormone refractory state. While we know that androgen-signaling is typically required for AR translocation to the nucleus, this requirement is clearly

circumvented in the hormone refractory phase due to the dysregulation of AR by various mechanisms including AR mutations changing its ligand-specificity, overexpression of AR or its activation by alternate pathways. In addition, AR that is targeted to the nucleus during the early androgen-dependent phase of primary tumors may not have been expelled from the nucleus. Upon the overexpression of CHD8 in tumors that have progressed to a metastatic state, both aberrantly targeted AR and remnant nuclear AR from the androgen-dependent state would get constitutively recruited to target promoters, hence establishing and maintaining tumors in a hormone refractory state.

These observations indicate that CHD8 could be critical in the transition of tumors from androgen-dependence to an androgen-independent state and in the subsequent maintenance of this state. This makes it a novel therapeutic target for the treatment of androgen-independent prostate cancer. Most current therapies like androgen-ablation and targeting AR, are not effective against androgen-independent prostate cancer. CHD8 is a particularly intriguing prospective target because of its potential role in the transition of tumors to a hormone refractory state, and thus by targeting it one could prevent this transition. Due to the fact that overexpressed CHD8 in metastatic tumors could constitutively recruit aberrantly translocated AR to its target genes, it may also be involved in maintaining these tumors in an androgen-independent state. Thus targeting CHD8 should abolish this recruitment pattern and would effectively ablate AR transactivation of these genes and could also be used to treat androgenindependent malignancies. In addition, due to its upregulation in metastatic tumors, CHD8 could also be used as a diagnostic marker for prostate cancer. Future studies will have to be directed towards understanding the specifics of CHD8 expression in prostate

cancer and the precise mechanism of its coactivation of AR, before such therapeutic and diagnostic strategies can be pursued.



Figure 2.1: Domain structure of the androgen receptor. The androgen receptor is comprised of an N-terminal transactivation domain (red), a central DNA-binding domain (blue) and a C-terminal ligand-binding domain (green). The hinge region between the DNA-binding and ligand-binding domains serves as a structurally flexible element that allows the protein undergo a conformational change upon transactivation to allow interaction of the N-terminal domain with the ligand-binding domain.


Figure 2.2: The androgen receptor signaling pathway. Under uninduced conditions the androgen receptor (AR) remains sequestered in the cytoplasm in a protein chaperone complex (A). Upon induction by androgens, AR dissociates from this complex and binds the ligand, whereupon it dimerizes (B) and translocates to the nucleus where it can bind to androgen response elements (AREs) on the promoters of target genes (C). Here, AR recruits a complex of coactivators which facilitate the transcriptional activation of the target androgen-responsive genes.

TMPRSS2 Promoter



Figure 2.3: Schematic representation of the TMPRSS2 and PSA promoters. The TMPRSS2 promoter (above) has a single characterized ARE located 13.5 kb upstream of the transcriptional start site. The PSA promoter (below) has three characterized androgen response elements (AREs), which are shown in red. The consensus ARE I is located between -156 to -170 bp from the transcriptional start site and the non-consensus ARE II lies between -365 to -400 bp upstream of the start site. In addition, the ARE III region spanning about 450 bp and located approximately 4 kb upstream of the transcriptional start site contains one consensus and multiple non-consensus sites.



Figure 2.4: Androgen-dependent interaction of endogenous CHD8 and AR. Nuclear extracts were prepared from the indicated cell lines and immunoprecipitated with α -CHD8 antibodies. After washing, the input and immunoprecipitated samples (IP) were subjected to Western blot analysis using the indicated antibodies.



Figure 2.5: Direct association of recombinant CHD8 and AR. Cellular extracts were prepared from SF9 cells following co-infection with the indicated viruses. Immunoprecipitations were performed with anti-Flag antibody-linked M2 agarose beads. Immunoprecipitated samples were subjected to Western blot analysis using the indicated antibodies.



Figure 2.6: Co-localization of CHD8 and AR to the ARE of the TMPRSS2 promoter. LNCaP cells were treated with ethanol or 10 nM DHT for 6 hours. Chromatin was crosslinked *in vivo* with formaldehyde. Cells were lysed and chromatin immunoprecipitations were performed with the indicated antibodies. Bound DNA was detected by quantitative PCR using primers to the ARE of TMPRSS2 (ARE) or a control TMPRSS2 promoter region (-7 kb). Control IgG-precipitated samples were less than 0.005% of input and therefore are not shown. Data is representative of multiple experiments.



Figure 2.7: Co-localization of CHD8 and AR to the ARE of the PSA promoter. LNCaP cells were treated with ethanol or 10 nM DHT for 6 hours and harvested for ChIP using antibodies to AR and CHD8. Immunoprecipitated chromatin was analyzed by qPCR using primers targeting the PSA ARE I/II region. Control ChIPs done with IgG antibodies were less than 0.005% of input and were therefore not shown. Data is representative of multiple experiments.



Figure 2.8: Simultaneous co-localization of CHD8 and AR to the TMPRSS2 ARE. LNCaP cells were treated as in Fig. 2.6. Re-ChIP experiments were performed by successively immunoprecipitating the cross-linked chromatin with the indicated antibodies. Bound DNA was detected by quantitative PCR using primers to the TMPRSS2 ARE. Data is representative of multiple experiments.



Figure 2.9: Coactivation of AR-mediated transcription of the TMPRSS2 gene by CHD8. LNCaP cells were transfected with the indicated siRNA constructs. Following selection of the transfected cells, cultures were treated with ethanol or 10 nM DHT for 6 hours. Total RNA was isolated and TMPRSS2 expression was analyzed by quantitative RT-PCR. Data is representative of multiple experiments. ** = p<0.01 by Student's t-test.



Figure 2.10: Coactivation of AR-mediated transcription of the PSA gene by CHD8. LNCaP cells were transfected with the indicated siRNA constructs, selected and treated with ethanol or 10 nM DHT for 6 h. Total RNA was isolated and PSA expression was analyzed by RT-qPCR. Expression of PSA was normalized to a reference RNA. Data is representative of multiple experiments. * = p < 0.05 and ** = p < 0.01 by Student's t-test.



Figure 2.11: Efficacy of CHD8 knockdown in LNCaP cells. Efficiency of CHD8 depletion by siRNA treatment in Fig. 2.9 and Fig. 2.10 was determined by Western blot analysis with CHD8 antibodies. Actin is blotted as a loading control.



Figure 2.12: Effect of CHD8 depletion on TMPRSS2 expression in androgenindependent cell lines. The indicated androgen-independent cell lines were transfected with the specified siRNA constructs. Following selection of the transfected cells, cultures were treated with ethanol or 10 nM DHT for 6 hours. Total RNA was isolated and TMPRSS2 expression was analyzed by quantitative RT-PCR. Data is representative of multiple experiments.



Figure 2.13: Effect of CHD8 depletion on PSA expression in androgen-independent cell lines. The indicated androgen-independent cell lines were transfected with the specified siRNA constructs. Following selection of the transfected cells, cultures were treated with ethanol or 10 nM DHT for 6 hours. Total RNA was isolated and PSA expression was analyzed by quantitative RT-PCR. Data is representative of multiple experiments.



Figure 2.14: Abrogation of androgen-responsive recruitment of AR to the TMPRSS2 ARE upon CHD8 depletion. LNCaP cells were transfected with the indicated siRNA constructs. Following selection of the transfected cells, cultures were treated with ethanol or 10 nM DHT for 6 hours. Chromatin was crosslinked *in vivo* with formaldehyde. Cells were lysed and chromatin immunoprecipitations were performed with the indicated antibodies. Bound DNA was detected by quantitative PCR using primers to the TMPRSS2 ARE. Control IgG-precipitated samples were less than 0.005% of input and therefore are not shown. Shown is a typical result from multiple experiments.



Figure 2.15: Adverse effect of CHD8 depletion on androgen-dependent cell proliferation. LNCaP cells were transfected with the indicated siRNA constructs. Following selection of the transfected cells, cultures were treated with ethanol or 50 nM DHT. At the indicated time points, proliferation was determined using a luminescent-based assay of metabolically active cells. Data is expressed as fold DHT-induced proliferation, which is calculated as the ratio of the luminescent signals from the induced to the uninduced cells for each siRNA treatment at each indicated time point. *=p<0.02 by student's t-test.

CHAPTER III

Substrate Specificity and Requirements for Remodeling by CHD8

Introduction

Interplay of Histone Modifications and Nucleosome Remodeling

As discussed previously, eukaryotes manipulate chromatin structure by employing diverse strategies. These include covalent modification of histones, as well as ATP-driven nucleosome remodeling. The interplay between the factors responsible for these two classes of chromatin remodeling can exist at different levels. The proteins involved in these two processes can interact by direct association with one another. They can also interact via the histone marks deposited by chromatin modifying enzymes, which can then be recognized and bound by various domains found in nucleosome remodeling factors. Both of these mechanisms are discussed further in Chapter IV. In this chapter, we will address another form of interplay between histone modification and nucleosome remodeling; namely the modulation of the substrate specificity of ATPdependent chromatin remodeling enzymes for nucleosomal substrates, due to the modification and alteration of histone structure.

Histone Tails and Chromatin Structure

The majority of covalent modifications of histones occur in the N-terminal tail regions, which can account for up to 30% by mass of the histone proteins (192). These tails extend away from the globular core of the nucleosome and are thought to be largely unstructured, allowing for maximal structural flexibility and accessibility for covalent modification (5). Modifications of the histone tails generate epitopes for recognition by other chromatin remodeling factors, which can then affect changes in chromatin structure. Histone tails can also affect the chromatin structure by altering the dynamic properties of nucleosomes. Nucleosomes are highly dynamic structures that can be modulated in different ways. Nucleosomes can form arrays that condense into chromatin fibers, their positioning can be altered by nucleosomal sliding and their structures can be disrupted to dissociate the DNA from the histone octamers (39, 193-195). These processes occur both spontaneously as well as in an ATP-dependent fashion by the action of chromatin remodeling enzymes. Nucleosome dynamics are dependent on their inherent structure, which in turn is influenced by the presence and nature of the histone tails. Therefore it is not surprising that histone tails and their covalent modifications have been shown to directly affect these dynamic properties of nucleosomes (196-199). A recent study examined the effects of histone tail deletions on the intrinsic stability and mobility of nucleosomes (200). Deletion of H2A tails increased the intrinsic mobility of nucleosomes, while H4 and H2B tail deletions reduced the same, showing these tails assist in nucleosome sliding. Deletion of H3 caused striking structural changes of the nucleosome, disrupting DNA wrapping and destabilization of dimers. Thus histone tails,

being critical in inherent nucleosome structure and dynamics, would also be expected to be important for ATP-dependent remodeling.

Histone Tails and ATP-dependent Chromatin Remodeling

The histone tails provide ideal contact points between the nucleosome and the chromatin remodeling enzymes, being the only part of the nucleosome structure that extends away from the otherwise compact nucleosomal core. There are several examples from previous literature that suggest that histone tails are important for ATP-dependent nucleosome remodeling. The genetic link between histone tails and chromatin remodeling was originally elucidated by deletion studies in yeast. *In vivo*, the deletion of histone tails in yeast was found to profoundly affect chromatin structure and gene regulation on a genome-wide scale (201-203). Deletion of H3 or H4 histone tails eliminates heterochromatin-based transcriptional repression of several genes (204, 205). Histone tails have also been linked to more specific effects on chromatin remodeling. For example, deletion of H2A or H2B tails affected the chromatin remodeling activity of SWI/SNF at specific subsets of genes (206, 207).

Several studies have examined the effect of histone tail deletions on nucleosome remodeling *in vitro* as well. The histone tails are required for nucleosomal remodeling by ISWI, SWI/SNF and RSC complexes (208, 209). Mi-2 containing complexes, on the other hand do not require the presence of histone tails for efficient nucleosomal remodeling (210, 211). In fact, the specificity of certain chromatin remodelers for histone tails extends even further. ISWI specifically requires H4 tails to remodel nucleosomes, by recognizing a critical epitope consisting of a DNA bound N-terminal

sequence of H4 (212, 213). H3 tail deletion or mutation reduced nucleosome remodeling by RSC and SWI/SNF but did not significantly affect remodeling by CHD1 (214).

Histone Modifications and Nucleosome Remodeling

The importance of histone tails in chromatin remodeling is further emphasized by evidence that histone tail modifications can also affect nucleosome remodeling. Acetylation of H3K14 has been shown to enhance remodeling by RSC (215), while it inhibits remodeling by ACF, (26) showing that specific modifications can have differential effects on different remodeling enzymes. Indeed RSC has been found to interact genetically with H3K14 but not with H3K9 (38). Acetylation of multiple lysines on the H4 tail, on the other hand, has no effect on RSC-catalyzed sliding of nucleosomes, but it inhibits remodeling by Isw2 (215). Furthermore, it was seen that CHD1 also required H4 tails to efficiently catalyze nucleosome sliding and acetylation of the H4 tail reduced its rate of remodeling as well (215). As mentioned before, however, another CHD family protein, Mi-2, did not require the presence of histone tails to catalyze nucleosome remodeling (211) Thus it is possible that even within the same family of remodelers one may find that particular histone modifications can have differential effects on remodeling activity. Indeed, the ISWI-containing Remodeling and Spacing Factor (RSF) was also found to assemble nucleosome arrays more efficiently upon p300mediated acetylation of the H4 tails of its nucleosomal substrates (216), while remodeling by Isw2 is adversely affected by the same modification. The acetylation of H4K8 has been reported to facilitate remodeling by INO80 and SWR1 complexes (217).

The effect of H3K14 acetylation on remodeling by RSC acetylation can be attributed to the increased binding capacity of RSC for the acetylated nucleosomes (24, 27, 215). In this case, the rate of catalysis is being affected by tighter binding of the enzyme to the substrate. On the other hand, acetylation of H4 does not have any effect on the binding of either Isw2 or CHD1 to nucleosomes and appears to affect nucleosome remodeling by both these enzymes by decreasing the turnover rate of ATP hydrolysis (215). This shows that histone modification can affect nucleosome remodeling at different stages of catalysis and by different mechanisms. While acetylation of H4 was shown to not affect nucleosome sliding by RSC, it appears to increase the rate of octamer transfer by RSC, probably by destabilizing the nucleosome. Thus the same modification can also control different aspects of chromatin remodeling by the same enzyme in different ways.

Substrate Specificity of Chromatin Remodeling Enzymes

Several chromatin remodeling enzymes have different specificities towards preferred nucleosomal substrates based on the presence and modifications of histone tails. Studying the substrate specificities and requirements for the remodeling activities of these enzymes could provide valuable insights into their cellular functions. It is logical that RSC, which is typically associated with transcriptional activation, prefers acetylated nucleosomal substrates for its remodeling activity, since this modification is usually enriched at sites of active transcription. The SWI/SNF family of chromatin remodelers, to which RSC belongs, contains bromodomains that bind histone acetyl marks and this reinforces the possibility that these enzymes recognize nucleosome substrates bearing acetylation marks. Conversely, remodeling by Isw2, which is known to have a transcriptionally repressive role, is adversely affected by histone acetylation. The ISWI family appears to recognize an epitope in the unmodified H4 tail in the course of catalysis. This epitope may be masked by acetylation of H4 causing the observed inhibition of remodeling by these enzymes.

The CHD subfamilies appear to be regulated differentially by histone tails and their modifications, and this too is not unexpected given the functional variation among these proteins. CHD1 of the CHD1-2 subfamily requires the H4 but not the H3 tail for optimal remodeling activity, and this activity is inhibited by H4 acetylation, much like ISWI. This may seem counter-intuitive since CHD1 is known to be involved in active transcription via association with elongating RNA Pol II, and is known to interact with the HAT complexes, SAGA and SLIK (29). However, CHD1 contains methylationspecific chromodomains and not the acetyl-recognizing bromodomains. Thus it is possible that the mode of substrate recognition by the CHD1-2 subfamily is through the H4 tail, like ISWI remodelers, and acetylation of this tail prevents the necessary enzyme-substrate contacts for optimal remodeling activity. Mi-2 of the CHD3-5 subfamily, on the other hand, appears to not require histone tails at all for its remodeling activity. However, the binding of CHD3/4-containing NURD complexes to histories is abrogated by H3K4 methylation, indicating that these proteins require the presence of unmodified H3 tails for binding to the substrate (80). We can reconcile this contradiction by proposing that the CHD3-5 proteins require an epitope in the histone core bodies, which may be modified or unmodified, and that this recognition is affected by the methylation of H3K4. The CHD6-9 subfamily has been relatively poorly studied from the aspect their remodeling activity. This will be examined further in this chapter.

Nucleosome Remodeling by CHD8

While it has been previously shown that CHD6 and CHD9 have DNA-stimulated ATPase activity (90, 96), nucleosome remodeling by other CHD6-9 subfamily members has not previously been characterized. Studies from our lab were the first to identify and characterize CHD8 as a *bona fide* ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling enzyme (104). It was demonstrated that CHD8, like other typical chromatin remodelers, has intrinsic ATPase activity that was stimulated in the presence of nucleosomes. It also has a conserved lysine residue within the ATP-binding site of its catalytic Snf2 helicase domain, which is conserved among Snf2-containing chromatin remodeling enzymes and is required for their catalytic activity. Mutation of this cognate lysine severely impaired the nucleosome-stimulated ATPase activity of CHD8, showing that it has canonical Snf2domain driven catalytic activity. It was also shown that CHD8 was able to remodel mononucleosomes in an ATP-dependent manner. Results obtained from nucleosome sliding assays revealed that CHD8, like CHD1 and CHD3, repositions nucleosomes toward the center of the DNA template upon which they are assembled. However, the substrate specificity of CHD8 has not been examined, to date. Thus an investigation into the substrate preference or requirement of CHD8 for remodeling nucleosomes, would further elucidate new aspects of the remodeling activity and cellular functions of the CHD family of remodelers.

CHD8, like other members of the CHD family, has a pair of tandem chromodomains. Since these domains are known to recognize and bind histone methylation marks, it is possible that those of CHD8 could be involved in the recognition of specific methylated histone tails on its nucleosomal substrates. The chromodomains of CHD1 are known to bind dimethylated H3K4 (30), while this same modification precludes the binding of CHD3/4 to the H3 tail (79, 80). Thus the chromodomains of CHD6-9 may also specify or prevent binding to specifically methylated histone tails, defining its substrate preference for remodeling. Indeed the chromodomains of CHD8 have been shown to bind dimethylated H3K4 (100). It should be noted that for other CHD family proteins, the binding specificity of their chromodomains is independent of their requirements for remodeling, since despite their binding properties to H3 tails, both CHD1/2 and CHD3/4 do not require the H3 tail for their remodeling activity. In these cases the chromodomains may be involved in the appropriate targeting of their remodeling activity and not in substrate recognition. In the case of RSC, however, the interaction of its bromodomains with acetylated H3K14 is responsible for the substrate specificity of this enzyme for remodeling (215). It would thus be intriguing to examine whether the substrate requirements for remodeling by CHD8 are defined by its chromodomains or not. In addition, while the effects of histone tail acetylation have been widely demonstrated on nucleosome remodeling, histone methylation has never been well-studied in this context. It would thus be interesting to narrow down the requirements for remodeling and the substrate specificity of CHD8, by examining the effect of tail deletions and histone methylation on its remodeling activity.

Hypothesis and Summary of Results

Based on the evidence that the chromodomains of CHD8 binds methylated H3K4, we hypothesized that CHD8 would preferentially remodel nucleosomes containing H3K4 methylation marks. To determine this we examined the effects of various histone alterations on the remodeling activity of CHD8. We began by examining the remodeling of CHD8 on nucleosomes reconstituted using recombinant histones, which are presumably unmodified, and comparing this to nucleosomes assembled using core histones extracted from HeLa cells containing a plethora of histone modifications, to see whether these modifications affect remodeling by CHD8. We found that CHD8 could remodel unmodified, recombinant nucleosomes, and from a competitive remodeling assay where both nucleosome types were present in the same reactions we saw that CHD8 prefers the core nucleosomes as a substrate. Next we attempted to narrow in on the histone tail upon which these preferred modifications were located by doing remodeling assays on nucleosomes containing truncated histone tails. We found that deletion of the H3-H4 tails did not prevent nucleosome sliding of these nucleosomes on a DNA template. In fact, the deletion of these tails appeared to enhance nucleosome remodeling by CHD8 when compared to nucleosomes containing wild-type, full-length recombinant histones using a competitive nucleosome sliding assay. Finally we looked at the effect of H3K4 methylation on remodeling by CHD8. Histone H3 was synthetically modified so that its H3K4 residue was replaced by either unmodified or dimethylated Remodeling of nucleosomes reconstituted using these synthetically lysine analogs. modified histones was compared in a competitive nucleosome sliding assay. It was observed that CHD8 did preferentially remodel the dimethylated nucleosomes over the unmodified ones. Thus we concluded that CHD8 does not require the H3-H4 tails for its remodeling activity, but prefers nucleosomal substrates bearing H3K4 methylation.

Materials and Methods

Recombinant Protein Production

Recombinant baculovirus containing Flag-tagged CHD8 was created using the Bac-N-Blue baculovirus expression system (Invitrogen). This was used to express recombinant, full-length CHD8 for use in the enzymatic assays described below. For protein expression, Sf9 cells at 1×10^6 cells per mL were infected with the recombinant Flag-CHD8 virus and grown for 4 days. Cells were harvested, washed with PBS and resuspended in IP buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl [pH 7.9], 0.2 mM EDTA, 10% glycerol, 0.2 mM PMSF) containing 500 mM KCl and 1% NP-40 as well as 1 µg/mL of each of the protease inhibitors, aprotinin, leupeptin and pepstatin. The cells were then lysed using a Dounce homogenizer and lysates were cleared by centrifugation at $30,000 \times g$ at 4°C for 30 minutes. Samples were then dialyzed against IP buffer with 50 mM KCl and inverted overnight at 4°C with 250 µL of agarose beads conjugated with anti-Flag antibody M2 (Sigma). The beads were then washed sequentially with 10 column volumes each of 150 mM KCl in IP buffer, 350 mM KCl in IP buffer and again in 150 mM KCl in IP buffer. The protein was eluted with 400 µg/mL Flag peptide (Sigma) in 150 mM KCl IP buffer with 1 μ g/mL each of aprotinin, leupeptin and pepstatin.

Recombinant histones were expressed and extracted from BL21 (DE3) *E. coli* cells essentially as described by Luger et al (218). Briefly, 1 L cultures of cells expressing recombinant histones were grown up to an OD₆₀₀ of 0.4 to 0.6, induced by the addition of 0.2 mM IPTG (isopropyl- β -D-thiogalactopyranoside) and grown for another 3 hours at 37°C. The cells were harvested by centrifugation at 4,500×g for 10 minutes at

 4° C and then resuspended in 20 mL IP buffer with 100 mM KCl and 5 mM BME (β mercaptoethanol). The cell suspension was lysed by two passages through a French pressure cell and the lysate was centrifuged at $12,000 \times g$ for 20 minutes at 4°C to pellet the inclusion bodies. The inclusion bodies were then washed once in IP buffer with 100 mM KCl and 1% Triton X-100 and then once in IP buffer with 100 mM KCl. Inclusion bodies were pelleted again by centrifugation at $12,000 \times g$ for 20 minutes at 4°C and extracted in unfolding buffer (7 M guanidine hydrochloride, 20 mM Tris-HCl [pH 7.5], 10 mM DTT [dithiothreitol]) at room temperature for 1 hour. The extracted inclusion bodies were centrifuged again at $12,000 \times g$ for 20 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant containing the extracted histone protein was removed and saved and the pellet was extracted once again in the same way as before. The supernatant from the second extraction was combined with that from the first extraction and this sample was dialyzed against 4 L of low-salt urea buffer (7M urea, 20 mM Tris-HCl [pH 7.5], 100 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 5mM BME) overnight at 4 °C. The dialysate was centrifuged at $23,000 \times g$ for 20 minutes at 4°C and the supernatant was injected onto tandem Q Sepharose and SP Sepharose (Sigma-Aldrich) columns, arranged in that order, pre-equilibrated in low-salt urea buffer. The Q Sepharose column was then removed and the SP Sepharose column was eluted over a salt gradient set up using low-salt urea buffer and high-salt urea buffer (7M urea, 20 mM Tris-HCl [pH 7.5], 600 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 5mM BME), while collecting fractions over the entire gradient. The fractions were analyzed by Bradford assay and SDS-PAGE and the peak fractions were pooled and dialyzed overnight against 4 L of water at 4°C. The dialyzed histones were then aliquoted, lyophilized and saved.

Chemical Modification of Histones

Recombinant histones produced as described above were chemically modified so that their H3K4 residue was replaced with either a synthetic lysine analog or methyllysine analogs which functionally mimic their natural counterparts. This was done essentially as described by Simon et al (219). Briefly, a double point mutant histone H3 K4C/C110A was expressed and purified as described above. The chemistry to generate these analogs utilized the ability to alkylate cysteines using electrophilic ethylamines to yield aminoethylcysteine, a lysine analog. In addition, alkylation of target cysteines by (2-halo-ethyl) amines would yield the desired methyl-lysine analogs as well. Since the only natural cysteine residue in H3 is C110, this was mutated to an alanine, so that we could then generate lysine analogs at a specific position by introducing mutant cysteines at the desired site and alkylating that site with the appropriate reagent. To achieve this 6 mg of lyophilized H3 K4C/C110A histones were dissolved in 900 μ L of alkylation buffer (1 M HEPES [4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid] [pH 7.8], 4 M guanidine hydrochloride, 10 mМ L-methionine, 10 mМ TCEP [tris(2carboxyethyl)phosphine] and incubated at 37°C for 1 hour. 1 M solutions of 2bromoethylamine and 2-(dimethylamino) ethyl chloride were prepared in alkylation buffer and 50 µL of each of these were added to the dissolved histones. Alkylation reactions were allowed to proceed in the dark at room temperature for 2 hours before renewing the reactions by adding another 50 µL and allowing them to proceed for another 2 hours. Reactions were stopped by adding 50 µL of 14.3 M BME and were dialyzed into water overnight at 4°C. Generation of the desired lysine and dimethyllysine analog-bearing histones was verified by mass spectrometric analysis.

Nucleosome Reconstitution

The lyophilized histones were resuspended in unfolding buffer to a concentration of 2 mg/mL and the unfolding reaction was allowed to proceed by inverting the samples for 2-3 hours at 4°C. The unfolded histones were then combined in equimolar ratios and the final concentration was adjusted to 1 mg/mL with unfolding buffer. This was dialyzed overnight against 4 L of refolding buffer (2M NaCl, 10 mM Tris-HCl [pH 7.5], 1mM EDTA, 5mM BME) at 4°C. The refolded octamers were then concentrated to 1 mL using an Amicon Ultra Ultracel-10K (Millipore) and the concentrated sample was centrifuged at 20,000×*g* for 20 minutes at 4°C. This sample was injected onto a Hi-Prep 16/60 Sephacryl S-200 column (GE Healthcare), equilibrated with refolding buffer, and run at 0.5 mL/min while collecting 2.5 mL fractions. The fractions were analyzed by SDS-PAGE. The fractions containing the histone octamer peak were pooled and concentrated to 1 mL using an Amicon Ultra Ultracel-10K.

Fluorescently labeled 277 bp DNA templates for nucleosome reconstitution were generated using standard PCR techniques with pGEM3z-601 as a template (220). The 601 forward (CGGGATCCTAATGACCAAGGAAAGCA) and 601 reverse (CTCGGAACACTATCCGACTGGCA) primers were used to generate the DNA templates for restriction enzyme accessibility assays and the 601slid forward (GTGATGGACCCTATACGCG) and 601slid reverse (ACTCACTATAGGGCGAATTC) primers were used for the nucleosome sliding assays. These primers generated DNA templates upon which the nucleosome would either be positioned in the middle or the end respectively of the template. A 0.1/0.9 ratio of the fluorescent primers (either 5'-Cy5 or 5'-AlexaFluor 488-N-hydroxysuccinimide ester) to

the non-fluorescent primers was used in the PCR reactions. The PCR product was analyzed on a 2% agarose gel, ethanol precipitated and resuspended in TE.

The appropriate combination of histone octamers and fluorescent DNA templates prepared as described above were combined in a range of ratios into reconstitution reactions. Multiple reactions were set up using a mean ratio of 1:1 between the histories and DNA and varying the amount of histones by a fraction of 0.125 to cover a range of ratios between 0.5:1 to 1.25:1. 100 µL reactions were set up in Slide-A-Lizer Mini Dialysis Units (MWCO = 3,500) (Pierce) with 2M NaCl and 0.5 mg/mL BSA (Bovine Serum Albumin) (New England Biolabs) along with the appropriate amounts of histone octamers and DNA. The reconstitution reactions were then dialyzed over a gradual salt gradient going from high-salt TE buffer (2M NaCl, 10 mM Tris-HCl [pH 8.0], 1mM EDTA, 0.2 mM PMSF] to low-salt TE buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl [pH 8.0], 1 mM EDTA, 0.2 mM PMSF). The dialysis units were placed in a beaker containing 500 mL of highsalt TE buffer and the buffer was pumped out from this beaker at the same rate (1.6 mL/min) as 4 L of low-salt TE buffer was pumped into it over a period of 42 hours. Nucleosomes were analyzed on a 5% non-denaturing acrylamide/bisacrylamide (49:1) 0.2X Tris-Borate-EDTA (TBE) gel. Concentrations of reconstituted nucleosomes were calculated based on the final volumes of the reactions after dialysis.

Restriction Enzyme Accessibility Assay

Accessibility assays were performed essentially as described by Smith and Peterson (221). Nucleosomes containing the regular 601 sequence as the DNA template were generated as described above. They were then subjected to nucleosome digest tests to determine which samples contained nucleosomes that were suitable for restriction enzyme accessibility experiments based on the level of protection of their intrinsic restriction sites. Assays were conducted in triplicate using 50 nM of the selected nucleosomes. Competitive assays contained 25 nM of each species of alternatively labeled nucleosomes. Each 15 µL reactions contained 20 nM Flag-CHD8 in the presence of 1 mM ATP in DNase buffer (20 mM HEPES [pH 8.0]3 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM NaCl, 2 mM DTT, 0.1 mg/mL BSA). Reactions also contained saturating amounts of HhaI restriction enzyme (New England Biolabs). They were incubated at 30°C for the indicated times and were terminated by adding 2X stop solution (10 mM Tris [pH 8.0], 0.6% SDS, 40 mM EDTA, 5% glycerol, 0.1 mg/mL proteinase K) and incubating at 50°C for 20 minutes. Samples were analyzed on a 3% agarose gel and bands were quantified using a Typhoon Trio+ Imager and the ImageQuant TL software (GE Healthcare). Data presented is representative of the average value of each triplicate.

Nucleosome Sliding Assay

Nucleosome sliding assays were performed similar to the restriction enzyme accessibility assays above, without including restriction enzyme. Suitable nucleosomes assembled on 601slid DNA templates were selected for these assays based on the gel analysis of the reconstitutions. Each 15 μ L reaction contained a total of 50 nM of reconstituted nucleosomes, 1 mM ATP and 20 nM Flag-CHD8 in DNase buffer. For competitive sliding assays, 50 nM each of two alternatively labeled nucleosome species were used. Reactions were incubated at 30°C for the indicated times and then terminated by adding 3 μ L of 6X stop solution (30% glycerol, 10 mM Tris [pH 7.8], 1 mM EDTA, 334 μ g/mL HeLa core nucleosomes, 334 μ g/mL salmon sperm DNA [Invitrogen]) and

incubating for a further 15 minutes at 30°C. Samples were then analyzed on a nondenaturing 5% acrylamide/bisacrylamide (49:1) 0.2X TBE gel and fluorescent bands were detected using a Typhoon Trio+ Imager and ImageQuant TL software.

Results

CHD8 Preferentially Remodels Core Nucleosomes over Recombinant Nucleosomes

We began examining the substrate preferences for CHD8 by reconstituting nucleosomes from recombinant wild-type histones. These histones would presumably lack any covalent modifications, since they were expressed in E. coli where there is no known pathway for the post-translational modificiation of histories, and we could thus examine whether CHD8 is capable of remodeling unmodified nucleosomes. Mononucleosomes were reconstituted by incorporating recombinant histone octamers into a DNA template containing the 601 nucleosome positioning sequence with a unique Hhal restriction site located near its dyad axis (220). This restriction site is protected from access by the restriction enzyme when the template is reconstituted into a nucleosome by salt dialysis with histone octamers. We used this feature to carry out restriction enzyme accessibility assays to determine the remodeling activity of CHD8 on recombinant nucleosomes, as was done previously for HeLa core nucleosomes (104). Recombinant nucleosomes were incubated with either no CHD8 or with 10 nM or 20 nM CHD8 in the presence of restriction enzyme. We found that in the presence of CHD8 there was increased cutting of the DNA template as compared to the control reactions The fraction of template that was cut in the presence of CHD8 was (Fig. 3.1).

comparable to but slightly lower than that seen with HeLa core nucleosomes (104). This demonstrates that CHD8 is capable of remodeling unmodified, recombinant nucleosomes, albeit to a slightly lesser degree than modified core nucleosomes.

While this assay confirmed the remodeling activity of CHD8 on recombinant nucleosomes, we cannot quantitatively compare the extent of CHD8 remodeling between core and recombinant nucleosomes. To do this we performed competitive restriction enzyme accessibility assays in which equimolar amounts of core and recombinant nucleosomes were incubated in the same reactions and remodeling on each of these templates was then directly compared. To do this recombinant and core octamers were incorporated into 601 DNA templates that were differentially labeled with the Cy5 and Alexa488 fluorophores respectively. This allows us to distinguish between each of the nucleosomal species on a gel based on the differing fluorescent signals. Equimolar amounts of each of these nucleosomes were then incubated in reactions along with 20 nM CHD8 with excess restriction enzyme and restriction enzyme accessibility assays were performed as before. A time course of remodeling was conducted to determine whether either nucleosomal substrate was preferentially remodeled over the other. We found that, while CHD8 remodeled both species fairly robustly, it did so with a preference for the core nucleosomes (Fig. 3.2). The core nucleosomes were remodeled at both a faster initial rate, which implies that CHD8 has a substrate preference for one or more of the modifications that are present on the core nucleosomes but not on the recombinant species. The following experiments were designed to determine which modifications on which of the histone tails specifies the substrate requirement or preference of CHD8.

CHD8 does not Require the H3-H4 Tails for Remodeling Activity

The restriction enzyme accessibility assays described above allowed us to quantitate the capacity of CHD8 to remodel wild-type recombinant nucleosomes by exposure of the protected restriction site within the nucleosomal DNA template. This is an important result because it allows us to use and manipulate recombinant nucleosomes by introducing various mutations and modifications to examine the substrate preference of CHD8. While the restriction enzyme assay was quantitative, it does not yield any information on the qualitative nature of CHD8-remodeled nucleosomes as pertaining to nucleosome repositioning. Our previous studies on CHD8 remodeling on experimental templates lacking a nucleosome positioning sequence revealed that CHD8 prefers to reposition nucleosomes towards the center of a DNA template as determined by nucleosome sliding assays (104). Thus we employed similar sliding assays to look at the remodeling activity of CHD8 on mutated or modified nucleosomes assembled on 601slid DNA templates where the nucleosome positioning sequence was located at one end of the DNA template. These templates should be targeted by CHD8 in a manner that would reposition these nucleosomes from the DNA ends towards the center of the DNA template.

Wild-type recombinant octamers or octamers with their H3-H4 tails deleted were reconstituted into nucleosomes on the 601slid template. These were then subjected to nucleosome sliding assays to observe whether CHD8 is capable of repositioning nucleosomes lacking H3-H4 tails. As mentioned before, the requirement for histone tails is a key determinant of remodeling activity for several chromatin remodeling enzymes. ISWI and CHD1 require H4 tails for their remodeling activity, while nucleosome remodeling by CHD3/4 does not require the presence of histone tails. We found that CHD8 was able to shift both the wild-type and the H3-H4 tailless nucleosomes away from the DNA ends and towards the center of the DNA template (Fig. 3.3), as seen before with core nucleosomes on unpositioned templates (104). We observed a shift in the fluorescently-labeled nucleosomes towards higher bands on the gel upon remodeling by CHD8. It has been previously observed that centrally positioned nucleosomes migrate slower than end-positioned nucleosomes (104). Since we observe a slower migrating species in Fig. 3.3, we concluded that CHD8 repositions both tailed and H3-H4 tailless nucleosomes towards the center of the DNA template. This may indicate that deletion of H3-H4 tails causes the nucleosomes to reconstitute into just one predominant species upon assembly, while wild-type nucleosomes form a couple of different species. Both remodeling reactions appeared to occur at comparably robust rates, but we cannot make a true comparison between the two from this experiment. We can, however, conclude that CHD8 does not require either the H3 or the H4 tail to catalyze nucleosome remodeling.

In order to directly compare CHD8 remodeling on wild-type and H3-H4 tailless recombinant nucleosomes, competitive nucleosome sliding assays were carried out. These were set up similar to the sliding assays described above, except 50 nM each of Alexa488-labeled wild-type and Cy5-labeled H3-H4 tailless nucleosomes were added to the same reactions. A time course of remodeling was then carried out as described in the presence of 20 nM CHD8 and the simultaneous remodeling of both nucleosome species was examined by detection of the alternately labeled fluorescent bands on the gel. CHD8 would be expected to shift the fluorescent bands corresponding to the preferred substrate at an earlier time point than the less preferred substrate and this way we could determine

whether CHD8 preferred substrates with or without H3-H4 tails. We observed that CHD8 remodeled both tailed and tailless nucleosomes at similar rates (Fig. 3.4). Interestingly, each of these nucleosome species appeared to migrate to slightly different positions on the gel, indicating that they were being repositioned by CHD8 to different locations on the DNA template. Therefore, we concluded that while CHD8 did not exhibit any particular preference for substrates with or without H3-H4 tails, it appeared to shift nucleosomes to different positions based on the presence or absence of these tails. In this respect, CHD8 appears to be more akin to CHD3/4 in its lack of dependence on histone tails for remodeling activity, however it does seem to exhibit unique specificity for repositioning nucleosomes based on the presence of the H3-H4 tails.

CHD8 Preferentially Remodels H3K4 Methylated Nucleosomes

The chromodomains of CHD8 have been implicated in binding dimethylated H3K4 marks on chromatin (100). In order to examine whether this binding determines the substrate specificity of the remodeling activity of CHD8, synthetically modified nucleosomes were generated to contain either unmodified or H3K4 dimethylated lysine analogs replacing their natural H3K4 residues. These nucleosomes were also assembled on to 601slid DNA templates and were utilized in competitive nucleosome sliding assays as described above. 20 nM each of the control H3K4C/C110A unmodified lysine analog-bearing nucleosomes and the corresponding dimethylated nucleosomes were added together in the same sliding reactions. We observed that in a time course of simultaneous remodeling by CHD8 of the unmodified and H3K4 methylated nucleosomes, the methylated substrate was remodeled earlier than the unmodified control (Fig. 3.5). This indicates that CHD8 preferentially remodels nucleosomes that are dimethylated at H3K4,

suggesting that the recognition of this mark by its chromodomains may influence its remodeling activity.

Discussion

The experiments described above were intended to elucidate the remodeling activity of CHD8 at several different levels. We first tried to address the basic substrate requirements for remodeling by CHD8. Does CHD8 require histone tails for remodeling nucleosomes? What, if any, are the required epitopes for efficient nucleosomal remodeling by CHD8? Next, we attempted to observe the effects of histone mutations and modifications on the substrate specificity of CHD8 remodeling by examining the differences between the various resultant remodeled nucleosome species. Lastly, we address the preference of CHD8 for certain nucleosomal substrates, by examining whether it preferentially remodels substrates bearing specific modifications.

Remodeling by CHD8: Substrate Requirements

The histone N-terminal tails extend well beyond the globular histone core and could serve as important points of contact with both the histone proteins of adjacent nucleosomes as well as non-histone proteins like chromatin remodeling enzymes. Internucleosomal contacts mediated by histone tails are important for the stabilization of higher order chromatin structure and the contacts of nucleosomes with chromatin remodelers via these tails are critical for maintenance and regulation of chromatin structure as well (222, 223). Thus it is not surprising that the deletion of histone tails has

been shown to affect the nucleosome remodeling activity of a number of ATP-dependent chromatin remodelers. We therefore examined the effect of histone tail deletions on CHD8 remodeling activity.

The experimental results from Fig. 3.1 and Fig. 3.3 show the basic requirements of CHD8 for remodeling nucleosomes. In Fig. 3.1 we see that CHD8 can remodel unmodified recombinant nucleosomes, indicating that histone modifications of any kind are not a necessity for CHD8 remodeling and that these recombinant nucleosomes can be used as a suitable substrate upon which to study the remodeling activity of CHD8. Fig. 3.3 shows that CHD8 can also remodel nucleosomes with their H3-H4 tails deleted. Since histone tails are convenient points of contact between chromatin remodeling enzymes and nucleosomes, several chromatin remodeling enzymes show very stringent requirements for specific histone tails in the course of catalysis. RSC and SWI/SNF appear to require all four of the histone tails for efficient remodeling. Genetic deletion of the H2A and H2B tails eliminates optimal chromatin remodeling and transcriptional regulation of target genes by SWI/SNF (206, 207). In addition deletion of the all four histone tails or even of the H3 tail alone in vitro adversely affects remodeling by RSC and SWI/SNF (208, 214). Thus the SWI/SNF family remodelers appear to utilize the histone tails to remodel nucleosomes. ISWI and CHD1 have been shown to require the H4 tails for remodeling (212, 213, 215), while CHD3/4 do not require the presence of histone tails (210, 211). Our observation that CHD8 does not require the presence of histone tails emphasizes the similarities between the CHD3-5 and CHD6-9 subfamilies in the context of their requirements for remodeling activity. This indicates that CHD8, like
CHD3/4, probably remodels nucleosomes by making contacts with the globular histone core bodies rather than their tails in the course of catalysis.

The similarity in mechanism of chromatin remodeling may also extend to the functional role of these proteins, since CHD8, like CHD3-5 has been implicated in transcriptional repression at select loci. However, the CHD8 has also been shown to play a role in transcriptional activation in several instances. Therefore, the mechanism of nucleosome remodeling is unlikely to be the sole determinant of the functional role of these enzymes. Their association with other factors, as well as their spatial and temporal regulation, is likely to be important in modulating their functional role at different target genes and in various cellular systems. The slightly lower values for the fraction of DNA template cut by restriction enzyme due to remodeling by CHD8 for the recombinant nucleosomes compared to core nucleosomes (Fig. 3.1) is indicative of a possible enhancement of its activity due to one or more of the modifications present in the core nucleosomes. This possibility was investigated in further experiments and is an attractive model for determining the identity of the chromatin sites which CHD8 would remodel in vivo. The capability of chromatin remodeling enzymes to target chromatin bearing particular histone modifications is a well-established paradigm. While the deletion of histone tails is not a naturally relevant physiological phenomenon, it does give us the opportunity to restrict the list of possible preferred modifications to particular histone tails. It also helps us to understand the mechanism by which CHD8 may operate even at the cellular level, using contacts with the histone core bodies to leverage nucleosomal repositioning, as suggested by the results in Fig. 3.3. These contacts would be distinct from those allowing other histone tail-dependent chromatin remodelers like ISWI,

SWI/SNF or CHD1 to remodel nucleosomes, permitting multiple such remodelers to be acting on nucleosomes at the same time. This mode of contact of CHD8 with its substrate would also be conducive to allowing histone modifying enzymes which predominantly associate with the histone tails to interact with the same nucleosome at the same time. Given the examples presented in Chapter IV of associations between CHD8 and other chromatin remodeling factors, this would be a useful feature of its remodeling activity, allowing simultaneous modification of the histone tails and nucleosome mobilization via the histone core of the same nucleosome. Thus this distinct mechanism of CHD8 remodeling may also allow it to cooperate with other remodeling factors, by contacting different parts of the nucleosome in the course of their action.

Remodeling by CHD8: Substrate Specificity

The second aspect of nucleosome remodeling by CHD8 that we studied was how the specificity of CHD8 towards its substrate influenced the generation of remodeled products by its catalytic activity. This pertains to the differential mobilization by CHD8 of nucleosomes that have been variously modified. We examined this effect in Fig. 3.4, when we compared the remodeling of nucleosomes lacking H3-H4 tails to that of intact nucleosomes in a competitive sliding assay. This assay allowed us to look at the generated products of CHD8 remodeling activity and detect the presence of different species via their differential migration on a non-denaturing gel. We found that indeed CHD8 did remodel tailless nucleosomes differently from intact ones, as demonstrated by the detection of distinct fluorescent bands for each of the remodeled species. The nonoverlapping products of CHD8 remodeling on these distinct nucleosome forms showed that in the absence of H3-H4 tails CHD8 repositions nucleosomes to slightly different positions on a gel than in the presence of them. It did, however, mobilize both nucleosomal species towards the center of the DNA template as evidenced by the net upward shift of the bands containing both fluorescent labels, indicating the generation of slower migrating, more centrally positioned nucleosomes. This was verified by running a control centrally-positioned nucleosome alongside the remodeled ones, to compare their migration through the gel. Upon close examination of the bands, it appears that CHD8 remodeling on the intact nucleosomes yielded a single centrally positioned product along with the original unremodeled, end-positioned substrate. Remodeling of the tailless nucleosomes, however, generated two distinct product species, both shifted towards the center compared to the substrate nucleosomes. Thus while CHD8 can adequately contact and mobilize nucleosomes lacking tails by interacting with the globular core, it might use the tails to stabilize remodeled products into a single centrally positioned form.

The directionality of CHD8 remodeling is consistent with that of both CHD1 and CHD3, which have also been shown to reposition nucleosomes towards the center of a DNA template (224). Whether this directionality of remodeling has any physiological relevance remains to be seen, but given the fact that CHD8 is able to remodel a nucleosome positioned at one end of a DNA template raises the possibility that it does not require interaction with DNA segments on both sides of the nucleosome to catalyze remodeling. This distinguishes it from ISWI which has been predicted to remodel substrates with DNA segments on either side of a central nucleosome, since ISWI cannot remodel end-positioned nucleosomal templates (211). Thus remodeling by ISWI was predicted to involve two molecules of ISWI interacting with one central nucleosome. In this case then, it would appear that monomeric CHD8 would be capable of remodeling

nucleosomes. The ability of CHD8 to reposition nucleosomes to specific positions is evidence that chromatin remodelers like CHD8 are complex organizers of chromatin and are capable of determining the genomic distribution of nucleosomes by their action. The nucleosome-remodeler interactions are likely determinants of these positions based on the binding affinity of these interactions. One can imagine that nucleosome positioning is the net result of transient interactions of the remodeler with the nucleosome, allowing it to associate and mobilize the nucleosome to certain thermodynamically favored positions, and then disassociate at these preferred sites. For CHD8, it appears that the histone tails foster some such interactions which alter the dynamics of nucleosome-remodeler interactions so that the remodeling reaction yields nucleosomes positioned at different positions when the tails are eliminated. Thus while contacts with the histone core are sufficient for remodeling by CHD8, histone tail contacts may facilitate the process by defining the association-dissociation dynamics of the substrate and the enzyme so as to determine the positioning of end products.

Remodeling by CHD8: Substrate Preference

The last aspect of chromatin remodeling by CHD8 that we investigated was the preference of CHD8 for substrates containing specific features. In this case we looked at histone methylation as a possible preferred modification. The connection between ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling enzymes and histone methylation has been well established. This association can occur at different levels. Histone methylation could serve as a recognition mark for the recruitment of ATP-dependent remodelers. Alternatively HMTs could directly associate with nucleosome remodelers bringing together these two chromatin–related activities within the same complex. Both of these

scenarios are revisited in Chapter IV. Finally, the interplay between these two processes could exist at the level of modulation of chromatin remodeling activity, where histone methylation could affect the activity of nucleosome remodelers, or vice versa, ATPdependent repositioning of nucleosomes could modulate histone methylation.

Based on the result in Fig. 3.2, where we saw that core nucleosomes were remodeled at a faster initial rate and to a greater final extent by competitive restriction enzyme accessibility assays, we concluded that CHD8 preferentially remodeled core nucleosomes over recombinant ones. Thus the presence of certain histone modifications appears to enhance the enzyme-substrate interactions so that remodeling proceeds with greater efficiency. The higher initial rate of modification could be due to a specifically remodeled nucleosome species being preferentially remodeled by CHD8 ahead of an unmodified substrate. The greater final extent of remodeling is also indicative of a particular substrate bearing a preferred modification being remodeled in sustained manner over the period of the reaction at the expense of unmodified substrates. We initially attempted to identify potential preferred modifications by eliminating histone tails to determine which ones were required for remodeling, which would subsequently help us narrow down the range of candidate modifications to the ones on the required tails. However the result from Fig. 3.3 and 3.4 revealed that CHD8 did not require histone tails for its remodeling activity. Thus while a particular tail or its modified residues may not be required for CHD8 remodeling, one or more histone modifications could enhance its activity. Indeed, it has been observed that H3K14 acetylation is responsible for enhanced remodeling by RSC (215). We attempted to examine whether CHD8 similarly preferred any particular histone modification for catalysis.

We took a candidate approach towards exploring histone modifications that could be preferred by CHD8 in the course of its remodeling activity. Histone methyl marks have been shown to be critical for the recruitment and activity of several other ATPdependent chromatin remodelers, which is discussed further in Chapter IV. Characteristic domains found in many nucleosome remodelers, like PHD and chromodomains have been shown to recognize and bind histone methylation in the course of action of these remodeling enzymes. The chromodomains of CHD8, like those of CHD1, have been reported to bind to dimethylated H3K4 (100). This makes this histone mark a promising candidate for the substrate preference of CHD8 remodeling activity.

We examined this possibility in Fig. 3.5, where synthetic analogs of nucleosomes containing unmodified or dimethylated H3K4 were used in competitive sliding assays. We found that the H3K4 dimethylated nucleosomes were preferentially remodeled by CHD8. Given the evidence of CHD8 binding to this histone mark through its chromodomains, this effect on remodeling is not unexpected. Indeed the enhanced activity of RSC due to H3K14 acetylation, was found to be due to the increased binding of RSC to the substrate through its bromodomains (38, 215). A similar mechanism could be responsible for the preference that CHD8 shows for remodeling nucleosomes bearing the dimethyl-H3K4 mark. However, this binding-based mechanism is not the only way chromatin remodelers may show substrate preference. Remodeling by ISWI and CHD1 were adversely affected by H3K14 acetylation, but not due to their binding properties to this mark, rather by reducing the rate of ATP turnover. Thus it is possible that other histone modifications could also effect CHD8 remodeling by either of these mechanisms. However, H3K4 dimethylation does provide an attractive target modification which,

through recognition by the chromodomains of CHD8, could be involved in both the recruitment and enhancement of chromatin remodeling activity of CHD8. Indeed, methylation of H3K4 has been shown to be required for AR binding to target enhancers in LNCaP cells (225) and it is tempting to speculate that this recruitment is mediated by the recognition and remodeling of H3K4-methylated nucleosomes by CHD8, which then facilitates AR binding to these sites. Connections between CHD8 and this histone modification are further explored in Chapter IV.

While the effect of histone acetylation on the chromatin remodeling activities of a number of nucleosome remodelers has been well studied (215-217), histone methylation has not been previously known to exert such an influence on nucleosome remodeling. Here, we show that CHD8 preferentially remodels H3K4 dimethylated nucleosomes. The possibility exists that mono- and trimethylation of this mark may also influence CHD8 remodeling. Also, this modification could affect remodeling by other CHD family remodelers which are known to have binding specificity for this mark. These possibilities need to be verified by further experiments. The work described here, however, lays the foundation for understanding the intricacies of the chromatin remodeling activity of CHD8 and consequently of the CHD6-9 subfamily.



Figure 3.1: Comparable chromatin remodeling of core and recombinant nucleosomes by CHD8. Recombinantly produced histone octamers were incorporated into fluorescently labeled DNA templates to form mononucleosomes. 50 nM of these nucleosomes were assayed for restriction enzyme accessibility by incubating with the indicated concentrations of CHD8 along with ATP and the HhaI restriction enzyme for 30 minutes at 30 °C. Reactions were done in triplicate and were analyzed by running on an agarose gel. Gels were imaged on a Typhoon Trio+ Imager and the indicated bands were quantified using the ImageQuant TL software. The average fraction cut was calculated from this and is plotted in the panel to the right with an image of samples from the gel above it. The results from the restriction enzyme accessibility assays performed with core mononucleosomes by Thompson et al.(104) is included in the left panel for comparison.



Figure 3.2: Preferential remodeling of core nucleosomes over recombinant nucleosomes by CHD8. Competitive restriction enzymes accessibility assays were set up using equimolar amounts (25 nM) of alternately labeled core (Alexa488) or recombinant (Cy5) nucleosomes. These mixes were incubated with 20 nM CHD8 in the presence of HhaI restriction enzyme for the indicated time. The fraction of DNA template cut due to nucleosome remodeling at each time point for each nucleosomal substrate was measured and plotted.



Figure 3.3: Remodeling Activity of CHD8 on Nucleosomes lacking H3-H4 Tails. Nucleosome sliding assays were conducted using either wild-type or H3-H4 tailless histone octamers incorporated into a fluorescent DNA template designed so that the nucleosomes are positioned at one end of the template. 50 nM of each of these nucleosomes was incubated along with 20 nM CHD8 for the indicated time. Reactions were subjected to electrophoresis on a non-denaturing gel and the resultant bands of the remodeled products were analyzed using fluorescence imaging.



Figure 3.4: Differential Remodeling of Wild-Type and H3-H4 Tailless Nucleosomes by CHD8. Competitive nucleosome sliding assays were conducted by incubating equimolar amounts (50 nM each) of alternately labeled wild-type (fluorescein) and H3-H4 tailless (Cy5) nucleosomes for the indicated time points with 20 nM CHD8. Remodeled products were analyzed on a non-denaturing gel by fluorescence imaging. Differentially generated products of the remodeling reaction were analyzed by merging the two fluorescent signals.



Figure 3.5: Preferential Remodeling of H3K4-Dimethylated Nucleosomes by CHD8. H3K4C/C110A double mutant histones were expressed and were then chemically modified to give synthetic analogs that mimic either an unmodified lysine or a dimethylated lysine at the H3K4 position. These chemically modified histones were incorporated into octamers and then reconstituted into nucleosomes on a DNA template with a nucleosome positioning sequence located at one end. These were then included in competitive sliding assays as in Fig. 3.4, using 20 nM of each nucleosomal substrate and 10 nM of CHD8. Remodeled products were analyzed on a non-denaturing gel by fluorescence imaging.

CHAPTER IV

CHD8 and the MLL1-WAR Complex

Introduction

ATP-dependent Chromatin Remodeling Complexes

As discussed in Chapter I, control of DNA accessibility is an important regulatory point for several cellular processes, like replication, repair and transcription. Due to the packaging of DNA into chromatin, eukaryotic cells have evolved different mechanisms to regulate chromatin structure. These include DNA methylation, covalent modification of histones and ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling which are catalyzed by different classes of enzymes. ATP-dependent remodeling enzymes utilize the energy from ATPhydrolysis to modulate nucleosome structure and positioning. The catalytic ATPase subunit is usually present within large, multiprotein complexes containing several other components. SWI/SNF was originally identified as an ~11 subunit complex in yeast (226). RSC is another SWI/SNF family remodeling complex found in yeast and has 15 subunits (227). These complexes are very large and can be up to 2 MDa in size. On the other hand, ISWI family ATPase-containing complexes like ACF (ATP-utilizing Chromatin Factor), NURF (Nucleosome Remodeling Factor) and CHRAC (Chromatin Accessibility Complex) are much smaller; only about 300-800 kDa in size containing only 2 to 4 subunits (226). CHD family proteins have been reported to function as monomers (CHD1) as well as in complexes (CHD3-4/Mi-2) such as NURD (228, 229). INO80 and SWR1 are also large multiprotein complexes consisting of 15 and 14 subunits respectively (226).

The non-ATPase subunits of ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling complexes are involved in the direct regulation of the nucleosome remodeling activities of the ATPases (230). The BAF155, BAF170 and INI1/SNF5 subunits form a core functional complex along with BRM and BRG1 and stimulate the nucleosome remodeling activities of human SWI/SNF complexes (231, 232). As mentioned in Chapter II, the BAF57 subunit of SWI/SNF is responsible for targeting its remodeling activity in AR-mediated transcriptional regulation (140). The ACF1 subunit found in ISWI-containing ACF and CHRAC complexes and the NURF301 subunit of the NURF complex, have been shown to enhance nucleosome remodeling by ISWI and to affect the specific targeting of these complexes (233-236). While the monomeric ISWI ATPase subunit by itself requires the presence of all four histone tails in order to efficiently remodel nucleosomes, in the presence of ACF1 only the H4 tail is required for its remodeling activity on nucleosomes (212). Both the ACF1 and NURF301 subunits appear to contribute to ISWI remodeling by providing additional points of contact with the nucleosome through their PHD fingers (32, 58). Thus the protein subunits of chromatin remodeling complexes can contribute to the activity of their ATPase components by stimulating the efficiency of their nucleosome remodeling activity, targeting them to specific chromatin sites, altering their substrate requirements or enhancing their binding to nucleosomes.

Based on the subunit composition of ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling complexes, their cellular functions can be modulated in many different ways. The RSC and SWI/SNF complexes in yeast are differentiated by the presence of unique subunits within each of these complexes that distinguish them apart both functionally and compositionally. Yeast RSC complexes contain an Sth1 catalytic subunit and additional Rsc1-Rsc15 subunits, while SWI/SNF contains a SWI2/SNF2 ATPase as well as the additional subunits, Swi1 -Swi11. RSC and SWI/SNF are found to regulate entirely different subsets of genes due to the specificity imparted to them by their unique subunits (230). Furthermore, RSC complexes also exist in two functionally distinct forms based upon the mutually exclusive presence of either of the subunits Rsc1 or Rsc2 within the complex (237). This divergence in SWI/SNF remodeling complexes is conserved from yeast to higher eukaryotes as well. Just as in yeast, there are two compositionally diverse SWI/SNF complexes in both Drosophila and mammals. These are the RSC-homologous dBAP/BAF complex, which is characterized by the presence of the dOSA/BAF250 subunits, and dPBAP/PBAF, which contains unique dPolybromo/BAF180 subunits and is homologous to yeast SWI/SNF. Furthermore, in humans, BAF complexes may contain either one of the two SWI/SNF-homologous catalytic units, hBRM or BRG1, whereas PBAF complexes only contain BRG1 as their catalytic component. These two functionally distinct human SWI/SNF complexes have been shown to associate with different promoters and regulate their expression by interacting with different transcription factors (238, 239). BRG1 interacts with Zn-finger proteins like GATA1 through a unique N-terminal domain not present in BRM, while BRM interacts with ankyrin-repeat proteins which are critical components of the Notch signaling pathway

(239). There is also considerable tissue-specific variation in the subunit composition of human SWI/SNF, where different factors like BRCA1 and components of the HDAC complex Sin3 differentially associate with the remodeling components (227). From these instances we see that the activity of ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling enzymes is significantly regulated by their association with different subunits found within their naturally occurring complexes.

Histone Modifications and Chromatin Remodeling

ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling complexes often including various chromatin modifying enzymes like histone acetylases, deacetylases, methyltransferases and demethylases. The coordination of these two different kinds of chromatin remodeling events is necessary for the establishment of the appropriate chromatin state. This is achieved by functional interactions between these two classes of chromatin remodeling factors within complexes. Histone modifications can alter chromatin structure either directly by sterically altering the chromatin structure, or indirectly by recruiting trans-acting factors like chromatin remodeling enzymes (240). These transacting factors often have specialized domains which are capable of recognizing and binding specific histone modifications. Some of the characteristic domains involved in recognition of histone modifications that are found in ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling enzymes have been discussed in Chapter I.

The association of histone modifying and chromatin remodeling enzymes is demonstrated in the NURD complex which contains the Mi-2 ATPase subunit as well as the deacetylases HDAC1 and HDAC2 and is involved in transcriptional repression. CHD1 has been reported to associate with the SAGA complex, which contains Gcn5mediated HAT activity as well as the deubiquitylation activity of its Ubp8 subunit (241). Components of the repressive mSin3 HDAC complex were found to co-purify with both varieties of human SWI/SNF complexes, those containing hBRM as well as those with BRG1, which usually regulate the activation of transcription (242). Further work revealed that the HMTase PRMT5 was also found in a complex containing mSin3 and BRG1 that was involved in transcriptional repression of target genes (243). Since BRM and BRG1 are usually involved in transcriptional activation, these examples reveal that the association of different histone modifying activities with chromatin remodelers is capable of modulating the function of these complexes from transcriptional activation to repression and vice versa.

The MLL Methyltransferase Complex

Histone methylation can be either an activating or repressive chromatin mark for transcription, depending on the specific residue being methylated (244). Di- and trimethylation of H3K4 is associated with transcriptional activation, while H3K9 and H3K27 methylation is implicated in repression. All of the identified HMTases involved in the methylation of histone tails contain the conserved catalytic SET (Su(var), Enhancer of Zeste, Trithorax) domain. In humans, four SET domain-containing proteins have been identified as H3K4 HMTases: Set1A, Set1B and MLL1-4 (245). MLL1, which is a homolog of the *Drosophila* protein Trithorax, is involved in certain oncogenic chromosomal translocations found in a number of acute lymphoid and myeloid leukemias (246). These chromosomal rearrangements result in the fusion of the genomic sequence encoding the N-terminus of the MLL1 protein with the C-terminal encoding sequences of

other translocation partners, generating oncogenic fusion proteins (247). The MLL1 protein contains a central PHD domain, which along with the characteristic SET domain at its C-terminus, is homologous to Trithorax. The N-terminal AT-hook and DNA methyltransferase (DNMT) homology regions are retained in MLL1 rearrangements and are thought to bind to specific chromosomal regions (247). Full-length MLL1 is comprised of heterodimers of MLL-N (including the AT-hooks, DNMT domain and PHDs) and MLL-C (containing the SET domain). MLL-N by itself appears to be repressive in function due to interactions with Pc group repressors and the recruitment of HDACs by its DNMT region (248). However, heterodimerization with MLL-C results in transcriptional activation by the complex as evidenced by its interactions with a coactivator, CREB-binding protein (CBP), and its recruitment of HATs and SWI/SNF, chromatin remodeling complexes (249, 250). Finally, the SET domain of MLL-C has been shown to have intrinsic HMTase activity specific for H3K4, a mark of active chromatin (250, 251). Therefore MLL1 acts as a platform for bringing together various chromatin remodeling activities into a complex with alternative transcriptional functions, depending on its dimerization status.

A common element to the hSet1 and MLL family members is a core complex comprised of WDR5 (WD-40 Repeat protein), Ash2L (Absent Small or Homeotic-like) and RbBP5 (Retinoblastoma Binding Protein) (252-256). This core complex, hereafter referred to as WAR, was found to be required for optimal HMTase activity of MLL1, both *in vivo* and *in vitro* (252, 257, 258). The WAR complex also appears to associate independent of MLL1, providing a structural platform for association with other H3K4 HMTases of the hSet1/MLL families (257). While there has been considerable debate

about the binding specificity of WAR with histones, structural studies have shown that WDR5 binds the H3 tail, raising the possibility that WAR may be involved in targeting MLL1 activity to catalyze H3K4 methylation (259, 260). More recent studies have suggested that WDR5 binds MLL through the same binding pocket with which it interacts with H3 and that this interaction is essential for complex formation and consequently for catalytic activity (261-263). Additionally, the WAR complex by itself has been recently shown to have H3K4-specific HMTase activity, and its association with MLL1 results in greatly enhanced methylation of H3K4 (264). All these examples lead to the conclusion that WAR is essential for targeting MLL1 to H3K4 sites, where it plays an important role in catalysis of H3K4 methylation by MLL1.

Hox Gene Regulation by the MLL-WAR Complex

In vertebrates, the homeobox (Hox) gene clusters encode a group transcription factors that play a highly conserved role in the control of cell fate during embryonic development (88, 265). Their *Drosophila* counterparts are known to specify body segment identity by regulating the transcription of a number of downstream target genes (87). Mutations or dysregulation of the Hox genes result in homeotic transformations involving either duplication or loss of body structures (266). Therefore, it is very important for the transcription of these genes to be precisely regulated so that specific combinations of Hox transcription factors are expressed in a spatially and temporally coordinated manner.

The Hox gene clusters are organized as discrete groups named HoxA, HoxB, HoxC etc. The Hox genes towards the 3' end of these clusters tend to be expressed in tissues towards the anterior end of the developing embryo earlier on in development, while the genes located progressively towards the 5' end of the clusters are expressed subsequently in the posterior tissues (267). Treatment with *all trans* retinoic acid (ATRA) is known to induce such a transcriptional cascade of Hox gene expression from the 3' to the 5' end of each cluster. Retinoic Acid Response Elements (RARE) have been identified near the 3' end genes of each cluster, like HoxA1 and HoxB1, and removal of these RAREs or ATRA depletion results in delayed Hox gene activation (268). Once established, the expression pattern of these Hox genes has to be faithfully maintained for the duration of their function in development.

This is achieved by the opposing but coordinated action of the Trithorax group (TrxG) of activators and the Polycomb group (PcG) of repressor proteins. Both these groups of transcriptional regulators contain both HMTase activity and proteins that bind histone lysine methylation marks. PcG mutations are known to result in ectopic expression of the Hox genes giving rise to posterior homeotic transformations (266). Polycomb Repressive Complex 2 (PRC2) maintains the long-term repression of specific Hox genes by depositing repressive H3K27 methyl marks (269). PRC1, which gets recruited by methylated H3K27, inhibits chromatin remodeling and promotes chromatin condensation into a transcriptionally repressive form (270). Conversely, TrxG proteins activate Hox genes by regulating the methylation of H3K4, which is generally associated with active transcription. Trx genes were identified in screens for extragenic suppressors of the homeotic phenotype displayed by PcG mutations (271). Thus the TrxG and PcG proteins counteract one another by regulating histone methylation of alternative sites.

MLL1 is one such TrxG activator known to methylate H3K4 at target Hox genes and positively regulate their transcription (251, 272). Knockout studies in mice have shown that Hox gene expression patterns are appropriately initiated but not maintained during development in the absence of MLL1 (272). While the deletion of MLL1 (MLL^{-/-}) is embryonic lethal, mice expressing MLL1 with a deleted SET domain $(MLL\Delta SET)$ were both viable and fertile, showing that functions of MLL1 outside those of its SET domain are necessary for embryonic development (273). However, Hox gene expression levels were found to be lower in MLLASET mice when compared to wild type mice, showing that methylation of H3K4 by MLL1 is important in Hox gene expression (274). Mouse embryo fibroblasts (MEFs) derived from MLL^{-/-} mice were found to have specifically downregulated expression levels of the 5' genes of the HoxA and HoxC clusters (275). In addition, ChIP analyses have shown that MLL1 localizes to broad transcriptionally active regions of the HoxA cluster, particularly at the late 5' genes HoxA9-HoxA13, and also to the promoter of the HoxC8 gene (251, 276). Thus MLL1 plays a critical role in the regulation of Hox gene expression.

Given the functional role of the WAR complex in the regulation of HMTase activity of MLL1, as discussed above, one would expect WAR to also be involved in Hox gene regulation. Indeed, when each of the components of WAR was knocked down individually using siRNAs, the expression levels of the well-characterized MLL1 target genes HoxA9 and HoxC8 were reduced (257). Methylation levels of H3K4 were also reduced upon knockdown of each WAR component at both of these loci, highlighting the importance of WAR in MLL1-mediated methylation (245, 257). The recruitment of MLL1 to these target genes was not affected by knocking down WAR components,

showing that the involvement of WAR in Hox gene regulation is due to its regulation of the HMTase activity of MLL1 (245, 257). Other studies have also highlighted the role of individual components of WAR, like WDR5 (252) and Ash2L (258), in the regulation of H3K4 methylation, and subsequently expression, of MLL1 targeted Hox genes. Thus the WAR complex acts in conjunction with MLL1 in regulating Hox gene expression via H3K4 methylation.

CHD8 and WAR

As discussed above, most ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling enzymes are found in large molecular weight multiprotein complexes. In order to examine whether CHD8 is also present in such a complex a partial purification of CHD8 from HeLa cell nuclear extract was performed in a previous study from our group (104). The analysis of the purification revealed that CHD8 was a component of a complex of about 900 kDa. Since Chd8 itself is only about 290 kDa in size, this result suggests that CHD8 associates with other proteins in a higher molecular weight complex. Affinity purification of CHD8 followed by mass spectrometry of the predominant CHD8-associated polypeptides identified a number of chromatin-related proteins. These included components of the WAR and CoREST chromatin modifying complexes and of the SWI/SNF and NURD remodeling complexes among others. Due to the previous identification of CHD8 as a component of an MLL HMTase complex (256), the association of CHD8 with components of the WAR complex was further examined. CHD8 co-purified with WDR5, Ash2L and Rbbp5, but not with MLL1 (104), indicating that CHD8 may associate with WAR in an MLL-independent manner. Indeed, WAR has been reported to form a subcomplex independent of MLL (257, 258). WDR5 has been reported as a component

of ATAC and MOF HAT complexes (277-279). The WAR complex has also been shown to associate with nuclear receptor coregulator interacting factor (NIF-1) and enhance transcriptional activation of nuclear receptor responsive genes (280). Thus to verify an association between WAR and CHD8, coimmunoprecipitation experiments were performed in HEK293 cells transfected with Flag-WDR5. Immunoprecipitation of cellular extracts followed by Western blot analysis revealed that WDR5 interacts with endogenous CHD8. This interaction was verified using coimmunoprecipitation of recombinant GST-WDR5 and CHD8 proteins. Thus we have evidence of a direct interaction between both endogenous and recombinant CHD8 and WDR5.

Hypothesis and Summary of Results

Given the evidence of interaction between WDR5 and CHD8, the examples of WAR associating with factors other than MLL, and the propensity of ATP-dependent chromatin remodelers to form complexes, we hypothesized that CHD8 and WAR could form a discrete complex, either with or without MLL1. To show this, co-infection experiments were done using baculovirus to express the different component of WAR, as well as CHD8 and MLL1, in insect cells. Complexes were purified utilizing epitope tags on either CHD8 or WDR5 and analyzed by Western blot with antibodies specific for each complex component. It was seen that CHD8 forms a complex with WAR, both with and without MLL1, indicating that CHD8 can form a complex with WAR independent of MLL1. Also, loss of any one component of the CHD8-WAR-MLL1 complex did not preclude complex formation by the other components, showing that CHD8-WAR-MLL1 complex did not preclude formation is not dependent on any one component. The pairwise binding of each component of the complex with CHD8 was then examined. This was done by

coexpressing each individual component in insect cells along with Flag-CHD8 and performing co-immunoprecipitations using anti-Flag antibodies. It was seen that CHD8 interacted directly with each component of MLL1-WAR. This, along with the previous co-infection experiments emphasizes the fact that there are extensive contacts within the CHD8-WAR-MLL1 complex holding it together. We then purified extracts from coinfected insect cells by size exclusion chromatography to see whether CHD8 co-elutes with WAR and MLL1. We found that CHD8 co-eluted in the same fractions as components of WAR, as well as MLL1, indicating their presence in the same complexes. Finally, we tested the effect of the association of CHD8 with these complexes on its chromatin remodeling activity. We found that association with WAR or with MLL1-WAR had no effect on CHD8 remodeling activity on core nucleosomes. In summary, we characterize distinct complexes of CHD8 with WAR alone and with WAR-MLL1, define the nature of the interactions within these complexes and the examine effect on remodeling of these complexes.

Materials and Methods

Cell Culture and Reagents

SF9 cells were cultured at 24°C in 1X Grace's Insect medium (Invitrogen) containing an additional 10% fetal bovine serum and 1X penicillin-streptomycinglutamine. CHD8 rabbit polyclonal antibodies were previously described (104). The anti-Flag M2 (F3165) antibody and rabbit normal IgG immunoglobulin (I8140) were purchased from Sigma. The anti-RbBP5 (A300-109A) anti-Ash2L (A300-489A) and anti-MLL1 (A300-086A) antibodies were purchased from Bethyl. The anti-WDR5 (22512-100) antibody was purchased from Abcam. .All oligonucleotides were synthesized by Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, IA).

Production of Recombinant Proteins and Protein interaction Studies

The Bac-N-Blue Baculovirus Expression System (Invitrogen) was used to prepare recombinant baculovirus containing MLL-C, WDR5, Ash2L, and RbBP5. The WDR5 construct was a kind gift of Y. Dou. MLL-C, Ash2L and RbBP5 constructs were the generous gift of J. F. Couture. The Flag-tagged CHD8 baculovirus used was previously described (104). For protein interaction studies, co-infection experiments were performed utilizing these recombinant baculoviruses. SF9 cells (5×10^6) were infected with the indicated viruses and incubated at 24°C for 3 days before harvesting. Cells were collected by centrifugation at $500 \times g$ for 2 minutes at room temperature. Cell pellets were washed once with cold PBS and resuspended in 500 µl of IP lysis buffer (0.2 mM EDTA, 1% NP-40, 10% glycerol, 0.2 mM PMSF, 20 mM Tris-HCl [pH 7.9]) with 150 mM KCl. Lysates were centrifuged at 20,800×g for 15 minutes at 4°C. Cleared lysates were then incubated overnight at 4°C with 20 µl of anti-Flag M2 agarose beads (Sigma). Beads were washed 3 times with IP lysis buffer prior to elution with 40 µl of 2X SDS loading dye. Samples were subjected to Western blot analysis using the indicated antibodies.

For chromatin remodeling assays, recombinant Flag-CHD8 alone or Flag-CHD8 in complex with WAR or MLL1-WAR was prepared by infecting 1×10^8 SF9 cells with the appropriate recombinant baculoviruses. Cells were harvested 3 days post-infection, washed with PBS, and suspended in IP lysis buffer with 150 mM KCl, 1 µg/ml aprotinin,

1 µg/ml leupeptin, and 1 µg/ml pepstatin. The lysates were centrifuged at $20,800 \times g$ for 15 minutes at 4°C. Cleared lysates were incubated with 80 µl anti-Flag M2 conjugated agarose beads overnight at 4°C with rotation. Flag-IPs were washed with 10 column volumes of each of the following buffers: IP lysis buffer with 150 mM KCl, IP lysis buffer with 350 mM KCl, and IP lysis buffer with 150 mM KCl. Flag-IPs were eluted in buffer A (20 mM Tris-HCl [pH 7.9], 0.2 mM EDTA, 10% glycerol, 0.2 mM PMSF) containing 500 µg/ml Flag peptide (Sigma), 150 mM KCl, 1 µg/ml aprotinin, 1 µg/ml leupeptin, and 1 µg/ml pepstatin.

Fractionation of Complexes by Size Exclusion Chromatography

SF9 cells were co-infected with combinations of baculovirus to co-express either the core components of the WAR complex, with Flag-CHD8 and WAR, or with Flag-CHD8, MLL-C and WAR, as described above. Cells were lysed in IP lysis buffer with 150 mM KCl as above and the lysates were centrifuged at $20,000 \times g$ for 20 minutes at 4°C. Cleared lysates were fractionated by size exclusion chromatography over a Superose 6 HR 10/30 column (GE Healthcare) equilibrated and run in IP lysis buffer with 350 mM KCl. Samples of the eluted fractions containing the protein peak were subjected to SDS-PAGE followed by Western blot analysis using the specified antibodies.

Chromatin Remodeling Assay

A restriction enzyme accessibility assay was employed to measure chromatin remodeling. This assay was adapted from methods outlined by Smith and Peterson (221) and was performed as described in Chapter III. Samples were analyzed on a 3% agarose gel and bands were quantified using a Typhoon Trio+ Imager and ImageQuant TL software (GE Healthcare). Data points represent the average value of triplicate experiments. Quantitative Western blotting was used to ensure that the final concentration of CHD8 used in the restriction enzyme accessibility assays was 20 nM, allowing for direct comparison between CHD8 alone and CHD8 in complex.

Results

CHD8 forms a Complex with WAR and with MLL1-WAR

Previous work from our lab has identified several CHD8 associated polypeptides (104). We previously reported that CHD8 can interact with WDR5 both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Initially we focused in on WDR5 as this polypeptide has been reported to be part of an MLL histone methyltransferase complex (252-256, 281-283), possibly linking chromatin remodeling and chromatin modification in a single complex. Further evidence for this link was provided by the discovery of CHD8 in a WDR5-containing complex (256). As WAR can associate as an independent core complex in the absence of MLL (257, 258), we asked whether CHD8 could also associate with WDR5, both in the context of the WAR core complex as well as in association with MLL1-WAR. This association was tested through the reconstitution of the complex using a baculovirus expression system. As previously reported, co-infection of SF9 cells with recombinant viruses that encode WDR5, Ash2L, and RbBP5 results in the formation of a stable complex, and this complex can also form with the C-terminal fragment of MLL1 (MLL-C) (257). Coinfection of SF9 cells with WDR5, Ash2L, RbBP5, MLL-C and Flag-CHD8, followed by affinity purification demonstrated that indeed CHD8 can associate with the MLL1-WAR

complex (Fig. 4.1). When the same experiment was repeated excluding MLL-C, it was seen that CHD8 can also form a complex with the WAR core complex by itself.

While these results demonstrate that CHD8 can associate with WDR5 in the context of the complex, they do not address whether other interactions also exist in this complex. To systematically test the assembly of the WAR/CHD8 complex, further baculovirus co-infection experiments were performed, each time omitting one component. As shown in Fig. 4.1, the removal of any one of the subunits does not preclude a stable association of the remaining subunits. These results demonstrate that CHD8 can interact with subunits other than WDR5. To further explore these interactions, baculovirus co-infection experiments using pairwise combinations with CHD8 were performed. As shown in Figure 4.2, CHD8 is capable of interacting directly with each component of the MLL1-WAR complex. These results demonstrate that CHD8 has extensive contacts with the MLL1-WAR complex, unlike the interactions of WAR with MLL that are dependent solely on WDR5 (257, 258, 261, 262, 284, 285).

CHD8 Co-fractionates with Components of the MLL1-WAR Complex

SF9 cells were co-infected with baculovirus encoding the following combinations of proteins: the components of the WAR core complex alone, CHD8 and the WAR complex or CHD8 and MLL1-WAR. As a control, cells were mock-infected. Each of these cell lysates were fractionated over a Superose 6 size exclusion chromatography column. Fractions containing the protein peak from each of these runs were subjected to SDS-PAGE followed by Western blot analysis with the indicated antibodies. Co-elution of proteins in the same fractions, is suggestive of a physical interaction between them, causing them to migrate together through the size exclusion column.

It was observed that the components of the WAR core complex co-eluted in the same range of fractions from the size exclusion column, indicating they form a discrete complex in these cells (Fig. 4.3A). When the lysates of cells co-infected with CHD8 and WAR were fractionated, we found that the elution profile of CHD8 was largely coincident with those of WDR5, Ash2L and RbBP5 (Fig. 4.3B). Interestingly, the fractions containing the major CHD8 peak did not coincide with the elution peak for WAR. This indicates that while CHD8 can associate with the WAR complex, the majority of CHD8 is found independent of the WAR complex. Finally, the elution profiles of lysates containing CHD8 and MLL1-WAR were examined (Fig. 4.3C). Once again, CHD8 co-eluted with the components of the WAR core complex and with MLL1 as well. These results demonstrate that CHD8 can form a complex with both WAR and MLL1-WAR, confirming the results of the co-immunoprecipitation experiments shown in Fig. 4.1 and Fig. 4.2.

Association with WAR or MLL1-WAR does not Affect Chromatin Remodeling by CHD8

To gain insight into the significance of the association CHD8 with the WAR and MLL1-WAR complexes, we performed *in vitro* chromatin remodeling assays to test the consequence of this association. SF9 cells were co-infected to express either CHD8 alone, CHD8 and the WAR complex or CHD8 and the MLL1-WAR complex. CHD8 and its associated complexes were affinity purified. The amount of CHD8 in each of

these samples was determined by quantitative Western blots. Chromatin remodeling was measured for each of these complexes by using equal amounts of CHD8 enzyme in restriction enzyme accessibility assays as described in Chapter III. As shown in Figure 4.4, the presence of either of the WAR complexes with CHD8 neither enhances nor hinders CHD8 remodeling activity in the context of this assay. This result indicates a possible role for the WAR and MLL1-WAR complexes outside of direct involvement in the enzymatic function of CHD8, perhaps in targeting or binding of CHD8 to promoters.

Discussion

The CHD8-WAR-MLL1 Complex

We have shown that the ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling enzyme CHD8 is capable of interacting with both the WAR core complex alone as well as with the MLL1-WAR HMTase complex. We have demonstrated that both the CHD8 complexes are formed by extensive contacts between the component proteins and elimination of any one component does not preclude the formation of a stable complex. This indicates extensive contacts between CHD8 and the the components of the MLL1-WAR complex. This is confirmed by the observation that CHD8 also interacts individually and directly with each component of the MLL1-WAR complex. In this respect, the interaction of WAR with CHD8 is different from that between WAR and MLL1, which is mediated by WDR5 alone (257, 258). In fact, recent reports have shown that a single 6-13 amino acid motif in MLL1, called the WDR-interaction (*Win*) motif, is responsible for the interaction with WDR5, which stabilizes the complex with WAR (261, 262, 285). However, another recent report suggests that there are more extensive interactions of MLL1 with WAR, as the interaction of RbBP5 and Ash2L with MLL1, even in the absence of WDR5, have been shown to stimulate the catalytic activity of the MLL1-SET domain (286). CHD8 does not possess the conserved motif by which WDR5 is known to bind SET domain proteins, further supporting a different mechanism of association of CHD8 with the MLL1-WAR complex. Further work is required to elucidate the exact nature of the interactions of CHD8 within this complex.

CHD8, as well as MLL1 and WAR, have been reported to exist in complex with other factors related to chromatin. CHD8 has been isolated in association with complexes containing hStaf, involved in transcriptional elongation by RNA Pol III, as well as in a complex containing the elongating form of RNA Pol II (100, 101). In addition, CHD8 has been found to be associated with various chromatin-related proteins like the chromatin insulator CTCF, the transcription factor β -catenin and the nuclear receptor ER (103-105). It has also been found to promote association between p53 and the H1 histone to form a trimeric complex on chromatin that is involved in suppressing the transcription of genes involved in p53-mediated apoptosis (102). Indeed, CHD8 was identified as a component of an MLL1-WAR complex isolated from HeLa cells overexpressing Flag-WDR5 (256).

MLL1 is inherently found in a multi-subunit protein complex as discussed earlier in this chapter. In addition, it can be aberrantly associated with other chromatin factors during cancer. An MLL-ENL (eleven-nineteen leukemia) fusion protein is known to be associated with a SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complex that is involved in the oncogenic activation of Hox A7 (287). This MLL-ENL fusion protein is also known to be associated with various other complexes containing other factors like the RNA Pol II CTD, positive transcriptional elongation factor (P-TEFb), the H3K79 HMTase Distribution of Organized Tributaries 1-like (DOT1L) and multiple PcG proteins (288). Another fusion partner of MLL, AF4, also interacts with P-TEFb and DOT1 to activate transcriptional elongation by Pol II (289). Finally, WAR has also been implicated in complexes other than with MLL HMTases, like with the HAT complexes ATAC and MOF and the nuclear receptor coactivator NIF-1, as discussed in the Introduction to this chapter (277-280). WDR5 has also been found to be associated with the ISWI-containing ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling complex, NURF, providing further evidence of the components of MLL-WAR being associated with nucleosome remodelers (32). Thus there is ample evidence of each of these component proteins being present in complexes other than the ones they are traditionally found in.

Hypothetical Model 1: Methylation by MLL1-WAR Targets CHD8 Binding to Histones

Based on the extensive interactions of CHD8 with the MLL1-WAR complex, one could hypothesize that CHD8 gets recruited by this complex to function in gene regulation at its target sites. The purification of CHD8 in complex with WAR and MLL1-WAR by size exclusion chromatography supports the hypothesis that these proteins form a stable complex that could be involved in the regulation of MLL target genes. Indeed, recent experiments in the lab have shown that CHD8 can bind and regulate the expression of the MLL-regulated HoxA genes (unpublished data). The fact that the overlap in coelution profiles of CHD8 in complex with MLL1-WAR was greater than that for the CHD8-WAR complex alone could indicate a preferred specificity of

CHD8 for MLL1-WAR. Thus it is possible that CHD8 and MLL1, through interactions enhanced by the WAR complex, are working in coordination to regulate the expression of the Hox genes. This possibility is made even more likely given the fact that the *Drosophila* homolog of CHD8, Kismet, is a TrxG protein known to be involved in the regulation of Hox genes. Methylation of the H3K4 mark at target promoters by MLL1 might reinforce the localization of CHD8 to these sites. This possibility is supported by recent work that suggests that the chromodomains of CHD8 can specifically bind dimethylated H3K4 (100).

Chromatin remodeling assays performed using each of the indicated CHD8containing complexes (Fig. 4.4) indicated that the interaction with WAR or MLL1-WAR does not affect the chromatin remodeling activity of CHD8. This suggests that the association with these complexes regulates some aspect of CHD8 other than its enzymatic activity, like the binding or targeting of CHD8 to promoters, as mentioned above. Thus the recognition of H3K4 methylation by the chromodomains of CHD8 seems to be involved in histone binding by CHD8 in the context of its recruitment to chromatin rather than the substrate specificity of its nucleosome remodeling activity. It is also a possibility that, once recruited to target sites, chromatin remodeling by CHD8 could affect the HMTase activity of the MLL1-WAR complex. A recent study revealed that the SET domains of MLL1 and SET7 specifically recognize nucleosomes remodeled by ISWI and subsequently catalyze methylation of these nucleosomes (290). More experiments are needed to verify the precise role of CHD8 with regards to its association with this complex. However, the data presented here can be used to propose a model where CHD8 is targeted via its chromodomains to sites of H3K4 methylation by MLL1WAR, whereupon it associates with this complex and rearranges nucleosomes in a way that allows for optimal transcriptional regulation of the target genes, either by enhancing further methylation by MLL1-WAR, or by allowing the binding of other factors.

WAR has been shown to exist in complexes independent of MLL or SET proteins and also that CHD8 can bind WAR independent of MLL1. This gives rise to an interesting variation of the proposed model. The binding of WAR to histones and to MLL appear to be mutually exclusive, since both H3 and MLL bind WDR5 through the same motif (262). Thus it is possible that WAR can foster the interaction of CHD8 with MLL1, or recruit CHD8 to chromatin by binding to H3. It is also possible that WDR5 could competitively bind to methylated H3K4, dissociating in the process from MLL1 after the methylation event, as suggested by Song et al (262). In this case, CHD8 could be tethered on to H3K4 methylated chromatin via its extensive interactions with WAR after prior methylation of these sites by MLL1. Thus there are several modes by MLL1-WAR could be recruiting CHD8 to target promoters, the precise mechanism of which needs to be explored by further studies. Given the fact that AR binding to its target promoters has been shown to be dependent on H3K4 methylation (225), this model could be elaborated upon further. Methylation of H3K4 by MLL1-WAR could be involved in targeting the associated CHD8 to target promoters, where its enhanced remodeling of nucleosomes bearing H3K4 dimethylation marks would then serve to facilitate the binding of AR

Hypothetical Model 2: Remodeling by CHD8 Recruits MLL1-WAR

An alternative hypothesis for the role of CHD8 is that it is involved with the proper establishment of histone methylation patterns at target genes by recruiting the MLL1-WAR HMTase complex. Depletion of its *Drosophila* homolog, Kismet, has been shown to result in elevated global levels of H3K27 methylation (89). The action of Kismet appears to counteract the H3K27 methyltransferase E(Z) and promote the association of H3K4 HMTases, including the MLL homolog TRX and ASH1 with chromatin (89). Thus it is possible that CHD8 interacts with MLL1 in a similar capacity to facilitate its binding to target chromatin sites via its remodeling activity. However, it is to be noted that CHD6-9 in humans have a single ortholog in *Drosophila*, namely Kismet. Thus it is also possible that the CHD6-9 proteins have diverged evolutionarily and developed different, more specific functions within the cell. Given the evolutionary distance between flies and humans, it would not be entirely unexpected if CHD8 and Kismet do not have the exact same mechanisms of action in transcriptional regulation in association with MLL.

A variation of this hypothesis of CHD8 recruiting the H3K4 HMTase activity to target sites could be based on our observation that CHD8 can associate with the WAR core complex independent of MLL1. This gives rise to another possibility that CHD8 could be directly involved in recruiting WAR to MLL target sites, bringing it in contact with MLL1 and thus enhancing H3K4 methylation. Several lines of evidence support this possibility as well. Previous studies have demonstrated that WAR is required for complete methylation of target promoters by MLL1, but loss of WAR does not prevent proper recruitment of MLL1 to these promoters (257, 258). Taken together with our

data, this would suggest a model where chromatin remodeling by CHD8 is involved in recruiting WAR to allow the proper methylation of target promoters via association with MLL1. It has also been reported recently that the WAR complex itself is a H3K4 HMTase, even in the absence of MLL (285). This raises the possibility that the CHD8/WAR complex is also a HMTase complex, and the coordinated function of nucleosomal remodeling and histone methylation by this complex is capable of establishing appropriate chromatin modifications at target promoters independent of MLL1. Future experiments will need to be performed to verify which of these proposed models is actually operational during transcriptional regulation by this novel CHD8-containing complex. However, in the context of androgen-responsive transcriptional regulation by CHD8, we can speculate that the targeting of MLL1-WAR or WAR alone by CHD8 remodeling at AREs allows the establishment of the H3K4 methylation pattern that is subsequently responsible for the recruitment of AR (225) to these genomic loci.


Figure 4.1: Direct Interaction of CHD8 with the MLL1-WAR Complex. Cellular extracts were prepared from SF9 cells following co-infection with the indicated viruses. Immunoprecipitations were performed with anti-Flag-M2 antibodies. After extensive washing, purified samples were subjected to SDS-PAGE followed by Western blotting analysis using the indicated antibodies.



Figure 4.2: Direct Interaction of CHD8 with each Component of the MLL1-WAR Complex. Pairwise coinfections were performed using the indicated baculoviruses and immunoprecipitated as in Fig. 3.1. Inputs (top panel) and IPs (bottom panel) were analyzed by SDS-PAGE followed by Western blotting with the indicated antibodies.



Figure 4.3: Size Exclusion Chromatography of CHD8-Associated Complexes. SF9 cells were coinfected with baculovirus encoding the components of either the WAR subcomplex alone (A), CHD8 and WAR (B) or CHD8 and the MLL1-WAR complex (C). Cellular extracts were prepared and fractionated by size exclusion chromatography over a Superose 6 column. Peak fractions were analyzed by SDS-PAGE followed by Western blotting with the indicated antibodies.



Figure 4.4: Remodeling Activity of CHD8 in Association with MLL1/WAR Complexes. Recombinant CHD8 or CHD8 in complex with either WAR or MLL1-WAR was assayed for chromatin remodeling as measured by increased restriction enzyme accessibility on mononucleosomes. Three separate experiments were performed in triplicate and representative data is shown.

CHAPTER V

Conclusion

Background

The DNA within eukaryotic cells is packaged into highly condensed chromatin, which inherently serves as a physical barrier to critical cellular processes like DNA replication, repair and transcription. The class of enzymes that modulate the chromatin structure to allow access to the underlying DNA are called the ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling enzymes. These enzymes belong to the SNF2 superfamily which is characterized by the presence of a characteristic SNF2 domain that is capable of hydrolyzing ATP to derive energy that is utilized by the enzyme to remodel chromatin in different ways. There are several families of SNF2 ATP-dependent chromatin remodelers, one of which is the CHD family. This family is comprised of nine proteins, named CHD1 through CHD9, that are further divided into subfamilies based on domain architecture. While the remodeling activity and cellular functions of the CHD1-2 and CHD3-5 subfamilies have been well studied, relatively little is known about the third subfamily, CHD6-9.

The studies described in this thesis were designed to elucidate the function of one of the members of this subfamily, CHD8. Specifically, the role of CHD8 in androgenresponsive transcription was studied to expand upon the previously known functional association between the CHD6-9 subfamily and nuclear receptors. These studies also highlight the potential role of CHD8, not only in the regulation of transcription, but also in prostate cancer tumorigenesis and the progression of diseased states. In addition to these functional studies, the substrate specificity for chromatin remodeling by CHD8 was also studied so as to derive further mechanistic insights into its transcriptional function. Finally, its association with a known histone methyltransferase complex, MLL1-WAR, was characterized in order to understand its interplay with other chromatin-related factors and processes involved in transcriptional regulation. This additional knowledge can then be applied to the role of CHD8 in androgen receptor-mediated transcription and to understand how CHD8 may be involved in the regulation of transcription and cancer.

Functional Studies of CHD8 in Androgen-Responsive Transcription

Evidence from previous literature suggests that the CHD6-9 subfamily proteins are involved in transcriptional regulation by nuclear receptors and are implicated in several diseases. CHD8 specifically has been shown to have a diverse role in transcriptional regulation and in a variety of pathways related to human disease. We investigated the potential role of CHD8 in nuclear receptor-mediated transcription in Chapter II. Our preliminary analysis of publicly available microarray data from the ONCOMINE database revealed that CHD8 was upregulated in several prostate cancer samples, implicating it in androgen receptor signaling, which is commonly dysregulated in prostate cancer. Thus we focused in on the androgen receptor pathway to study the cellular function of CHD8 and investigate its implied role in cancer.

We investigated the possible association between AR and CHD8 by doing interaction studies, where we found a direct interaction between both the recombinant and endogenous proteins. Interestingly, endogenous CHD8 only interacted with AR in androgen-dependent cell lines, indicating that this association was dependent on androgen induction. The fact that these two proteins interact directly was demonstrated by co-immunoprecipitation if the recombinant proteins by co-expression in a baculovirus expression system. While the interaction studies reveal a direct physical and physiologically relevant association of these proteins, further studies are required to elucidate the specifics of this interaction. The interaction could be mapped further by using recombinantly expressed, epitope-tagged fragments of either protein and conducting pull down studies similar to those described in Chapter II. It would be interesting to map this interaction to see whether the consensus LFSLL nuclear receptor interaction motif in CHD8, located at 996-1000 aa within its SNF2 domain, is responsible for the binding to AR as predicted in Chapter II. Conversely, we could map the interaction site on AR to see whether it lies within the C-terminal LBD as is typical for most interactions between nuclear receptors and their coactivators. It would also be interesting to examine the association between endogenous AR and CHD8 in more prostate cancer cell lines to verify that this interaction is indeed androgen-dependent.

ChIP and re-ChIP experiments were done to see whether this interaction fostered co-localization of these proteins at endogenous AR-mediated promoters. It was found that CHD8 did indeed occupy AREs on the androgen-responsive TMPRSS2 and PSA genes at the same time as AR. The constitutive binding of CHD8 to these promoters independent of androgen induction distinguishes it from other typical AR coregulators. The precise localization pattern of CHD8, and concurrently of AR, on these target promoters could be determined by performing ChIP experiments tiling over the promoter sequence to see where these proteins localize to before and after androgen treatment. Also, ChIPseq or re-ChIPseq experiments could be designed to obtain the sequences from ChIPs of AR and CHD8, done either separately or sequentially, which can then be analyzed to identify new target genes that are regulated by AR and CHD8.

Based on the co-localization patterns of CHD8 with AR on the AREs of androgen-responsive target promoters, we hypothesized that CHD8 is involved in the transcriptional activation of these genes upon induction by androgens. This was confirmed by showing that CHD8 depletion significantly diminished the transcriptional activation of AR target genes in response to androgen induction in androgen-dependent LNCaP cells. It was further demonstrated that this transcriptional role of CHD8 in ARmediated gene activation was androgen-dependent, by showing that the effect of CHD8 depletion observed in LNCaP cells was not replicated in several androgen-independent cell lines. Our results indicate that CHD8 is involved in the transcriptional activation of two well-characterized androgen-responsive genes, TMPRSS2 and PSA, which are aberrantly activated in prostate cancer. This implicates CHD8 in the aberrant gene expression observed in prostate cancer. It would be interesting to identify other genes that are regulated by CHD8 in an androgen-dependent manner by generating a stable knockdown of CHD8 in a prostate cancer cell line like LNCaPs. We could then observe by microarray analysis which particular genes' androgen-responsive activation is affected by CHD8 depletion upon induction by androgens, as compared to a control cell line. In addition, we could individually examine novel target genes identified from this microarray analysis or from the ChIPseq experiments proposed above to identify common targets of CHD8 and AR, and look for effects on androgen-responsive activation by CHD8 by the same siRNA-based strategy employed in Chapter II. Thus the identification of CHD8 as a novel AR coactivator presents us a unique opportunity to investigate novel AR-mediated transcriptional targets in prostate cancer.

While we have verified the functional role of CHD8 in AR-mediated transcriptional activation, the mechanism behind how chromatin remodeling by CHD8 contributes to this process is not clear. Our ChIP experiments under conditions of CHD8 depletion revealed that CHD8 was required for optimal recruitment of AR to the target promoter. This role for its remodeling activity resembles that of other chromatin remodelers which have been found to be involved in the binding of transcriptional activators to promoters (19). There is a possibility since CHD8 directly interacts with AR that it is this interaction and not the remodeling of nucleosomes by its catalytic activity that is responsible for recruitment of AR by CHD8. This could be tested by doing an experiment where the K842R point mutant of CHD8, which has been shown to be a catalytically dead mutant (104), could be overexpressed as a dominant-negative form of CHD8. This mutant CHD8 is unable to remodel nucleosomes due to the mutation of the conserved lysine in its SNF2 domain that is required for ATPase activity and hence for remodeling activity. The loss of AR targeting upon expression of this inactive form of CHD8 would verify that it is the remodeling of nucleosomes by CHD8 and not its interaction with AR that is responsible for its recruitment of AR to target sites. Indeed

we have shown that CHD8 is capable of remodeling nucleosomes assembled on a DNA template sequence encoding the ARE of TMPRSS2 *in vitro* in the presence of AR. This verifies aspects of our model that CHD8 remodels nucleosomes at target loci to allow AR to bind. Further experiments could be done using these nucleosomal templates to examine whether ARE nucleosomes that have been remodeled by CHD8 show enhanced binding with AR by gel shift assays. The loss of AR binding upon CHD8 depletion could be verified at other novel or known AR target promoters by ChIP and also in different androgen-dependent and androgen-independent cell lines to verify whether this recruitment is hormone dependent. The genome-wide targeting of AR could be evaluated by performing AR ChIPs under normal and CHD8-depleted conditions from LNCaP cells and analyzing by a ChIPseq or ChIP-on-chip approach whether the recruitment pattern of AR is disrupted at a subset of target genes. These experiments will expand upon this novel and unique mode of coactivation by CHD8.

Finally we verified the physiological importance of CHD8's role in the AR signaling pathway, by showing that it is required for androgen-dependent cell proliferation of LNCaP cells. This result shows how CHD8 might be important for prostate cancer tumorigenesis and progression. Similar proliferation assays as described in Chapter II could be performed in androgen-independent cell lines to verify the hormone dependency of this growth effect upon CHD8 depletion. Alternative physiological assays like tumor invasion assays could be performed to determine the effects of CHD8 depletion on different aspects of tumor growth. Doing cell growth or proliferation assays on stable knockdowns of CHD8 would provide a better indication of its physiological role as well by eliminating variability due to transfection or knockdown

efficiency. Taken together, however, the results presented in Chapter II provide evidence of a novel functional role for CHD8 in a prostate cancer model system.

The role of CHD8 in nuclear hormone signaling is supported by other lines of evidence. CHD8 is a member of the highly related CHD6-9 subfamily of proteins. Several members of this family have been shown to functionally associate with nuclear hormone receptors. CHD9 (CReMM/PRIC320) has been shown to interact with PPAR α , CAR, ER α , RXR, and GR, and has also been shown to function as a coactivator for PPAR α (98, 159). CHD7 has also been isolated as a component of a corepressor complex that inhibits PPAR γ mediated transcription (95). Recently, CHD8 has also been reported to be required for the estrogen mediated upregulation of the cyclin E2 gene (105). Taken together with our studies on CHD8 and AR, these results suggest that the CHD6-9 family is an important regulator of nuclear hormone signaling.

Deciphering the mechanistic role of CHD8 in transcriptional regulation is complicated by the numerous functions reported for CHD8. Previous work from our group has shown that CHD8 is an ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling enzyme involved in transcriptional regulation of β -catenin responsive genes (104). However, CHD8 was found to act in the negative regulation of activated β -catenin responsive genes, unlike our current report here of a role for CHD8 in the activation of TMPRSS2 in response to androgens. This suggests that CHD8 can differentially regulate numerous target genes. Indeed, expression profiling of control and CHD8-depleted cells identified transcripts both positively and negatively regulated by CHD8 (100).

Further insight into the function of CHD8 can be found by examining the reported functions of Kismet, the Drosophila ortholog of CHD8. Kismet was originally identified as an extragenic suppressor of Polycomb and therefore assigned as a member of the trxG of activators (291). Further studies revealed that Kismet assists in an early step in transcriptional elongation (61, 89). This reported data is consistent with CHD8 regulating the cyclin E2 gene via interactions with the elongating polymerase (100). AR not only plays a role in transcriptional initiation but also transcriptional elongation. AR has been reported to interact with COBRA1 (NELF-B), a subunit of negative elongation factor (NELF), and depletion of endogenous NELF-B enhances DHT-mediated transcriptional activation (292). AR also interacts with the positive elongation factor P-TEFb, and this interaction serves to enhance transcriptional elongation (293). In addition, AR has been shown to regulate transcriptional initiation as well as elongation via interactions with the general transcription factors TFIIF and TFIIH (294, 295). Taken together with our current studies, these reports suggest CHD8 could possibly be regulating AR mediated transcription by modulating transcriptional elongation.

In this study, we have identified the binding of CHD8 to the TMPRSS2 enhancer region located approximately 13.5 kb upstream from the start site. This data initially seems to be at odds with the model proposed above. However, the investigation of various nuclear receptors binding to DNA at both proximal and distal sites accompanied with reports of RNA polymerase II localization to these sites suggests that enhancer/promoter looping may play an important role in the regulation of nuclear hormone regulated transcription (296). Indeed, a direct interaction is reported between the TMPRSS2 -13.5 kb enhancer and the promoter region (131). Therefore, the

recruitment of CHD8 to the TMPRSS2 distal enhancer does not preclude CHD8 functioning in transcriptional elongation. More experiments need to be performed to determine the precise point of action for CHD8 in the transcriptional cycle.

In summary, the activity of AR is critical for normal prostate development and function, but also plays a major role in the development and progression of prostate cancer. Understanding the mechanisms of transcriptional regulation by AR and AR-associated cofactors is critical to the development of new therapies for prostate cancer. Here we report the characterization of a novel AR-associated cofactor required for the proper regulation of the androgen responsive gene TMPRSS2. These results highlight the potential of CHD8 as a novel diagnostic, preventative, or therapeutic target in prostate cancer.

Mechanistic Studies of Substrate Specificity of CHD8 Chromatin Remodeling

To better understand the functional implications of chromatin remodeling by CHD8, the substrate specificity of its catalytic activity was determined. This would provide further insights into the nature of the chromatin substrates that CHD8 preferentially remodels and thus allow us to build upon the model of CHD8 function in androgen-responsive transcriptional regulation. We found that CHD8 can remodel recombinant, unmodified nucleosomes at a similar rate to core nucleosomes. This result indicates that histone modifications are not necessary for CHD8 remodeling on substrates and also that we could further utilize recombinant nucleosomes for experiments to determine its substrate preference. Competitive assays using core and recombinant nucleosomes revealed that CHD8 preferentially remodeled core nucleosomes, indicating that while histone modifications were not a requirement *per se* for CHD8 remodeling activity, one or more particular modifications that were present on the core nucleosomes and not on the recombinant defines the preferred substrates of CHD8 activity.

In order to narrow down on the preferred nucleosomal substrate for CHD8 remodeling, we reconstituted nucleosomes from histories with their H3-H4 tails deleted and performed remodeling assays on these. It was seen that CHD8 can remodel H3-H4 tailless nucleosomes, indicating that CHD8, similar to CHD3/4 does not require histone tails for remodeling, unlike CHD1. Competitive nucleosome sliding assays using wildtype and tailless recombinant nucleosomes showed that while CHD8 can remodel both substrates, it appears to remodel nucleosomes lacking H3-H4 tails less effectively as indicated by the alternate migration of the remodeled species on a gel, indicating differential repositioning of these substrates based on the presence or absence of histone tails. This is an interesting result from the perspective of which histone contacts CHD8 utilizes during catalysis and how these contacts affect the remodeled product as discussed in Chapter III. We determined from these results that while CHD8 can reposition nucleosomes by contacts mediated by the globular core of the histone octamer, specific contacts with histone tails may be responsible for additional substrate specificity with regards to the positioning of the remodeled products by CHD8.

Finally, we examined the effect of a specific histone modification on the chromatin remodeling activity of CHD8. We chose to examine the H3K4 dimethyl mark for its effect on CHD8 remodeling, due to the previously established binding of the chromodomains of CHD8 to this mark (100). We generated synthetic analogs that mimicked the K4-dimethylated histone H3 or unmodified H3 by the strategy devised by

Simon et al (219). When the unmodified control and H3K4 dimethylated nucleosomes, produced as described in Chapter III, were subjected to competitive sliding assays, we found that CHD8 preferentially remodeled the dimethylated species. This observation, along with the results of the competitive assays done using core vs. recombinant nucleosomes, led to the conclusion that CHD8 preferentially remodels substrates bearing the dimethyl H3K4 mark. This preference may be due to the enhanced binding to the substrate due to the chromodomains which recognize this histone mark and hence would improve catalysis by lowering the K_m of binding.

Further experiments need to be performed to verify the substrate preferences of CHD8 for nucleosome remodeling. The same experiments described above could be performed upon nucleosomes incorporated into a DNA template encoding the sequence of an ARE targeted by CHD8, to examine these remodeling results in an androgenresponsive context by doing them in the presence of androgens and AR. Deletion of the individual histone tails may elucidate further aspects of the substrate specificity and nature of remodeling by CHD8. We might be able to see differentially remodeled products when particular histone tails are eliminated and thus we could infer the specifics of particular histone tail contacts in the remodeling activity of CHD8. Finally, the effect of other histone modifications on CHD8 activity could be determined by introducing different histone methylation marks as described here or by using enzyme-modified histone substrates bearing other candidate modifications like acetylation, sumoylation or ubiquitination, and assaying remodeling activity on these nucleosomal substrates.

Loci such as PSA and TMPRSS2, which are specifically activated in prostate cancer have been found to have constitutively elevated levels of H3K4 di- and

trimethylation in prostate cancer cell lines like LNCaP, C4-2B and PC-3, independent of androgen stimulation (297). This methylation pattern of H3K4 could be responsible for the androgen-independent constitutive localization of CHD8 that we observe at these sites, via recruitment mediated by its chromodomains. In addition, the presence of H3K4 dimethylated nucleosomes at CHD8 target sites may enhance its remodeling activity at these genomic locations. Indeed a recent study has shown that H3K4 dimethylation is required for the binding of AR to target enhancers, as the overexpression of the H3K4 demethylase KDM1, also known as LSD1, completely abolished AR binding to these enhancers (225). We can thus speculate that the deposition of H3K4 dimethyl marks is important for CHD8 recruitment to target sites via its chromodomains, whereupon AR is the recruited to these sites by the enhanced nucleosome remodeling by CHD8 at these H3K4-methylated loci.

Interaction Studies of CHD8 with the MLL1-WAR Complex

The association between CHD8 and H3K4 methylation is further supported by previous findings from our group that indicate CHD8 interacts with components of the WDR5/Ash2L/Rbbp5 (WAR) complex which is common to the MLL family of histone methyltransferases. MLL1 in association with the WAR complex is known to specifically methylate H3K4 (250, 251). It has also been recently shown that H3K4 methylation is required for AR recruitment to its target promoters (225). This raises the possibility that if CHD8 interacts with the MLL1-WAR complex, it would establish the missing link between H3K4 methylation and the remodeling by CHD8 in androgen-responsive transcriptional regulation.

The studies outlined in Chapter IV were therefore designed to characterize the interactions of CHD8 with the MLL1-WAR complex, and determine how these interactions may affect its chromatin remodeling activity. We showed that CHD8 interacts with MLL1-WAR through extensive contacts. Elimination of any one component does not preclude complex formation and CHD8 also interacts individually with each component of this complex. The precise interactions could be mapped further to specific interacting domains or epitopes by using smaller recombinant fragments of the complex component proteins and doing pull-down experiments. Size exclusion chromatography of purified complexes showed that CHD8 had more extensive contacts with MLL1-WAR than with WAR alone. This could be verified by doing competitive binding studies to derive binding constants between the exact fragment of CHD8 involved in these interactions and either the MLL1-WAR complex or the WAR subcomplex alone. We also showed that association of CHD8 with either of these complexes did not affect its remodeling activity. This analysis was done using the restriction enzyme assay which allows us to quantitate the remodeling activity of CHD8 by itself or in each of these complexes. While these activities were not distinguishable by this assay, we could compare the remodeled products by nucleosome sliding assays to detect changes in the remodeling activity of CHD8 due to association with either complex as compared to its monomeric form. Alternatively, the converse hypothesis that nucleosome remodeling by CHD8 affects histone methylation by MLL1-WAR complex could also be tested by doing HMTase assays of either the complex alone or the complex in association with CHD8. These additional assays will help to determine the mechanistic details of the interplay between CHD8 and MLL1-WAR and consequently provide a more complete picture of how these enzymes participate in androgenresponsive gene activation by AR. In fact, a recent report has established global details of this kind of interplay between histone modifying and nucleosome remodeling enzymes on a genome-wide scale (298). Similar genome-wide studies of loci where MLL1-WAR and CHD8 interact will yield further opportunities to study their cooperative effect on transcriptional regulation.

Taken together, these studies delineate a novel pathway for AR-mediated transcriptional activation of androgen-responsive genes. We propose a model where MLL1-WAR is recruited to AR target genes and methylates H3K4 marks at the AREs on their promoters. This mark is recognized by the chromodomains of CHD8 which facilitates its binding to target AREs and also enhances its remodeling activity on nucleosomes bearing this modification at these sites. Nucleosome remodeling by CHD8 then facilitates the recruitment of AR to the AREs of target promoters upon induction by androgens which subsequently leads to the optimal androgen-responsive transcriptional activation of these genes. This model is somewhat complicated by reports that H3K4 methylation is drastically increased at AR target promoters upon androgen induction (299).Thus if MLL1-WAR is involved in maintenance of constitutive H3K4 methylation of target promoters allowing for the constant recruitment of CHD8 to these sites, this androgen-responsive increase in H3K4 methylation may be due to another HMTase. In fact, this spike in H3K4 methylation upon induction was found to be highly coincident with the recruitment pattern of AR (299), unlike the androgen-independent basal level of methylation which was found to be necessary to be already established for AR recruitment (225). Thus this later, androgen-responsive methylation may be due to a different HMTase which is recruited by AR as part of its coactivation complex to activate transcription, while the constitutive, basal levels of H3K4 methylation may be maintained by MLL1-WAR to establish proper recruitment of CHD8. Thus basal H3K4 methylation levels may maintain constitutive CHD8 localization to target genes which is required for the proper recruitment of AR upon reception of androgen signaling. This may then trigger higher levels of methylation of the promoter in the course of transcriptional activation by AR. This novel pathway of AR regulation is an important subject for future studies which could then help us understand its potential as a target for the prevention and therapy of prostate cancer.

REFERENCES

- 1. Mansfield BK Human Genome Project Information, U.S. DOE Human Genome Project, <u>www.ornl.gov/hgmis</u>, accessed: 9/24/09. In:
- 2. Teague K Centre for Integrated Genomics, <u>www.cigenomics.bc.ca/</u>. In:
- 3. Kornberg RD, Thomas JO 1974 Chromatin structure; oligomers of the histones. Science 184:865-868
- 4. Kornberg RD 1974 Chromatin structure: a repeating unit of histones and DNA. Science 184:868-871
- 5. Luger K, Mader AW, Richmond RK, Sargent DF, Richmond TJ 1997 Crystal structure of the nucleosome core particle at 2.8 A resolution. Nature 389:251-260
- 6. Olins AL, Olins DE 1974 Spheroid chromatin units (v bodies). Science 183:330-332
- 7. Becker WM, Kleinsmith LJ, Hardin J 2003 The world of the cell. 5th ed. San Francisco: Benjamin/Cummings Pub. Co.
- 8. Knezetic JA, Luse DS 1986 The presence of nucleosomes on a DNA template prevents initiation by RNA polymerase II in vitro. Cell 45:95-104
- 9. Han M, Grunstein M 1988 Nucleosome loss activates yeast downstream promoters in vivo. Cell 55:1137-1145
- 10. Ptashne M, Gann A 1997 Transcriptional activation by recruitment. Nature 386:569-577
- 11. Green MR 2005 Eukaryotic transcription activation: right on target. Mol Cell 18:399-402
- 12. Thomas MC, Chiang CM 2006 The general transcription machinery and general cofactors. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol 41:105-178
- 13. Li B, Carey M, Workman JL 2007 The role of chromatin during transcription. Cell 128:707-719
- 14. Buratowski S 2003 The CTD code. Nat Struct Biol 10:679-680
- 15. Hahn S 2004 Structure and mechanism of the RNA polymerase II transcription machinery. Nat Struct Mol Biol 11:394-403
- 16. Workman JL, Kingston RE 1998 Alteration of nucleosome structure as a mechanism of transcriptional regulation. Annu Rev Biochem 67:545-579

- 17. Utley RT, Cote J, Owen-Hughes T, Workman JL 1997 SWI/SNF stimulates the formation of disparate activator-nucleosome complexes but is partially redundant with cooperative binding. J Biol Chem 272:12642-12649
- Robert F, Pokholok DK, Hannett NM, Rinaldi NJ, Chandy M, Rolfe A, Workman JL, Gifford DK, Young RA 2004 Global position and recruitment of HATs and HDACs in the yeast genome. Mol Cell 16:199-209
- 19. Cosma MP, Tanaka T, Nasmyth K 1999 Ordered recruitment of transcription and chromatin remodeling factors to a cell cycle- and developmentally regulated promoter. Cell 97:299-311
- 20. Bondarenko VA, Steele LM, Ujvari A, Gaykalova DA, Kulaeva OI, Polikanov YS, Luse DS, Studitsky VM 2006 Nucleosomes can form a polar barrier to transcript elongation by RNA polymerase II. Mol Cell 24:469-479
- 21. Kulish D, Struhl K 2001 TFIIS enhances transcriptional elongation through an artificial arrest site in vivo. Mol Cell Biol 21:4162-4168
- Kireeva ML, Hancock B, Cremona GH, Walter W, Studitsky VM, Kashlev M 2005 Nature of the nucleosomal barrier to RNA polymerase II. Mol Cell 18:97-108
- 23. Guermah M, Palhan VB, Tackett AJ, Chait BT, Roeder RG 2006 Synergistic functions of SII and p300 in productive activator-dependent transcription of chromatin templates. Cell 125:275-286
- 24. Carey M, Li B, Workman JL 2006 RSC exploits histone acetylation to abrogate the nucleosomal block to RNA polymerase II elongation. Mol Cell 24:481-487
- 25. Kouzarides T 2007 Chromatin modifications and their function. Cell 128:693-705
- 26. Shogren-Knaak M, Ishii H, Sun JM, Pazin MJ, Davie JR, Peterson CL 2006 Histone H4-K16 acetylation controls chromatin structure and protein interactions. Science 311:844-847
- 27. Hassan AH, Prochasson P, Neely KE, Galasinski SC, Chandy M, Carrozza MJ, Workman JL 2002 Function and selectivity of bromodomains in anchoring chromatin-modifying complexes to promoter nucleosomes. Cell 111:369-379
- Huang Y, Fang J, Bedford MT, Zhang Y, Xu RM 2006 Recognition of histone H3 lysine-4 methylation by the double tudor domain of JMJD2A. Science 312:748-751
- 29. Pray-Grant MG, Daniel JA, Schieltz D, Yates JR, 3rd, Grant PA 2005 Chd1 chromodomain links histone H3 methylation with SAGA- and SLIK-dependent acetylation. Nature 433:434-438

- 30. Sims RJ, 3rd, Chen CF, Santos-Rosa H, Kouzarides T, Patel SS, Reinberg D 2005 Human but not yeast CHD1 binds directly and selectively to histone H3 methylated at lysine 4 via its tandem chromodomains. J Biol Chem 280:41789-41792
- 31. Shi X, Hong T, Walter KL, Ewalt M, Michishita E, Hung T, Carney D, Pena P, Lan F, Kaadige MR, Lacoste N, Cayrou C, Davrazou F, Saha A, Cairns BR, Ayer DE, Kutateladze TG, Shi Y, Cote J, Chua KF, Gozani O 2006 ING2 PHD domain links histone H3 lysine 4 methylation to active gene repression. Nature 442:96-99
- 32. Wysocka J, Swigut T, Xiao H, Milne TA, Kwon SY, Landry J, Kauer M, Tackett AJ, Chait BT, Badenhorst P, Wu C, Allis CD 2006 A PHD finger of NURF couples histone H3 lysine 4 trimethylation with chromatin remodelling. Nature 442:86-90
- 33. Nakayama J, Rice JC, Strahl BD, Allis CD, Grewal SI 2001 Role of histone H3 lysine 9 methylation in epigenetic control of heterochromatin assembly. Science 292:110-113
- 34. Lachner M, O'Carroll D, Rea S, Mechtler K, Jenuwein T 2001 Methylation of histone H3 lysine 9 creates a binding site for HP1 proteins. Nature 410:116-120
- 35. Bannister AJ, Zegerman P, Partridge JF, Miska EA, Thomas JO, Allshire RC, Kouzarides T 2001 Selective recognition of methylated lysine 9 on histone H3 by the HP1 chromo domain. Nature 410:120-124
- Saha A, Wittmeyer J, Cairns BR 2005 Chromatin remodeling through directional DNA translocation from an internal nucleosomal site. Nat Struct Mol Biol 12:747-755
- 37. Alexeev A, Mazin A, Kowalczykowski SC 2003 Rad54 protein possesses chromatin-remodeling activity stimulated by the Rad51-ssDNA nucleoprotein filament. Nat Struct Biol 10:182-186
- Kasten M, Szerlong H, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Werner M, Cairns BR 2004 Tandem bromodomains in the chromatin remodeler RSC recognize acetylated histone H3 Lys14. EMBO J 23:1348-1359
- 39. Flaus A, Owen-Hughes T 2003 Dynamic properties of nucleosomes during thermal and ATP-driven mobilization. Mol Cell Biol 23:7767-7779
- 40. Owen-Hughes T, Utley RT, Cote J, Peterson CL, Workman JL 1996 Persistent site-specific remodeling of a nucleosome array by transient action of the SWI/SNF complex. Science 273:513-516
- 41. Martens JA, Winston F 2003 Recent advances in understanding chromatin remodeling by Swi/Snf complexes. Curr Opin Genet Dev 13:136-142

- 42. Martens JA, Winston F 2002 Evidence that Swi/Snf directly represses transcription in S. cerevisiae. Genes Dev 16:2231-2236
- 43. Grune T, Brzeski J, Eberharter A, Clapier CR, Corona DF, Becker PB, Muller CW 2003 Crystal structure and functional analysis of a nucleosome recognition module of the remodeling factor ISWI. Mol Cell 12:449-460
- 44. Dang W, Bartholomew B 2007 Domain architecture of the catalytic subunit in the ISW2-nucleosome complex. Mol Cell Biol 27:8306-8317
- 45. Deuring R, Fanti L, Armstrong JA, Sarte M, Papoulas O, Prestel M, Daubresse G, Verardo M, Moseley SL, Berloco M, Tsukiyama T, Wu C, Pimpinelli S, Tamkun JW 2000 The ISWI chromatin-remodeling protein is required for gene expression and the maintenance of higher order chromatin structure in vivo. Mol Cell 5:355-365
- 46. Goldmark JP, Fazzio TG, Estep PW, Church GM, Tsukiyama T 2000 The Isw2 chromatin remodeling complex represses early meiotic genes upon recruitment by Ume6p. Cell 103:423-433
- 47. Haushalter KA, Kadonaga JT 2003 Chromatin assembly by DNA-translocating motors. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 4:613-620
- 48. Corona DF, Tamkun JW 2004 Multiple roles for ISWI in transcription, chromosome organization and DNA replication. Biochim Biophys Acta 1677:113-119
- 49. Morillon A, Karabetsou N, O'Sullivan J, Kent N, Proudfoot N, Mellor J 2003 Isw1 chromatin remodeling ATPase coordinates transcription elongation and termination by RNA polymerase II. Cell 115:425-435
- 50. Bao Y, Shen X 2007 INO80 subfamily of chromatin remodeling complexes. Mutat Res 618:18-29
- 51. Tsukiyama T 2002 The in vivo functions of ATP-dependent chromatinremodelling factors. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 3:422-429
- 52. Mizuguchi G, Shen X, Landry J, Wu WH, Sen S, Wu C 2004 ATP-driven exchange of histone H2AZ variant catalyzed by SWR1 chromatin remodeling complex. Science 303:343-348
- 53. Delmas V, Stokes DG, Perry RP 1993 A mammalian DNA-binding protein that contains a chromodomain and an SNF2/SWI2-like helicase domain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:2414-2418
- 54. Woodage T, Basrai MA, Baxevanis AD, Hieter P, Collins FS 1997 Characterization of the CHD family of proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:11472-11477

- 55. Marfella CG, Imbalzano AN 2007 The Chd family of chromatin remodelers. Mutat Res 618:30-40
- Stokes DG, Perry RP 1995 DNA-binding and chromatin localization properties of CHD1. Mol Cell Biol 15:2745-2753
- 57. Bienz M 2006 The PHD finger, a nuclear protein-interaction domain. Trends Biochem Sci 31:35-40
- 58. Eberharter A, Vetter I, Ferreira R, Becker PB 2004 ACF1 improves the effectiveness of nucleosome mobilization by ISWI through PHD-histone contacts. EMBO J 23:4029-4039
- 59. Pena PV, Davrazou F, Shi X, Walter KL, Verkhusha VV, Gozani O, Zhao R, Kutateladze TG 2006 Molecular mechanism of histone H3K4me3 recognition by plant homeodomain of ING2. Nature 442:100-103
- 60. Simic R, Lindstrom DL, Tran HG, Roinick KL, Costa PJ, Johnson AD, Hartzog GA, Arndt KM 2003 Chromatin remodeling protein Chd1 interacts with transcription elongation factors and localizes to transcribed genes. EMBO J 22:1846-1856
- 61. Srinivasan S, Armstrong JA, Deuring R, Dahlsveen IK, McNeill H, Tamkun JW 2005 The Drosophila trithorax group protein Kismet facilitates an early step in transcriptional elongation by RNA Polymerase II. Development 132:1623-1635
- 62. McDaniel IE, Lee JM, Berger MS, Hanagami CK, Armstrong JA 2008 Investigations of CHD1 function in transcription and development of Drosophila melanogaster. Genetics 178:583-587
- 63. Tran HG, Steger DJ, Iyer VR, Johnson AD 2000 The chromo domain protein chd1p from budding yeast is an ATP-dependent chromatin-modifying factor. EMBO J 19:2323-2331
- 64. Stockdale C, Flaus A, Ferreira H, Owen-Hughes T 2006 Analysis of nucleosome repositioning by yeast ISWI and Chd1 chromatin remodeling complexes. J Biol Chem 281:16279-16288
- 65. Konev AY, Tribus M, Park SY, Podhraski V, Lim CY, Emelyanov AV, Vershilova E, Pirrotta V, Kadonaga JT, Lusser A, Fyodorov DV 2007 CHD1 motor protein is required for deposition of histone variant H3.3 into chromatin in vivo. Science 317:1087-1090
- 66. Nagarajan P, Onami TM, Rajagopalan S, Kania S, Donnell R, Venkatachalam S 2009 Role of chromodomain helicase DNA-binding protein 2 in DNA damage response signaling and tumorigenesis. Oncogene 28:1053-1062

- 67. Marfella CG, Henninger N, LeBlanc SE, Krishnan N, Garlick DS, Holzman LB, Imbalzano AN 2008 A mutation in the mouse Chd2 chromatin remodeling enzyme results in a complex renal phenotype. Kidney Blood Press Res 31:421-432
- 68. Flanagan JF, Blus BJ, Kim D, Clines KL, Rastinejad F, Khorasanizadeh S 2007 Molecular implications of evolutionary differences in CHD double chromodomains. J Mol Biol 369:334-342
- 69. Sims RJ, 3rd, Millhouse S, Chen CF, Lewis BA, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Manley JL, Reinberg D 2007 Recognition of trimethylated histone H3 lysine 4 facilitates the recruitment of transcription postinitiation factors and pre-mRNA splicing. Mol Cell 28:665-676
- 70. Daniel JA, Grant PA 2007 Multi-tasking on chromatin with the SAGA coactivator complexes. Mutat Res 618:135-148
- 71. Schubeler D, MacAlpine DM, Scalzo D, Wirbelauer C, Kooperberg C, van Leeuwen F, Gottschling DE, O'Neill LP, Turner BM, Delrow J, Bell SP, Groudine M 2004 The histone modification pattern of active genes revealed through genome-wide chromatin analysis of a higher eukaryote. Genes Dev 18:1263-1271
- 72. Krogan NJ, Kim M, Tong A, Golshani A, Cagney G, Canadien V, Richards DP, Beattie BK, Emili A, Boone C, Shilatifard A, Buratowski S, Greenblatt J 2003 Methylation of histone H3 by Set2 in Saccharomyces cerevisiae is linked to transcriptional elongation by RNA polymerase II. Mol Cell Biol 23:4207-4218
- 73. Tong JK, Hassig CA, Schnitzler GR, Kingston RE, Schreiber SL 1998 Chromatin deacetylation by an ATP-dependent nucleosome remodelling complex. Nature 395:917-921
- 74. Wade PA, Jones PL, Vermaak D, Wolffe AP 1998 A multiple subunit Mi-2 histone deacetylase from Xenopus laevis cofractionates with an associated Snf2 superfamily ATPase. Curr Biol 8:843-846
- 75. Xue Y, Wong J, Moreno GT, Young MK, Cote J, Wang W 1998 NURD, a novel complex with both ATP-dependent chromatin-remodeling and histone deacetylase activities. Mol Cell 2:851-861
- 76. Zhang Y, LeRoy G, Seelig HP, Lane WS, Reinberg D 1998 The dermatomyositisspecific autoantigen Mi2 is a component of a complex containing histone deacetylase and nucleosome remodeling activities. Cell 95:279-289
- 77. Schultz DC, Friedman JR, Rauscher FJ, 3rd 2001 Targeting histone deacetylase complexes via KRAB-zinc finger proteins: the PHD and bromodomains of KAP-1 form a cooperative unit that recruits a novel isoform of the Mi-2alpha subunit of NuRD. Genes Dev 15:428-443

- 78. Wade PA, Gegonne A, Jones PL, Ballestar E, Aubry F, Wolffe AP 1999 Mi-2 complex couples DNA methylation to chromatin remodelling and histone deacetylation. Nat Genet 23:62-66
- 79. Nishioka K, Chuikov S, Sarma K, Erdjument-Bromage H, Allis CD, Tempst P, Reinberg D 2002 Set9, a novel histone H3 methyltransferase that facilitates transcription by precluding histone tail modifications required for heterochromatin formation. Genes Dev 16:479-489
- 80. Zegerman P, Canas B, Pappin D, Kouzarides T 2002 Histone H3 lysine 4 methylation disrupts binding of nucleosome remodeling and deacetylase (NuRD) repressor complex. J Biol Chem 277:11621-11624
- 81. Musselman CA, Mansfield RE, Garske AL, Davrazou F, Kwan AH, Oliver SS, O'Leary H, Denu JM, Mackay JP, Kutateladze TG 2009 Binding of the CHD4 PHD2 finger to histone H3 is modulated by covalent modifications. Biochem J 423:179-187
- 82. Guschin D, Wade PA, Kikyo N, Wolffe AP 2000 ATP-Dependent histone octamer mobilization and histone deacetylation mediated by the Mi-2 chromatin remodeling complex. Biochemistry 39:5238-5245
- 83. Thompson PM, Gotoh T, Kok M, White PS, Brodeur GM 2003 CHD5, a new member of the chromodomain gene family, is preferentially expressed in the nervous system. Oncogene 22:1002-1011
- 84. Bagchi A, Papazoglu C, Wu Y, Capurso D, Brodt M, Francis D, Bredel M, Vogel H, Mills AA 2007 CHD5 is a tumor suppressor at human 1p36. Cell 128:459-475
- 85. Mulero-Navarro S, Esteller M 2008 Chromatin remodeling factor CHD5 is silenced by promoter CpG island hypermethylation in human cancer. Epigenetics 3:210-215
- 86. Gorringe KL, Choong DY, Williams LH, Ramakrishna M, Sridhar A, Qiu W, Bearfoot JL, Campbell IG 2008 Mutation and methylation analysis of the chromodomain-helicase-DNA binding 5 gene in ovarian cancer. Neoplasia 10:1253-1258
- 87. Daubresse G, Deuring R, Moore L, Papoulas O, Zakrajsek I, Waldrip WR, Scott MP, Kennison JA, Tamkun JW 1999 The Drosophila kismet gene is related to chromatin-remodeling factors and is required for both segmentation and segment identity. Development 126:1175-1187
- 88. Gellon G, McGinnis W 1998 Shaping animal body plans in development and evolution by modulation of Hox expression patterns. Bioessays 20:116-125

- Srinivasan S, Dorighi KM, Tamkun JW 2008 Drosophila Kismet regulates histone H3 lysine 27 methylation and early elongation by RNA polymerase II. PLoS Genet 4:e1000217
- 90. Lutz T, Stoger R, Nieto A 2006 CHD6 is a DNA-dependent ATPase and localizes at nuclear sites of mRNA synthesis. FEBS Lett 580:5851-5857
- 91. Nioi P, Nguyen T, Sherratt PJ, Pickett CB 2005 The carboxy-terminal Neh3 domain of Nrf2 is required for transcriptional activation. Mol Cell Biol 25:10895-10906
- 92. Vissers LE, van Ravenswaaij CM, Admiraal R, Hurst JA, de Vries BB, Janssen IM, van der Vliet WA, Huys EH, de Jong PJ, Hamel BC, Schoenmakers EF, Brunner HG, Veltman JA, van Kessel AG 2004 Mutations in a new member of the chromodomain gene family cause CHARGE syndrome. Nat Genet 36:955-957
- 93. Jongmans MC, Admiraal RJ, van der Donk KP, Vissers LE, Baas AF, Kapusta L, van Hagen JM, Donnai D, de Ravel TJ, Veltman JA, Geurts van Kessel A, De Vries BB, Brunner HG, Hoefsloot LH, van Ravenswaaij CM 2006 CHARGE syndrome: the phenotypic spectrum of mutations in the CHD7 gene. J Med Genet 43:306-314
- 94. Sanlaville D, Etchevers HC, Gonzales M, Martinovic J, Clement-Ziza M, Delezoide AL, Aubry MC, Pelet A, Chemouny S, Cruaud C, Audollent S, Esculpavit C, Goudefroye G, Ozilou C, Fredouille C, Joye N, Morichon-Delvallez N, Dumez Y, Weissenbach J, Munnich A, Amiel J, Encha-Razavi F, Lyonnet S, Vekemans M, Attie-Bitach T 2006 Phenotypic spectrum of CHARGE syndrome in fetuses with CHD7 truncating mutations correlates with expression during human development. J Med Genet 43:211-217
- 95. Takada I, Mihara M, Suzawa M, Ohtake F, Kobayashi S, Igarashi M, Youn MY, Takeyama K, Nakamura T, Mezaki Y, Takezawa S, Yogiashi Y, Kitagawa H, Yamada G, Takada S, Minami Y, Shibuya H, Matsumoto K, Kato S 2007 A histone lysine methyltransferase activated by non-canonical Wnt signalling suppresses PPAR-gamma transactivation. Nat Cell Biol 9:1273-1285
- 96. Shur I, Benayahu D 2005 Characterization and functional analysis of CReMM, a novel chromodomain helicase DNA-binding protein. J Mol Biol 352:646-655
- 97. Shur I, Socher R, Benayahu D 2006 In vivo association of CReMM/CHD9 with promoters in osteogenic cells. J Cell Physiol 207:374-378
- 98. Marom R, Shur I, Hager GL, Benayahu D 2006 Expression and regulation of CReMM, a chromodomain helicase-DNA-binding (CHD), in marrow stroma derived osteoprogenitors. J Cell Physiol 207:628-635

- 99. Shur I, Solomon R, Benayahu D 2006 Dynamic interactions of chromatin-related mesenchymal modulator, a chromodomain helicase-DNA-binding protein, with promoters in osteoprogenitors. Stem Cells 24:1288-1293
- 100. Rodriguez-Paredes M, Ceballos-Chavez M, Esteller M, Garcia-Dominguez M, Reyes JC 2009 The chromatin remodeling factor CHD8 interacts with elongating RNA polymerase II and controls expression of the cyclin E2 gene. Nucleic Acids Res 37:2449-2460
- 101. Yuan CC, Zhao X, Florens L, Swanson SK, Washburn MP, Hernandez N 2007 CHD8 associates with human Staf and contributes to efficient U6 RNA polymerase III transcription. Mol Cell Biol 27:8729-8738
- 102. Nishiyama M, Oshikawa K, Tsukada Y, Nakagawa T, Iemura S, Natsume T, Fan Y, Kikuchi A, Skoultchi AI, Nakayama KI 2009 CHD8 suppresses p53-mediated apoptosis through histone H1 recruitment during early embryogenesis. Nat Cell Biol 11:172-182
- 103. Ishihara K, Oshimura M, Nakao M 2006 CTCF-dependent chromatin insulator is linked to epigenetic remodeling. Mol Cell 23:733-742
- 104. Thompson BA, Tremblay V, Lin G, Bochar DA 2008 CHD8 is an ATPdependent chromatin remodeling factor that regulates beta-catenin target genes. Mol Cell Biol 28:3894-3904
- Caldon CE, Sergio CM, Schutte J, Boersma MN, Sutherland RL, Carroll JS, Musgrove EA 2009 Estrogen regulation of cyclin E2 requires cyclin D1 but not c-Myc. Mol Cell Biol 29:4623-4639
- 106. Schultz J, Milpetz F, Bork P, Ponting CP 1998 SMART, a simple modular architecture research tool: identification of signaling domains. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:5857-5864
- 107. Letunic I, Doerks T, Bork P 2009 SMART 6: recent updates and new developments. Nucleic Acids Res 37:D229-232
- 108. Campbell MF, Wein AJ, Kavoussi LR 2007 Campbell-Walsh urology / editor-inchief, Alan J. Wein ; editors, Louis R. Kavoussi ... [et al.]. 9th ed. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders
- 109. Aumuller G, Seitz J 1990 Protein secretion and secretory processes in male accessory sex glands. Int Rev Cytol 121:127-231
- 110. Dehm SM, Tindall DJ 2006 Molecular regulation of androgen action in prostate cancer. J Cell Biochem 99:333-344
- 111. Brooke GN, Bevan CL 2009 The role of androgen receptor mutations in prostate cancer progression. Curr Genomics 10:18-25

- 112. Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E, Hao Y, Xu J, Thun MJ 2009 Cancer statistics, 2009. CA Cancer J Clin
- 113. Denis LJ, Griffiths K 2000 Endocrine treatment in prostate cancer. Semin Surg Oncol 18:52-74
- 114. Feldman BJ, Feldman D 2001 The development of androgen-independent prostate cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 1:34-45
- 115. McKenna NJ, Lanz RB, O'Malley BW 1999 Nuclear receptor coregulators: cellular and molecular biology. Endocr Rev 20:321-344
- 116. Gobinet J, Poujol N, Sultan C 2002 Molecular action of androgens. Mol Cell Endocrinol 198:15-24
- 117. Gelmann EP 2002 Molecular biology of the androgen receptor. J Clin Oncol 20:3001-3015
- 118. Heinlein CA, Chang C 2002 Androgen receptor (AR) coregulators: an overview. Endocr Rev 23:175-200
- 119. Rosenfeld MG, Glass CK 2001 Coregulator codes of transcriptional regulation by nuclear receptors. J Biol Chem 276:36865-36868
- 120. McKenna NJ, O'Malley BW 2002 Combinatorial control of gene expression by nuclear receptors and coregulators. Cell 108:465-474
- 121. Heinlein CA, Chang C 2004 Androgen receptor in prostate cancer. Endocr Rev 25:276-308
- 122. Taplin ME, Balk SP 2004 Androgen receptor: a key molecule in the progression of prostate cancer to hormone independence. J Cell Biochem 91:483-490
- 123. Oesterling JE 1991 Prostate specific antigen: a critical assessment of the most useful tumor marker for adenocarcinoma of the prostate. J Urol 145:907-923
- 124. Lilja H, Oldbring J, Rannevik G, Laurell CB 1987 Seminal vesicle-secreted proteins and their reactions during gelation and liquefaction of human semen. J Clin Invest 80:281-285
- 125. Balk SP, Ko YJ, Bubley GJ 2003 Biology of prostate-specific antigen. J Clin Oncol 21:383-391
- 126. Riegman PH, Vlietstra RJ, van der Korput JA, Brinkmann AO, Trapman J 1991 The promoter of the prostate-specific antigen gene contains a functional androgen responsive element. Mol Endocrinol 5:1921-1930

- 127. Cleutjens KB, van Eekelen CC, van der Korput HA, Brinkmann AO, Trapman J 1996 Two androgen response regions cooperate in steroid hormone regulated activity of the prostate-specific antigen promoter. J Biol Chem 271:6379-6388
- 128. Schuur ER, Henderson GA, Kmetec LA, Miller JD, Lamparski HG, Henderson DR 1996 Prostate-specific antigen expression is regulated by an upstream enhancer. J Biol Chem 271:7043-7051
- 129. Lin B, Ferguson C, White JT, Wang S, Vessella R, True LD, Hood L, Nelson PS 1999 Prostate-localized and androgen-regulated expression of the membranebound serine protease TMPRSS2. Cancer Res 59:4180-4184
- 130. Tomlins SA, Rhodes DR, Perner S, Dhanasekaran SM, Mehra R, Sun XW, Varambally S, Cao X, Tchinda J, Kuefer R, Lee C, Montie JE, Shah RB, Pienta KJ, Rubin MA, Chinnaiyan AM 2005 Recurrent fusion of TMPRSS2 and ETS transcription factor genes in prostate cancer. Science 310:644-648
- 131. Wang Q, Li W, Liu XS, Carroll JS, Janne OA, Keeton EK, Chinnaiyan AM, Pienta KJ, Brown M 2007 A hierarchical network of transcription factors governs androgen receptor-dependent prostate cancer growth. Mol Cell 27:380-392
- 132. Magee JA, Chang LW, Stormo GD, Milbrandt J 2006 Direct, androgen receptormediated regulation of the FKBP5 gene via a distal enhancer element. Endocrinology 147:590-598
- 133. Gnanapragasam VJ, Robson CN, Neal DE, Leung HY 2002 Regulation of FGF8 expression by the androgen receptor in human prostate cancer. Oncogene 21:5069-5080
- 134. Gregory CW, Hamil KG, Kim D, Hall SH, Pretlow TG, Mohler JL, French FS 1998 Androgen receptor expression in androgen-independent prostate cancer is associated with increased expression of androgen-regulated genes. Cancer Res 58:5718-5724
- 135. Xu J, Li Q 2003 Review of the in vivo functions of the p160 steroid receptor coactivator family. Mol Endocrinol 17:1681-1692
- 136. Spencer TE, Jenster G, Burcin MM, Allis CD, Zhou J, Mizzen CA, McKenna NJ, Onate SA, Tsai SY, Tsai MJ, O'Malley BW 1997 Steroid receptor coactivator-1 is a histone acetyltransferase. Nature 389:194-198
- 137. Chmelar R, Buchanan G, Need EF, Tilley W, Greenberg NM 2007 Androgen receptor coregulators and their involvement in the development and progression of prostate cancer. Int J Cancer 120:719-733
- 138. Stallcup MR, Kim JH, Teyssier C, Lee YH, Ma H, Chen D 2003 The roles of protein-protein interactions and protein methylation in transcriptional activation

by nuclear receptors and their coactivators. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 85:139-145

- 139. Li J, Fu J, Toumazou C, Yoon HG, Wong J 2006 A role of the amino-terminal (N) and carboxyl-terminal (C) interaction in binding of androgen receptor to chromatin. Mol Endocrinol 20:776-785
- 140. Link KA, Burd CJ, Williams E, Marshall T, Rosson G, Henry E, Weissman B, Knudsen KE 2005 BAF57 governs androgen receptor action and androgendependent proliferation through SWI/SNF. Mol Cell Biol 25:2200-2215
- 141. Huang ZQ, Li J, Sachs LM, Cole PA, Wong J 2003 A role for cofactor-cofactor and cofactor-histone interactions in targeting p300, SWI/SNF and Mediator for transcription. Embo J 22:2146-2155
- 142. Inoue H, Furukawa T, Giannakopoulos S, Zhou S, King DS, Tanese N 2002 Largest subunits of the human SWI/SNF chromatin-remodeling complex promote transcriptional activation by steroid hormone receptors. J Biol Chem 277:41674-41685
- Marshall TW, Link KA, Petre-Draviam CE, Knudsen KE 2003 Differential requirement of SWI/SNF for androgen receptor activity. J Biol Chem 278:30605-30613
- 144. Monroy MA, Schott NM, Cox L, Chen JD, Ruh M, Chrivia JC 2003 SNF2-related CBP activator protein (SRCAP) functions as a coactivator of steroid receptormediated transcription through synergistic interactions with CARM-1 and GRIP-1. Mol Endocrinol 17:2519-2528
- 145. Domanskyi A, Virtanen KT, Palvimo JJ, Janne OA 2006 Biochemical characterization of androgen receptor-interacting protein 4. Biochem J 393:789-795
- 146. Rouleau N, Domans'kyi A, Reeben M, Moilanen AM, Havas K, Kang Z, Owen-Hughes T, Palvimo JJ, Janne OA 2002 Novel ATPase of SNF2-like protein family interacts with androgen receptor and modulates androgen-dependent transcription. Mol Biol Cell 13:2106-2119
- 147. Sitz JH, Tigges M, Baumgartel K, Khaspekov LG, Lutz B 2004 Dyrk1A potentiates steroid hormone-induced transcription via the chromatin remodeling factor Arip4. Mol Cell Biol 24:5821-5834
- 148. Li P, Yu X, Ge K, Melamed J, Roeder RG, Wang Z 2002 Heterogeneous expression and functions of androgen receptor co-factors in primary prostate cancer. Am J Pathol 161:1467-1474

- 149. Chen CD, Welsbie DS, Tran C, Baek SH, Chen R, Vessella R, Rosenfeld MG, Sawyers CL 2004 Molecular determinants of resistance to antiandrogen therapy. Nat Med 10:33-39
- 150. Agoulnik IU, Vaid A, Bingman WE, 3rd, Erdeme H, Frolov A, Smith CL, Ayala G, Ittmann MM, Weigel NL 2005 Role of SRC-1 in the promotion of prostate cancer cell growth and tumor progression. Cancer Res 65:7959-7967
- 151. Agoulnik IU, Vaid A, Nakka M, Alvarado M, Bingman WE, 3rd, Erdem H, Frolov A, Smith CL, Ayala GE, Ittmann MM, Weigel NL 2006 Androgens modulate expression of transcription intermediary factor 2, an androgen receptor coactivator whose expression level correlates with early biochemical recurrence in prostate cancer. Cancer Res 66:10594-10602
- 152. Zhou HJ, Yan J, Luo W, Ayala G, Lin SH, Erdem H, Ittmann M, Tsai SY, Tsai MJ 2005 SRC-3 is required for prostate cancer cell proliferation and survival. Cancer Res 65:7976-7983
- Debes JD, Sebo TJ, Heemers HV, Kipp BR, Haugen DL, Lohse CM, Tindall DJ 2005 p300 modulates nuclear morphology in prostate cancer. Cancer Res 65:708-712
- 154. Heemers HV, Sebo TJ, Debes JD, Regan KM, Raclaw KA, Murphy LM, Hobisch A, Culig Z, Tindall DJ 2007 Androgen deprivation increases p300 expression in prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res 67:3422-3430
- 155. Metzger E, Wissmann M, Yin N, Muller JM, Schneider R, Peters AH, Gunther T, Buettner R, Schule R 2005 LSD1 demethylates repressive histone marks to promote androgen-receptor-dependent transcription. Nature 437:436-439
- 156. Wissmann M, Yin N, Muller JM, Greschik H, Fodor BD, Jenuwein T, Vogler C, Schneider R, Gunther T, Buettner R, Metzger E, Schule R 2007 Cooperative demethylation by JMJD2C and LSD1 promotes androgen receptor-dependent gene expression. Nat Cell Biol 9:347-353
- 157. Link KA, Balasubramaniam S, Sharma A, Comstock CE, Godoy-Tundidor S, Powers N, Cao KH, Haelens A, Claessens F, Revelo MP, Knudsen KE 2008 Targeting the BAF57 SWI/SNF subunit in prostate cancer: a novel platform to control androgen receptor activity. Cancer Res 68:4551-4558
- 158. Caldon CE, Sergio CM, Schutte J, Boersma MN, Sutherland RL, Carroll JS, Musgrove EA 2009 Estrogen regulation of cyclin E2 requires cyclin D1, but not c-Myc. Mol Cell Biol
- 159. Surapureddi S, Viswakarma N, Yu S, Guo D, Rao MS, Reddy JK 2006 PRIC320, a transcription coactivator, isolated from peroxisome proliferator-binding protein complex. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 343:535-543

- 160. Rhodes DR, Yu J, Shanker K, Deshpande N, Varambally R, Ghosh D, Barrette T, Pandey A, Chinnaiyan AM 2004 ONCOMINE: a cancer microarray database and integrated data-mining platform. Neoplasia 6:1-6
- 161. LaTulippe E, Satagopan J, Smith A, Scher H, Scardino P, Reuter V, Gerald WL 2002 Comprehensive gene expression analysis of prostate cancer reveals distinct transcriptional programs associated with metastatic disease. Cancer Res 62:4499-4506
- Luo JH, Yu YP, Cieply K, Lin F, Deflavia P, Dhir R, Finkelstein S, Michalopoulos G, Becich M 2002 Gene expression analysis of prostate cancers. Mol Carcinog 33:25-35
- 163. Wallace TA, Prueitt RL, Yi M, Howe TM, Gillespie JW, Yfantis HG, Stephens RM, Caporaso NE, Loffredo CA, Ambs S 2008 Tumor immunobiological differences in prostate cancer between African-American and European-American men. Cancer Res 68:927-936
- 164. Welsh JB, Sapinoso LM, Su AI, Kern SG, Wang-Rodriguez J, Moskaluk CA, Frierson HF, Jr., Hampton GM 2001 Analysis of gene expression identifies candidate markers and pharmacological targets in prostate cancer. Cancer Res 61:5974-5978
- 165. Yu YP, Landsittel D, Jing L, Nelson J, Ren B, Liu L, McDonald C, Thomas R, Dhir R, Finkelstein S, Michalopoulos G, Becich M, Luo JH 2004 Gene expression alterations in prostate cancer predicting tumor aggression and preceding development of malignancy. J Clin Oncol 22:2790-2799
- 166. Dignam JD, Lebovitz RM, Roeder RG 1983 Accurate transcription initiation by RNA polymerase II in a soluble extract from isolated mammalian nuclei. Nucleic Acids Res 11:1475-1489
- 167. Chung KH, Hart CC, Al-Bassam S, Avery A, Taylor J, Patel PD, Vojtek AB, Turner DL 2006 Polycistronic RNA polymerase II expression vectors for RNA interference based on BIC/miR-155. Nucleic Acids Res 34:e53
- 168. Varambally S, Dhanasekaran SM, Zhou M, Barrette TR, Kumar-Sinha C, Sanda MG, Ghosh D, Pienta KJ, Sewalt RG, Otte AP, Rubin MA, Chinnaiyan AM 2002 The polycomb group protein EZH2 is involved in progression of prostate cancer. Nature 419:624-629
- 169. Palayoor ST, Youmell MY, Calderwood SK, Coleman CN, Price BD 1999 Constitutive activation of IkappaB kinase alpha and NF-kappaB in prostate cancer cells is inhibited by ibuprofen. Oncogene 18:7389-7394
- 170. Kikuchi E, Horiguchi Y, Nakashima J, Kuroda K, Oya M, Ohigashi T, Takahashi N, Shima Y, Umezawa K, Murai M 2003 Suppression of hormone-refractory

prostate cancer by a novel nuclear factor kappaB inhibitor in nude mice. Cancer Res 63:107-110

- 171. Hartel A, Didier A, Pfaffl MW, Meyer HH 2003 Characterisation of gene expression patterns in 22RV1 cells for determination of environmental androgenic/antiandrogenic compounds. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 84:231-238
- 172. Zou JX, Guo L, Revenko AS, Tepper CG, Gemo AT, Kung HJ, Chen HW 2009 Androgen-induced coactivator ANCCA mediates specific androgen receptor signaling in prostate cancer. Cancer Res 69:3339-3346
- 173. Heery DM, Kalkhoven E, Hoare S, Parker MG 1997 A signature motif in transcriptional co-activators mediates binding to nuclear receptors. Nature 387:733-736
- 174. Huang N, vom Baur E, Garnier JM, Lerouge T, Vonesch JL, Lutz Y, Chambon P, Losson R 1998 Two distinct nuclear receptor interaction domains in NSD1, a novel SET protein that exhibits characteristics of both corepressors and coactivators. EMBO J 17:3398-3412
- 175. van de Wijngaart DJ, Dubbink HJ, Molier M, de Vos C, Trapman J, Jenster G 2009 Functional Screening of FxxLF-Like Peptide Motifs Identifies SMARCD1/BAF60a as an Androgen Receptor Cofactor that Modulates TMPRSS2 Expression. Mol Endocrinol
- 176. Dubbink HJ, Hersmus R, Verma CS, van der Korput HA, Berrevoets CA, van Tol J, Ziel-van der Made AC, Brinkmann AO, Pike AC, Trapman J 2004 Distinct recognition modes of FXXLF and LXXLL motifs by the androgen receptor. Mol Endocrinol 18:2132-2150
- 177. Dubbink HJ, Hersmus R, Pike AC, Molier M, Brinkmann AO, Jenster G, Trapman J 2006 Androgen receptor ligand-binding domain interaction and nuclear receptor specificity of FXXLF and LXXLL motifs as determined by L/F swapping. Mol Endocrinol 20:1742-1755
- 178. He B, Kemppainen JA, Wilson EM 2000 FXXLF and WXXLF sequences mediate the NH2-terminal interaction with the ligand binding domain of the androgen receptor. J Biol Chem 275:22986-22994
- 179. Steketee K, Berrevoets CA, Dubbink HJ, Doesburg P, Hersmus R, Brinkmann AO, Trapman J 2002 Amino acids 3-13 and amino acids in and flanking the 23FxxLF27 motif modulate the interaction between the N-terminal and ligand-binding domain of the androgen receptor. Eur J Biochem 269:5780-5791
- 180. Callewaert L, Verrijdt G, Christiaens V, Haelens A, Claessens F 2003 Dual function of an amino-terminal amphipatic helix in androgen receptor-mediated transactivation through specific and nonspecific response elements. J Biol Chem 278:8212-8218

- 181. He B, Bowen NT, Minges JT, Wilson EM 2001 Androgen-induced NH2- and COOH-terminal Interaction Inhibits p160 coactivator recruitment by activation function 2. J Biol Chem 276:42293-42301
- 182. He B, Lee LW, Minges JT, Wilson EM 2002 Dependence of selective gene activation on the androgen receptor NH2- and COOH-terminal interaction. J Biol Chem 277:25631-25639
- 183. van Royen ME, Cunha SM, Brink MC, Mattern KA, Nigg AL, Dubbink HJ, Verschure PJ, Trapman J, Houtsmuller AB 2007 Compartmentalization of androgen receptor protein-protein interactions in living cells. J Cell Biol 177:63-72
- 184. Hur E, Pfaff SJ, Payne ES, Gron H, Buehrer BM, Fletterick RJ 2004 Recognition and accommodation at the androgen receptor coactivator binding interface. PLoS Biol 2:E274
- 185. He B, Gampe RT, Jr., Kole AJ, Hnat AT, Stanley TB, An G, Stewart EL, Kalman RI, Minges JT, Wilson EM 2004 Structural basis for androgen receptor interdomain and coactivator interactions suggests a transition in nuclear receptor activation function dominance. Mol Cell 16:425-438
- 186. Estebanez-Perpina E, Moore JM, Mar E, Delgado-Rodrigues E, Nguyen P, Baxter JD, Buehrer BM, Webb P, Fletterick RJ, Guy RK 2005 The molecular mechanisms of coactivator utilization in ligand-dependent transactivation by the androgen receptor. J Biol Chem 280:8060-8068
- 187. Chang CY, McDonnell DP 2002 Evaluation of ligand-dependent changes in AR structure using peptide probes. Mol Endocrinol 16:647-660
- 188. He B, Minges JT, Lee LW, Wilson EM 2002 The FXXLF motif mediates androgen receptor-specific interactions with coregulators. J Biol Chem 277:10226-10235
- 189. Peterson CL, Workman JL 2000 Promoter targeting and chromatin remodeling by the SWI/SNF complex. Curr Opin Genet Dev 10:187-192
- 190. Liu S, Vinall RL, Tepper C, Shi XB, Xue LR, Ma AH, Wang LY, Fitzgerald LD, Wu Z, Gandour-Edwards R, deVere White RW, Kung HJ 2008 Inappropriate activation of androgen receptor by relaxin via beta-catenin pathway. Oncogene 27:499-505
- 191. Katsani KR, Mahmoudi T, Verrijzer CP 2003 Selective gene regulation by SWI/SNF-related chromatin remodeling factors. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 274:113-141
- 192. Zheng C, Hayes JJ 2003 Structures and interactions of the core histone tail domains. Biopolymers 68:539-546

- 193. Bednar J, Horowitz RA, Grigoryev SA, Carruthers LM, Hansen JC, Koster AJ, Woodcock CL 1998 Nucleosomes, linker DNA, and linker histone form a unique structural motif that directs the higher-order folding and compaction of chromatin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:14173-14178
- 194. Carruthers LM, Hansen JC 2000 The core histone N termini function independently of linker histones during chromatin condensation. J Biol Chem 275:37285-37290
- 195. Li G, Levitus M, Bustamante C, Widom J 2005 Rapid spontaneous accessibility of nucleosomal DNA. Nat Struct Mol Biol 12:46-53
- Anderson JD, Lowary PT, Widom J 2001 Effects of histone acetylation on the equilibrium accessibility of nucleosomal DNA target sites. J Mol Biol 307:977-985
- 197. Ren Q, Gorovsky MA 2001 Histone H2A.Z acetylation modulates an essential charge patch. Mol Cell 7:1329-1335
- 198. Tse C, Sera T, Wolffe AP, Hansen JC 1998 Disruption of higher-order folding by core histone acetylation dramatically enhances transcription of nucleosomal arrays by RNA polymerase III. Mol Cell Biol 18:4629-4638
- 199. Tse C, Hansen JC 1997 Hybrid trypsinized nucleosomal arrays: identification of multiple functional roles of the H2A/H2B and H3/H4 N-termini in chromatin fiber compaction. Biochemistry 36:11381-11388
- 200. Ferreira H, Somers J, Webster R, Flaus A, Owen-Hughes T 2007 Histone tails and the H3 alphaN helix regulate nucleosome mobility and stability. Mol Cell Biol 27:4037-4048
- 201. Schuster T, Han M, Grunstein M 1986 Yeast histone H2A and H2B amino termini have interchangeable functions. Cell 45:445-451
- 202. Lenfant F, Mann RK, Thomsen B, Ling X, Grunstein M 1996 All four core histone N-termini contain sequences required for the repression of basal transcription in yeast. EMBO J 15:3974-3985
- 203. Sabet N, Tong F, Madigan JP, Volo S, Smith MM, Morse RH 2003 Global and specific transcriptional repression by the histone H3 amino terminus in yeast. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:4084-4089
- 204. Johnson LM, Kayne PS, Kahn ES, Grunstein M 1990 Genetic evidence for an interaction between SIR3 and histone H4 in the repression of the silent mating loci in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87:6286-6290
- 205. Kayne PS, Kim UJ, Han M, Mullen JR, Yoshizaki F, Grunstein M 1988 Extremely conserved histone H4 N terminus is dispensable for growth but essential for repressing the silent mating loci in yeast. Cell 55:27-39
- 206. Recht J, Osley MA 1999 Mutations in both the structured domain and N-terminus of histone H2B bypass the requirement for Swi-Snf in yeast. EMBO J 18:229-240
- 207. Hirschhorn JN, Bortvin AL, Ricupero-Hovasse SL, Winston F 1995 A new class of histone H2A mutations in Saccharomyces cerevisiae causes specific transcriptional defects in vivo. Mol Cell Biol 15:1999-2009
- 208. Logie C, Tse C, Hansen JC, Peterson CL 1999 The core histone N-terminal domains are required for multiple rounds of catalytic chromatin remodeling by the SWI/SNF and RSC complexes. Biochemistry 38:2514-2522
- Corona DF, Langst G, Clapier CR, Bonte EJ, Ferrari S, Tamkun JW, Becker PB 1999 ISWI is an ATP-dependent nucleosome remodeling factor. Mol Cell 3:239-245
- 210. Boyer LA, Logie C, Bonte E, Becker PB, Wade PA, Wolffe AP, Wu C, Imbalzano AN, Peterson CL 2000 Functional delineation of three groups of the ATP-dependent family of chromatin remodeling enzymes. J Biol Chem 275:18864-18870
- 211. Brehm A, Langst G, Kehle J, Clapier CR, Imhof A, Eberharter A, Muller J, Becker PB 2000 dMi-2 and ISWI chromatin remodelling factors have distinct nucleosome binding and mobilization properties. EMBO J 19:4332-4341
- Clapier CR, Langst G, Corona DF, Becker PB, Nightingale KP 2001 Critical role for the histone H4 N terminus in nucleosome remodeling by ISWI. Mol Cell Biol 21:875-883
- 213. Clapier CR, Nightingale KP, Becker PB 2002 A critical epitope for substrate recognition by the nucleosome remodeling ATPase ISWI. Nucleic Acids Res 30:649-655
- 214. Somers J, Owen-Hughes T 2009 Mutations to the histone H3 alpha N region selectively alter the outcome of ATP-dependent nucleosome-remodelling reactions. Nucleic Acids Res 37:2504-2513
- Ferreira H, Flaus A, Owen-Hughes T 2007 Histone modifications influence the action of Snf2 family remodelling enzymes by different mechanisms. J Mol Biol 374:563-579
- 216. Loyola A, LeRoy G, Wang YH, Reinberg D 2001 Reconstitution of recombinant chromatin establishes a requirement for histone-tail modifications during chromatin assembly and transcription. Genes Dev 15:2837-2851

- 217. Eberharter A, Ferreira R, Becker P 2005 Dynamic chromatin: concerted nucleosome remodelling and acetylation. Biol Chem 386:745-751
- 218. Luger K, Rechsteiner TJ, Richmond TJ 1999 Preparation of nucleosome core particle from recombinant histones. Methods Enzymol 304:3-19
- 219. Simon MD, Chu F, Racki LR, de la Cruz CC, Burlingame AL, Panning B, Narlikar GJ, Shokat KM 2007 The site-specific installation of methyl-lysine analogs into recombinant histones. Cell 128:1003-1012
- 220. Lowary PT, Widom J 1998 New DNA sequence rules for high affinity binding to histone octamer and sequence-directed nucleosome positioning. J Mol Biol 276:19-42
- 221. Smith CL, Peterson CL 2005 A conserved Swi2/Snf2 ATPase motif couples ATP hydrolysis to chromatin remodeling. Mol Cell Biol 25:5880-5892
- 222. Hansen JC, Tse C, Wolffe AP 1998 Structure and function of the core histone Ntermini: more than meets the eye. Biochemistry 37:17637-17641
- 223. Garcia-Ramirez M, Dong F, Ausio J 1992 Role of the histone "tails" in the folding of oligonucleosomes depleted of histone H1. J Biol Chem 267:19587-19595
- 224. Rippe K, Schrader A, Riede P, Strohner R, Lehmann E, Langst G 2007 DNA sequence- and conformation-directed positioning of nucleosomes by chromatin-remodeling complexes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:15635-15640
- 225. Wang Q, Li W, Zhang Y, Yuan X, Xu K, Yu J, Chen Z, Beroukhim R, Wang H, Lupien M, Wu T, Regan MM, Meyer CA, Carroll JS, Manrai AK, Janne OA, Balk SP, Mehra R, Han B, Chinnaiyan AM, Rubin MA, True L, Fiorentino M, Fiore C, Loda M, Kantoff PW, Liu XS, Brown M 2009 Androgen receptor regulates a distinct transcription program in androgen-independent prostate cancer. Cell 138:245-256
- 226. Gangaraju VK, Bartholomew B 2007 Mechanisms of ATP dependent chromatin remodeling. Mutat Res 618:3-17
- 227. Mohrmann L, Verrijzer CP 2005 Composition and functional specificity of SWI2/SNF2 class chromatin remodeling complexes. Biochim Biophys Acta 1681:59-73
- 228. Lusser A, Urwin DL, Kadonaga JT 2005 Distinct activities of CHD1 and ACF in ATP-dependent chromatin assembly. Nat Struct Mol Biol 12:160-166
- 229. Bouazoune K, Brehm A 2006 ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling complexes in Drosophila. Chromosome Res 14:433-449

- 230. Hogan C, Varga-Weisz P 2007 The regulation of ATP-dependent nucleosome remodelling factors. Mutat Res 618:41-51
- 231. Phelan ML, Sif S, Narlikar GJ, Kingston RE 1999 Reconstitution of a core chromatin remodeling complex from SWI/SNF subunits. Mol Cell 3:247-253
- 232. Geng F, Cao Y, Laurent BC 2001 Essential roles of Snf5p in Snf-Swi chromatin remodeling in vivo. Mol Cell Biol 21:4311-4320
- 233. Ito T, Levenstein ME, Fyodorov DV, Kutach AK, Kobayashi R, Kadonaga JT 1999 ACF consists of two subunits, Acf1 and ISWI, that function cooperatively in the ATP-dependent catalysis of chromatin assembly. Genes Dev 13:1529-1539
- 234. Collins N, Poot RA, Kukimoto I, Garcia-Jimenez C, Dellaire G, Varga-Weisz PD 2002 An ACF1-ISWI chromatin-remodeling complex is required for DNA replication through heterochromatin. Nat Genet 32:627-632
- 235. Eberharter A, Ferrari S, Langst G, Straub T, Imhof A, Varga-Weisz P, Wilm M, Becker PB 2001 Acf1, the largest subunit of CHRAC, regulates ISWI-induced nucleosome remodelling. EMBO J 20:3781-3788
- 236. Xiao H, Sandaltzopoulos R, Wang HM, Hamiche A, Ranallo R, Lee KM, Fu D, Wu C 2001 Dual functions of largest NURF subunit NURF301 in nucleosome sliding and transcription factor interactions. Mol Cell 8:531-543
- 237. Cairns BR, Schlichter A, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Kornberg RD, Winston F 1999 Two functionally distinct forms of the RSC nucleosomeremodeling complex, containing essential AT hook, BAH, and bromodomains. Mol Cell 4:715-723
- 238. Bultman S, Gebuhr T, Yee D, La Mantia C, Nicholson J, Gilliam A, Randazzo F, Metzger D, Chambon P, Crabtree G, Magnuson T 2000 A Brg1 null mutation in the mouse reveals functional differences among mammalian SWI/SNF complexes. Mol Cell 6:1287-1295
- 239. Kadam S, Emerson BM 2003 Transcriptional specificity of human SWI/SNF BRG1 and BRM chromatin remodeling complexes. Mol Cell 11:377-389
- 240. Strahl BD, Allis CD 2000 The language of covalent histone modifications. Nature 403:41-45
- 241. Baker SP, Grant PA 2007 The SAGA continues: expanding the cellular role of a transcriptional co-activator complex. Oncogene 26:5329-5340
- 242. Sif S, Saurin AJ, Imbalzano AN, Kingston RE 2001 Purification and characterization of mSin3A-containing Brg1 and hBrm chromatin remodeling complexes. Genes Dev 15:603-618

- 243. Pal S, Yun R, Datta A, Lacomis L, Erdjument-Bromage H, Kumar J, Tempst P, Sif S 2003 mSin3A/histone deacetylase 2- and PRMT5-containing Brg1 complex is involved in transcriptional repression of the Myc target gene cad. Mol Cell Biol 23:7475-7487
- 244. Martin C, Zhang Y 2005 The diverse functions of histone lysine methylation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 6:838-849
- 245. Crawford BD, Hess JL 2006 MLL core components give the green light to histone methylation. ACS Chem Biol 1:495-498
- 246. Hess JL 2004 Mechanisms of transformation by MLL. Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr 14:235-254
- 247. Hess JL 2004 MLL: a histone methyltransferase disrupted in leukemia. Trends Mol Med 10:500-507
- 248. Xia ZB, Anderson M, Diaz MO, Zeleznik-Le NJ 2003 MLL repression domain interacts with histone deacetylases, the polycomb group proteins HPC2 and BMI-1, and the corepressor C-terminal-binding protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:8342-8347
- 249. Ernst P, Wang J, Huang M, Goodman RH, Korsmeyer SJ 2001 MLL and CREB bind cooperatively to the nuclear coactivator CREB-binding protein. Mol Cell Biol 21:2249-2258
- 250. Nakamura T, Mori T, Tada S, Krajewski W, Rozovskaia T, Wassell R, Dubois G, Mazo A, Croce CM, Canaani E 2002 ALL-1 is a histone methyltransferase that assembles a supercomplex of proteins involved in transcriptional regulation. Mol Cell 10:1119-1128
- 251. Milne TA, Briggs SD, Brock HW, Martin ME, Gibbs D, Allis CD, Hess JL 2002 MLL targets SET domain methyltransferase activity to Hox gene promoters. Mol Cell 10:1107-1117
- 252. Wysocka J, Swigut T, Milne TA, Dou Y, Zhang X, Burlingame AL, Roeder RG, Brivanlou AH, Allis CD 2005 WDR5 associates with histone H3 methylated at K4 and is essential for H3 K4 methylation and vertebrate development. Cell 121:859-872
- 253. Miller T, Krogan NJ, Dover J, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Johnston M, Greenblatt JF, Shilatifard A 2001 COMPASS: a complex of proteins associated with a trithorax-related SET domain protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:12902-12907
- 254. Krogan NJ, Dover J, Khorrami S, Greenblatt JF, Schneider J, Johnston M, Shilatifard A 2002 COMPASS, a histone H3 (Lysine 4) methyltransferase

required for telomeric silencing of gene expression. J Biol Chem 277:10753-10755

- 255. Hughes CM, Rozenblatt-Rosen O, Milne TA, Copeland TD, Levine SS, Lee JC, Hayes DN, Shanmugam KS, Bhattacharjee A, Biondi CA, Kay GF, Hayward NK, Hess JL, Meyerson M 2004 Menin associates with a trithorax family histone methyltransferase complex and with the hoxc8 locus. Mol Cell 13:587-597
- 256. Dou Y, Milne TA, Tackett AJ, Smith ER, Fukuda A, Wysocka J, Allis CD, Chait BT, Hess JL, Roeder RG 2005 Physical association and coordinate function of the H3 K4 methyltransferase MLL1 and the H4 K16 acetyltransferase MOF. Cell 121:873-885
- 257. Dou Y, Milne TA, Ruthenburg AJ, Lee S, Lee JW, Verdine GL, Allis CD, Roeder RG 2006 Regulation of MLL1 H3K4 methyltransferase activity by its core components. Nat Struct Mol Biol 13:713-719
- 258. Steward MM, Lee JS, O'Donovan A, Wyatt M, Bernstein BE, Shilatifard A 2006 Molecular regulation of H3K4 trimethylation by ASH2L, a shared subunit of MLL complexes. Nat Struct Mol Biol 13:852-854
- 259. Couture JF, Collazo E, Trievel RC 2006 Molecular recognition of histone H3 by the WD40 protein WDR5. Nat Struct Mol Biol 13:698-703
- 260. Ruthenburg AJ, Wang W, Graybosch DM, Li H, Allis CD, Patel DJ, Verdine GL 2006 Histone H3 recognition and presentation by the WDR5 module of the MLL1 complex. Nat Struct Mol Biol 13:704-712
- 261. Patel A, Dharmarajan V, Cosgrove MS 2008 Structure of WDR5 bound to mixed lineage leukemia protein-1 peptide. J Biol Chem 283:32158-32161
- 262. Song JJ, Kingston RE 2008 WDR5 interacts with mixed lineage leukemia (MLL) protein via the histone H3-binding pocket. J Biol Chem 283:35258-35264
- Trievel RC, Shilatifard A 2009 WDR5, a complexed protein. Nat Struct Mol Biol 16:678-680
- 264. Patel A, Dharmarajan V, Vought VE, Cosgrove MS 2009 On the mechanism of multiple lysine methylation by the human mixed lineage leukemia protein-1 (MLL1) core complex. J Biol Chem 284:24242-24256
- 265. Maconochie M, Nonchev S, Morrison A, Krumlauf R 1996 Paralogous Hox genes: function and regulation. Annu Rev Genet 30:529-556
- 266. Soshnikova N, Duboule D 2008 Epigenetic regulation of Hox gene activation: the waltz of methyls. Bioessays 30:199-202

- 267. Kmita M, Duboule D 2003 Organizing axes in time and space; 25 years of colinear tinkering. Science 301:331-333
- 268. Marletaz F, Holland LZ, Laudet V, Schubert M 2006 Retinoic acid signaling and the evolution of chordates. Int J Biol Sci 2:38-47
- 269. Rea S, Eisenhaber F, O'Carroll D, Strahl BD, Sun ZW, Schmid M, Opravil S, Mechtler K, Ponting CP, Allis CD, Jenuwein T 2000 Regulation of chromatin structure by site-specific histone H3 methyltransferases. Nature 406:593-599
- 270. Fischle W, Wang Y, Jacobs SA, Kim Y, Allis CD, Khorasanizadeh S 2003 Molecular basis for the discrimination of repressive methyl-lysine marks in histone H3 by Polycomb and HP1 chromodomains. Genes Dev 17:1870-1881
- 271. Schwartz YB, Pirrotta V 2007 Polycomb silencing mechanisms and the management of genomic programmes. Nat Rev Genet 8:9-22
- 272. Yu BD, Hess JL, Horning SE, Brown GA, Korsmeyer SJ 1995 Altered Hox expression and segmental identity in Mll-mutant mice. Nature 378:505-508
- 273. Terranova R, Agherbi H, Boned A, Meresse S, Djabali M 2006 Histone and DNA methylation defects at Hox genes in mice expressing a SET domain-truncated form of Mll. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:6629-6634
- 274. Krivtsov AV, Armstrong SA 2007 MLL translocations, histone modifications and leukaemia stem-cell development. Nat Rev Cancer 7:823-833
- 275. Hanson RD, Hess JL, Yu BD, Ernst P, van Lohuizen M, Berns A, van der Lugt NM, Shashikant CS, Ruddle FH, Seto M, Korsmeyer SJ 1999 Mammalian Trithorax and polycomb-group homologues are antagonistic regulators of homeotic development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:14372-14377
- 276. Guenther MG, Jenner RG, Chevalier B, Nakamura T, Croce CM, Canaani E, Young RA 2005 Global and Hox-specific roles for the MLL1 methyltransferase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:8603-8608
- 277. Suganuma T, Gutierrez JL, Li B, Florens L, Swanson SK, Washburn MP, Abmayr SM, Workman JL 2008 ATAC is a double histone acetyltransferase complex that stimulates nucleosome sliding. Nat Struct Mol Biol 15:364-372
- 278. Wang YL, Faiola F, Xu M, Pan S, Martinez E 2008 Human ATAC Is a GCN5/PCAF-containing acetylase complex with a novel NC2-like histone fold module that interacts with the TATA-binding protein. J Biol Chem 283:33808-33815
- 279. Mendjan S, Taipale M, Kind J, Holz H, Gebhardt P, Schelder M, Vermeulen M, Buscaino A, Duncan K, Mueller J, Wilm M, Stunnenberg HG, Saumweber H,

Akhtar A 2006 Nuclear pore components are involved in the transcriptional regulation of dosage compensation in Drosophila. Mol Cell 21:811-823

- 280. Garapaty S, Mahajan MA, Samuels HH 2008 Components of the CCR4-NOT complex function as nuclear hormone receptor coactivators via association with the NRC-interacting Factor NIF-1. J Biol Chem 283:6806-6816
- 281. Wysocka J, Myers MP, Laherty CD, Eisenman RN, Herr W 2003 Human Sin3 deacetylase and trithorax-related Set1/Ash2 histone H3-K4 methyltransferase are tethered together selectively by the cell-proliferation factor HCF-1. Genes Dev 17:896-911
- 282. Yokoyama A, Wang Z, Wysocka J, Sanyal M, Aufiero DJ, Kitabayashi I, Herr W, Cleary ML 2004 Leukemia proto-oncoprotein MLL forms a SET1-like histone methyltransferase complex with menin to regulate Hox gene expression. Mol Cell Biol 24:5639-5649
- 283. Goo YH, Sohn YC, Kim DH, Kim SW, Kang MJ, Jung DJ, Kwak E, Barlev NA, Berger SL, Chow VT, Roeder RG, Azorsa DO, Meltzer PS, Suh PG, Song EJ, Lee KJ, Lee YC, Lee JW 2003 Activating signal cointegrator 2 belongs to a novel steady-state complex that contains a subset of trithorax group proteins. Mol Cell Biol 23:140-149
- 284. Patel A, Dharmarajan V, Vought VE, Cosgrove MS 2009 On the mechanism of multiple lysine methylation by the human mixed lineage leukemia protein-1 (MLL1) core complex. J Biol Chem
- 285. Patel A, Vought VE, Dharmarajan V, Cosgrove MS 2008 A conserved argininecontaining motif crucial for the assembly and enzymatic activity of the mixed lineage leukemia protein-1 core complex. J Biol Chem 283:32162-32175
- 286. Southall SM, Wong PS, Odho Z, Roe SM, Wilson JR 2009 Structural basis for the requirement of additional factors for MLL1 SET domain activity and recognition of epigenetic marks. Mol Cell 33:181-191
- 287. Nie Z, Yan Z, Chen EH, Sechi S, Ling C, Zhou S, Xue Y, Yang D, Murray D, Kanakubo E, Cleary ML, Wang W 2003 Novel SWI/SNF chromatin-remodeling complexes contain a mixed-lineage leukemia chromosomal translocation partner. Mol Cell Biol 23:2942-2952
- 288. Mueller D, Bach C, Zeisig D, Garcia-Cuellar MP, Monroe S, Sreekumar A, Zhou R, Nesvizhskii A, Chinnaiyan A, Hess JL, Slany RK 2007 A role for the MLL fusion partner ENL in transcriptional elongation and chromatin modification. Blood 110:4445-4454
- 289. Bitoun E, Oliver PL, Davies KE 2007 The mixed-lineage leukemia fusion partner AF4 stimulates RNA polymerase II transcriptional elongation and mediates coordinated chromatin remodeling. Hum Mol Genet 16:92-106

- 290. Krajewski WA, Reese JC 2009 SET domains of histone methyltransferases recognize ISWI-remodeled nucleosomal species. Mol Cell Biol
- 291. Daubresse G, Deuring R, Moore L, Papoulas O, Zakrajsek I, Waldrip WR, Scott MP, Kennison JA, Tamkun JW 1999 The Drosophila kismet gene is related to chromatin-remodeling factors and is required for both segmentation and segment identity. Development 126:1175-1187.
- 292. Sun J, Blair AL, Aiyar SE, Li R 2007 Cofactor of BRCA1 modulates androgendependent transcription and alternative splicing. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 107:131-139
- 293. Lee DK, Duan HO, Chang C 2001 Androgen receptor interacts with the positive elongation factor P-TEFb and enhances the efficiency of transcriptional elongation. J Biol Chem 276:9978-9984
- 294. Lee DK, Duan HO, Chang C 2000 From androgen receptor to the general transcription factor TFIIH. Identification of cdk activating kinase (CAK) as an androgen receptor NH(2)-terminal associated coactivator. J Biol Chem 275:9308-9313
- 295. Choudhry MA, Ball A, McEwan IJ 2006 The role of the general transcription factor IIF in androgen receptor-dependent transcription. Mol Endocrinol 20:2052-2061
- 296. Kininis M, Kraus WL 2008 A global view of transcriptional regulation by nuclear receptors: gene expression, factor localization, and DNA sequence analysis. Nucl Recept Signal 6:e005
- 297. Jia L, Shen HC, Wantroba M, Khalid O, Liang G, Wang Q, Gentzschein E, Pinski JK, Stanczyk FZ, Jones PA, Coetzee GA 2006 Locus-wide chromatin remodeling and enhanced androgen receptor-mediated transcription in recurrent prostate tumor cells. Mol Cell Biol 26:7331-7341
- 298. Dai Z, Dai X, Xiang Q, Feng J, Wang J, Deng Y, He C 2009 Genome-wide analysis of interactions between ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling and histone modifications. BMC Genomics 10:304
- 299. Kang Z, Janne OA, Palvimo JJ 2004 Coregulator recruitment and histone modifications in transcriptional regulation by the androgen receptor. Mol Endocrinol 18:2633-2648